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Minmetals Land Limited is a subsidiary and the Hong Kong-listed real estate flagship of China
Minmetals Corporation. It principally engages in real estate development and specialised
construction businesses. Currently, its real estate development business covers the Pan Bohai
Rim, Yangtze River Delta, Central China and Pearl River Delta regions; while the specialised
construction business that based in Shanghai and Hong Kong has coverage over fifty cities in
the country.
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Financial Highlights
B 75 4 =

WA

REVENUE
(HK$'000) (F57t)
For th ded
31 Decamber 7,253,266
5
+=A=+—RitFE .
5329279 590585 5,983,634 .
; FEE T
EESHE i
PROFIT FOR
TOTAL ASSETS THE YEAR
(HK$'000) (F3%7E) (HK$'000) (F7T)
As at 31 December 4,306,454 For the year ended 31 December
Wt=A=+—H 39,621,377 771,907 #Et=—A=+-AI
. 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 -
33,175,633
619,607
575,796 .
17,034,479 29,408,872
17,515,814
429,508 435,929
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
BAS%CZEA%N*IIP{GS o L2
240
(0B DB AR R )
Habiony
cents) (7
For the year ended 31 December 14.29 232 NAV PER SHARE
sEt=A= Ak 1274 PY (Exclude MI)
210 (HKS) (B7T)
2_20 As at 31 December
8.32 195 Rt=A=t—8
820
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—BLEE Percentage
2015 2014 change (%)
—FT—AF —E—UE B E (%)
Revenue (HK$ million) KA (BERET) 7,253 5,984 +21.2%
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the RAGIREFEARGZ
Company (HK$ million) wmA(EEET) 278 425 -34.6%
Basic earnings per share for profit attributable to RATIRERA ARG
the equity holders of the Company (HK cents) Az EERGREF
(AL 8.32 12.74 -34.7%
Dividend per share (HK cents) &R B B AL 2.0 1.5 +33.3%
Dividend payout (%) & B A& (%) 24.04% 11.77% +12.3%
Total assets (HK$ million) EELH(EHER) 39,621 33,176 +19.4%
Net debt (HK$ million) BEFEEHET) 1,612 5,913 —72.7%
Gearing ratio (%)? BELE(%)? 13.84% 49.19% -35.4%
Notes: Bt -
1. Change in precentage points 1. BEDHMES
2. Gearing ratio = (Total borrowings — Cash and bank deposits) / Total equity 2. BEL R = (BFREAE-BE2MBIER) e
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2015 Event Highlights
—E-RFEXKERE

Mr. He Jianbo, Deputy Chairman & Career training and development program
Managing Director, attended the Annual for third echelon staff

Guandian Forum X BRE=BHAS RS RLEIED
MRAKBEREREFTREBLFERT EEEEEENERNIAS

€ i 18

February 2 H

June 6 A

Yingkou Platinum Bay organized “Big
Hands holding Little Hands” campaign for
children in the local orphanage village

EOREeHBEEERNIAFENF]
EE BREBREERLRERINENRE

1 1 ] 11 B

I L | k Nanjing Yan Shan Ju launched the first
5 pre-sale in nine months time after land
acquisition and achieved a sales record
of RMB600 million in the 60-days sales
period
EmRA=LEEBEKINERZME NEAR
A BERBORIHER T ARBE

=
%@
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Minmetals Land athletic team achieved
satisfactory results on the 13th China
Minmetals Sports Day
hEESREINTPEAEE T=EEBT
EHGRIER

September gﬁ National 4A-rated tourist attraction

award opening ceremony of Hallstatt
See, enhancing the value of the project
development
EMNAEREeBHEERERSTSBEKIAR
RERRBEER  REBAIEE X
ERAIR

Mr. He Jianbo, Deputy Chairman &
Managing Director, attended the Boao
Real Estate Forum
MAKBERERESTRLBELEHER
2 i 18

Ground breaking ceremony of Shenzhen
Minmetals Financial Tower, marked a new
era for Minmetals Land'’s first construction

Langfang Minmetals Vanke City sold out management project in Shenzhen

all Phase Il residential units soon after the U ARSMAETETHIEZER
launch of the pre-sale programme and EREREESEEY EEREREER
became the benchmark project in the SRR

Greater Beijing region
B4 AR & B — BAE £ 8 #E BRI ACR
BB RAKRLEREHEMSERER

"EI
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Honours and Awards

REHERIE

6

Real Estate Development

FHERR

Specialised Construction

BEXRESR

Property Management

MEERE

Minmetals Land Limited

Minmetals Land Limited

ARERARAT

Nanjing Yan Shan Ju
AREWRE

Nanjing Academic Royale

ARAER RN EHR

Nanjing Laguna Bay
MRRGREME

Nanjing Regional Company

ARESAE

Langfang Minmetals Vanke
City
6B 45 L0 B B

Changsha LOHAS International

Community

ROVEBR-EERBRHE

Condo Shanghai
mf LB

China Minmetals Tower

TEARKE

Nanjing Laguna Bay
BRR o fE it B

Annual Report 2015

awarded “Top 100 Real Estate Companies of China
2014"
RENROAFEHRBEFHES 81004

awarded “Creative Enterprises 2015”

ERFE[2015F Z I3 (b 3 K82

awarded golden award for the best sales property
in Nanjing 2015
EH201FERERAHERSBRR

awarded the best sales property in Nanjing 2015
EH2015FmREMRAFEER

awarded “2015 Garden-style Residential Area”
EREDROSEFTREMAEERREEZE]

awarded “2015 Brand Enterprises”
20155 2 dn b8 1k 2 |

awarded “Beijing Seiko Company Entity”
BIHLRARBEIERRE]

awarded “Best Educational Resources Property
2015"
KENRVSEFHREREERER

awarded “Construction and Decoration in Shanghai
2015 and “2015 Shanghai Excellent Curtain Wall
Construction Enterprises”

BI2015F LB REHEIR015FLEMEERE
HE e Tk 2 |

awarded “Double Star Managed Property”
KEEERERYREE]

Nanjing Laguna Bay, to which Nanjing Gracehome provides
property management service, was awarded “2015
Nanjing Property Management Demonstration Project”

B Rt EREY R E R 2 R« 5 EmIHNE
ERNROSEFEERTHEER RERE | RA



Five-Year Financial Summary

AEMBHRE

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
ZE—RAFE ZE—NF ZT—=F ZT—=—F ZT——F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET FET FHET FET
Results 245
Revenue A 7,253,266 5,983,634 5,905,854 4,306,454 5,329,279
Operating profit Pl 1,051,661 691,224 1,014,809 909,637 1,384,619
Finance income B 75 I A 162,809 78,858 62,404 91,271 79,591
Finance costs B 75 A 7R (57,511) (65,845) (107,213)  (186,460) (31,119)
Share of results of A& QA
associated companies S 16,442 183,936 55,262 (28,008) (20,426)
Profit before tax B B¢ Bl A 1,173,401 888,173 1,025,262 786,440 1,412,665
Tax charge HEIH (553,794) (452,244)  (449,466)  (356,932)  (640,758)
Profit for the year AN s ) 619,607 435,929 575,796 429,508 771,907
Profit attributable to: i 5E B ¢
Equity holders of the AYNCIE§ -
Company BHA 278,156 425,171 476,832 273,804 610,549
Non-controlling interests 3 %2 i% % B 42 & 341,451 10,758 98,964 155,704 161,358
Assets and liabilities EEREBE
Non-current assets IERBEE 4,096,367 3,705,549 3,050,867 2,904,977 1,831,845
Current assets mE & E 35,525,010 29,470,084 26,358,005 14,610,837 15,202,634
Total assets BERE 39,621,377 33,175,633 29,408,872 17,515,814 17,034,479
Capital and reserves RARIBRERBA
attributable to equity EME 2B
holders of the Company N {&# & 7,357,221 8,002,783 7,737,531 7,005,111 6,505,651
Non-controlling interests  JF 2 % A% 5 # 25 4,289,672 4,017,680 3,606,661 896,143 746,400
Total equity TR 4 11,646,893 12,020,463 11,344,192 7,901,254 7,252,051
Non-current liabilities ELi == 8,222,962 11,646,039 8,837,741 3,212,095 2,609,195
Current liabilities mBAaE 19,751,522 9,509,131 9,226,939 6,402,465 7,173,233
Total liabilities BERE 27,974,484 21,155,170 18,064,680 9,614,560 9,782,428
Total equity and liabilities #£ %5 & B & 458 39,621,377 33,175,633 29,408,872 17,515,814 17,034,479

AWRERERAT —TnaesE®m | 7



Chairman’s Statement

EREE

Dear Shareholders,

In spite of a challenging market and economic environment, 2015
was another year of continuing achievement for the Group in creating
long term value to our Shareholders. Our PRC real estate development
operations achieved record pre-sold and delivery in terms of floor area,
while our specialised construction business in Hong Kong and the
PRC remained steady. Our Hong Kong property investment business
achieved higher rental revenue as a result of improved rental rates
and steady occupancy rate. In late 2015, leveraging on the committed
support of the controlling shareholder, we undertook a strategic
review of the entire real estate development and construction division
of China Minmetals with a view of realigning the Group’s corporate
strategy to drive for sustainable rapid growth in the coming years.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2015, as a result of shrinking demand in China’s export, lower
domestic demographic growth and severe downward pressure on
output prices in overcapacity sectors, China’s economy has suffered
from significant downward pressure and its GDP growth rate slowed to
a 25-year low of 6.9%. Meanwhile, supported by solid wage growth,
consumption continued to expand rapidly and signs of rebalancing
China’s economy from manufacturing towards consumption and
services sectors have emerged. The shift to monetary easing and fiscal
stimulus provided support to the real economy to some extent, but
also fueled an unexpectedly turbulent stock market and subsequent
meltdown. The sudden devaluation of Renminbi has reverberated

throughout the global financial system.

Against this backdrop, China’s property sector witnessed a transitional
year. As an overall growth slowdown in property sales and investment
have been recorded, both policy makers and industry players seeks to
cope with such transition. Market data and corporate activity figures
also underscores a diverging performance throughout the year. The
sector started the year with the first default on offshore debt by a
Chinese developer, followed by property price frenzy in Shenzhen
and multiple corporate takeover sagas, remarks a landmark year in
China real estate history. Under tremendous inventory destocking
pressure, the Chinese government continues to introduce a series of
policy easing and industry deregulation measures throughout the year,
including the “30 March” policy that lowered the requirement of down
payment for second home buyers and relevant tax rate from sales of
second hand property. In addition, the “30 September” policy that

8 Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2015

BAIRR

BEMSAEERER MRS —F—12F D
EAEELSRRAERYEEN—F - HME
BANEHERZER ERERXNEES
EED T A LEARNFEEKFE  EFBMF
BEMEXZEXBTRERBERRE MM
SRFREARBEERLE  BMHETENYE
REXBHLORETERsNESEA- —T—1
FERE EZEEBERNBEXFT - RAHH
B T W Y 5 o E B B B IR ER S AR MR TT T B
REBME SR TAKENDLRBE
EMEBHARARRREFNAFERIIER

XBOR

“E-RF BREPELEANTRER  E
MARRRRE  ERERNTENELERK
BB TELEXINTHBENONTES  H
NEERBEERERE_TAFRHKIEKN6.9%
KF o BRI RERITEKFRBE LT
HERBEREER TEKLEBECEBELNEE
EFRBEEBENRBENERTR - BB RN
MELPRERORS E—FEE2ELAER
REBERAEXENRE  ©3E T 5HFEH
MEmEBRERNRH®RES  ARBRADN
—RERETEEHERBASIBZEZLE -

EHRERT FENEHEXREETETN
—F - HREHEXHERKRENEREEE
BHuE TEERRGIEEERFHENZE
EFOMBOIRHEENE(  BEREHERE
BROEXERENHEBENKRE & FHitb
ETXRBESETAT  RENETEBER
BROBATREIMAENEYE  BIRYIEER
ERT  URFRBFRITEERBALENEEZ
FERBUEEN DETEFHEZERSL L&
TTEEER EmYEEFNEKREN  BF
E_Z-hFHFERDNERRRERARS
TERS BRBFBIRE_EFZKES
HREFIEABRRBR _EFBAATEEELE
B WBBIBOHBIBBRTETEAEE



Zhang Yuanrong 3R T 2§
Chairman £ &

encourage more issuance of mortgage-backed securities among banks.
Yet, it is undisputable that the property market continues to diverge.
Tier 1 cities continued to prosper, resulting in high growth in both
transactional volume and higher average selling price, as well as fast
inventory reduction. On the contrary, Tier 3 and 4 cities continues to
suffer from sliding sales growth and hefty inventory.

In 2015, the Group's total contracted sales rose 16.2% to RMB8.73
billion, equipping the Group with a solid foundation for future revenue
and earnings generation. While land price in Tier 1 and core Tier 2
cities persists at high level and hitting all-time highs, the Group has
been seeking superior land acquisition opportunities in core cities in
a proactive and cautious manner. As of the end of 2015, the Group
has a land bank of 3.5 million square metres, in which 63% of the
Group's land bank by value situated in Tier 1 and core Tier 2 cities.

During the year under review, the Group’s consolidated revenue
increased by 21.2% to HK$7,253 million while gross margin remained
steady at 21.9%. Profit for the year increased by 42.1% to HK$620
million approximately. Nonetheless, due to substantial minority
interests recorded in projects completed and delivered in 2015, net
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company shrunk by 34.6%
to HK$278 million. The Board has proposed a final dividend of HK2

cents per Share (2014: HK1.5 cents) for the year of 2015.

BHCER - R FHEMSEBESIELTIT

FNEE - —BRUNEHEMSRHERL B
EEA BEFTRER AR = OER
MHHEELRNEETE  ZEFENHER
T o

REERZE-—RE2FNHEEBEEMGE2%
%8,730,000,0007T A B# - BARQFIRKY A
REFITTERER - TE B EEZO KW
MEHERFESD it TR - AEEA
FHEGREEZEE RELHETSRKESE
B e R_T—AFE AEE LI
RO B3508F K  AEER @ 9963%8+
Hh AL R — 4R AR AR T o

E_Z—hF FrEEZHEEGRAER21.2%
%7,253,000,000% 7T © £ F F R #F £21.9%
MBEEBEKE &5 EAH21% E
620,000,000 7T ° AT - ARE_T—HF K
IRNHIEES - BRI DAIEERER
It - RRFIRER A AL 5 MK T34.6%
£278,00,0008 T - EEEREBRE_T—HF
REAPE BEFM2EA (ZF—P04F  1.5810) -
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Chairman’s Statement

FRHE

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK

Policy and Industry Outlook

Looking into 2016, as the US Federal Reserve embarks on its first
interest-rate hike cycle in more than a decade, it will continue to attract
“hot money” inflows from emerging markets which suffers from
potential asset devaluation and currency depreciation. The Chinese
authorities is expected to continue with monetary easing and fiscal
stimulus measures to bolster its flagging economy, as well as taking
additional measures to boost domestic demand and consumption.

During the Central Economic Work Conference held in December last
year, “inventory destocking” has been listed as one of the four major
tasks in 2016. We believe China’s property market may encounter
another booming year in a policy easing environment. In light of an
extremely volatile stock market taking a toll on wealth effect, the
property market boom may be of a regional and cyclical nature, and
lower tier cities may see limited upside. However, the recent cut on
the minimum down payment requirement for first-home purchasers
to the lowest level ever of 20% is testament to the government’s
determination in supporting the property market. It is also expected
that once local government of lower tier cities brings in additional
administrative measures such as household residency registration
("Hukou”) reform, housing sales and consumption in lower tier cities
is likely to revive further.

In respect of industry development, the polarization of stronger and
weaker developers has been affirmed vividly. The structural shift
in population composition and urbanization progression has led to
significant demand in urban housing and integrated services in related
fields. Some developers have diversified its business model to enclose
asset-light modules, introducing element of financing and insurance,
internet integration, healthcare, education, filming and cultural in its
operational scope. Nonetheless, we believe tough times still lie ahead,
given increasing challenges from cost increase, sales decline and
shortage of capital, resulting in further compression in profit margin.

From a funding perspective, the regulatory relaxation in China onshore
bond market since early 2015 has provided a more convenient and
cheaper funding alternative to property developers. In view of the US
rate hikes, declining Renminbi funding cost and further weakening
of Renminbi, we expect to see more offshore-listed China property
companies to tap into onshore financing channels to fuel future
growth.

10 Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2015
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Under the current market landscape with intensifying competition
and surging land premium, the Group will strive to develop a diverse
growth model by incorporating joint venture cooperation and mergers
and acquisitions development strategy. We will build effective cohesion
with our controlling shareholder and establish a single business
operation platform to eliminate internal competition, strengthen
management and development process, realign resource allocation
and enhance operation scale. With respect to company operation,
we will be proactive in product innovation, maximizing value-adding
components and optimizing project’s quality-to-price ratio. We will
focus on buying the better located high quality sites situated in core
Tier 1 and 2 cities with high future sales growth potential. In terms of
financial management, the Group will continue to adhere to prudent
financial management and monitor its costs and expenses stringently.
Meanwhile, we will explore new fundraising channels by closely
monitor onshore and offshore fund raising windows. Finally, we will
strive to improve on asset turnover, return on equity and ensure ample
funding for our business development in the future.

CONCLUSION

| wish to express my sincere appreciation to the shareholders and
business associates for their support and trust and our staff for
their dedication throughout the year. | would also like to express my
gratitude to my fellow Directors for their contributions. Minmetals
Land will continue uphold our core values of “Integrity, Innovation,
Practicality and Excellence” to serve and create value for our
shareholders and stakeholders whilst contributing to the well-being
of our community. We aim to attain a harmonious outcome that is
mutually beneficial for the Group, its shareholders, business associates,
staff members and the community.

Zhang Yuanrong
Chairman

E 34Tk
EOEBRFANRIHERSENS K K&
BEESNHESHELENMHFBESFZ TEERA A
HIERBERE LR TE—BINEBES
Fa o BERABES  MaEEMEER
EFHAEREERBARERR - £RRE
EBhE BMBOERAIFER  EEAK M
BERAE RIEFABEBEUEL THETBE
BO—BE BB TR ERYLY  KRKHERE
RENBRSzBEMR AMBERTE &
SESKERREMRBEZEAH  BEH
B ZURIREANORERELREHNE
BEB NFRBFEEAELT  RABRADE
K RAREBERIEHAMNES R -

&

AANEREBE-FEERRMEBAIERH
MXFNEE UEREBEINFHZNEUA
RO - AATHEEETFANTIERERR
RAB - IBEERBEERHE BIF BE
ERBHER  ERASEMANBRERES
ERZAMEENRE  /ERIAREL B
KL RA - BWR - AEBH BT REEMHE

=
ji\EE}LO

5 JT 28
e

ARBRERAT —T—REE® | 1



Management Discussion and Analysis

CEERERER

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s consolidated revenue for 2015 was HK$7,253.3 million,
representing an increase of 21.2% compared to HK$5,983.6 million
of last year. Real estate development segment recorded a revenue
growth of 34.2% to HK$6,501.5 million (2014: HK$4,844.8 million).
Revenue from specialised construction segment recorded a drop of
36.3% to HK$681.9 million (2014: HK$1,071.3 million) whilst revenue
from property investment segment grew by 3.6% to HK$69.9 million
(2014: HK$67.5 million).

Segment Revenue

% 75 Bl BB
REBRZZ—RFRERE WA A7,253,300,000
77T 8 & F [A 8 #95,983,600,0005% T E F
212% - Hf - EBHEZRELE»H 2 WA L
F+34.2% %£6,501,500,000/% jT (= & — Y 4 :
4,844,800,0008 L) s HEEREELE N H 2 W
AT /836.3% £681,900,00078 7T (— & — PO 4F
1,071,300,000/ 7T) : ¥ W E L& » 70 2 WK
A 3 K3.6% £69,900,0007 T (=& — PO 4
67,500,000/ 7T) °

5 EB WL A

For the year ended 31 December

BE+—-RA=+—BIL¥$E

2015 2014 Year-on-year
—E—-AEF —ET—mF change
HKS$ million HK$ million HRERE
BEEET % ER-dcwe % %
Real estate development i E % R 6,501.5 89.6 4,844.8 81.0 34.2
Specialised construction ExEE 681.9 9.4 1,071.3 17.9 -36.3
Property investment MEKRE 69.9 1.0 67.5 1.1 3.6
Securities investment BHEE — — — — —
Total st 7,253.3 100.0 5,983.6 100.0 21.2
Segment Results SERELE
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-_A=+—HLEE

2015 2014 Year-on-year
—E—-AF —ZE—PFE change
HKS$ million HK$ million HRERE
BEEET % BE8ATT % %
Real estate development B E % R 953.6 76.8 587.8  66.5 62.2
Specialised construction EEEE 2.7 0.2 57.1 6.4 -95.3
Property investment MEKRE 259.5  20.9 217.4 246 19.4
Securities investment BHIRE 26.5 2.1 21.9 2.5 21.0
Total st 1,242.3 100.0 884.2 100.0 40.5

Boosted by a strong surge in the recognition of sale of properties
from previous years in 2015, particularly from Academic Royale,
the real estate development segment revenue grew by 34.2% to
HK$6,501.5 million (2014: HK$4,844.8 million). The decline in revenue
in specialised construction segment of 36.3% to HK$681.9 million
(2014: HK$1,071.3 million) was attributed to lesser recognised contract
work as a result of the delay in project completion. Due to the
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R-ZT—AF EHERAUFENDEHEES
(LERRAREXEWMBEE)SETEHT - Fit
E R D U A R34.2% £6,501,500,00078
7T (ZZ—TH4E : 4,844,800,00078 ) - HAIER
BRTEEMEREERFNIRERLD  HEE
S EU AT /836.3% 2£681,900,000/8 L (==&
— P94 : 1,071,300,00087T) - BB HE R



He Jianbo T &l i
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director Bl X E#EEHEHE

change in product mix of property sold and delivered, overall gross
profit margin improved from 20.5% to 21.9%. Fair value gain on
investment properties increased by 22.2% as a result of higher rental
rate achieved. The Group's selling and marketing costs increased 0.8%
to HK$291.2 million (2014: HK$289.0 million) while administrative
and other costs rose 12.1% to HK$511.6 million (2014: HK$456.2
million) mainly due to higher impairment losses of trade receivable and
exchange loss incurred for the depreciation in Renminbi.

During the year under review, finance costs dropped 12.7% to
HK$57.5 million (2014: HK$65.9 million), as a result of increasing
portion of interest expenses capitalised as property under development
in 2015. Due to project completion and delivery by an associate with
descended profit, share of results of associates posted a significant
decrease of 91.1% to HK$16.4 million (2014: HK$183.9 million).
In addition, as a result of projects completed and delivered with
substantial minority interests, profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company dropped 34.6% to HK$278.2 million from HK$425.2
million of last year, representing a basic earnings per share of HK8.32
cents (2014: HK12.74 cents) for the year.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s total assets grew 19.4% to
HK$39,621.4 million (2014: HK$33,175.6 million) whilst net asset
dropped 3.1% to HK$11,646.9 million (2014: HK$12,020.5 million).
The financial position of the Group remained healthy. The Group's
net gearing ratio maintained at a relatively low level of 13.8% and
its net current assets dropped 21.0% to HK$15,773.5 million (2014:
HK$19,961.0 million). Deferred revenue, which mainly represented
contracted sales carried forward and subsequently will be recognised
as the Group’s revenue when presold properties are completed
and delivered to buyers, rose 151.6% to HK$9,705.4 million (2014:
HK$3,858.0 million).

NHEEMEBEANNE  AEEBEELF
RH20.5%I = E21.9% - HRBEEKFEEIE
TR EVELAAREWRZEMN22% - AEEH
2 SHE N SH K AN 3 110.8% £ 291,200,000/ 7T
—Z — P04 :289,000,000/8 7T) - MITH & E
%8 B FF12.1% E511,600,0008 T (—Z — M
F : 456,200,000/ 7L)  DEEHRESHEIWK
HREBEBEMR AREEEES ZEKEIE
FrEL »

REEFA BAREZMNEZTHE=-ZT—H
FUEAEAABAZRPYE  FHEXA
m 3/ 412.7% 57,500,000 T (= & — /Y
F 1 65,900,000/ 1) - A EEE QA E 5 1E B
BIRNEMERDY  2hBERFEEK
& 8 2 91.1% 216,400,000/ T (— =T — PU 4F ¢
183,900,000/ 7T) © WM » HRER TR 2
HEH  RBMAIFEEBREZR At AQF
I 5B A AL R T B & F [/ #f 2 425,200,000
7B I T BK34.6% £ 278,200,000/8 7T © B E R
B AEREM(ZZ—IUF  12.7481l) -

R-E—FAF+-_A=+—H A&£E &
B 4 F 1% £19.4% %39,621,400,0005 T(=
Z — P 4F :33,175,600,000/8 ) BEFE T
[%3.1% %11,646,900,000/% 7T (= & — O 5 :
12,020,500,0007% 7T) 7% & B #) B 75 AR S 0 94
HERRRE OFAEREIFE13.8% 2 HERIEK
FoEREEERM21.0%%15,773,500,0007
JTL(ZZ— P04 :19,961,000,0008 7T) - &R IE
TWMA(EEAREFMAR 2NN ERE - BR
FEEMERTIRRINTFERNERALAEER 2
U ) BIA S 1 0151.6% £ 9,705,400,00078 7T
— & — U4 :3,858,000,0008 7T) °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CELERE LK

REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
Contracted Sales*

In 2015, the Group’s total contracted sales rose 16.2% to RMB8,730
million (2014: RMB7,510 million) and the gross floor area (“GFA")
contracted for sale amounted to 423,000 square metres (2014:
415,000 square metres) over 4,661 units (2014: 3,483 units). The
average selling price ("ASP”) rose 14.2% to approximately RMB20,700
per square metre (2014: RMB18,100) and the majority of the
contracted sales were derived from Tier 1 and 2 cities.

The table below provides an analysis of contracted sales by project

for years 2014 and 2015:

Year ended 31 December 2015
BE-FE—A&E+-HA=+—BHLEE

B = 3% R

FHHER~
R-ZB—AF AEEZENRELT LA

16.2% £8,730,000,0007T A R¥E(ZF — 0 F :
7,510,000,0007C A RE) - BHHEREEMEIE

([#BEmEmiE]) &423,000°F K (ZE—MME:
415,000 F 52K) » 4 E®4,661{HELNM (=

—PO4F :3,483(E B A1) - FHEB([FHEED
ERA142%EF F5K420,700t AR B (ZF
—OF 8§ FHKI18,100T A REE)  KEE %K
WEERFTERE—BRR_GW Tz B ER
RIEH -
TR NFERZT-RAFZENHEEIRESR
Elal:oks 7fﬁ2§§lJZZDT

Year ended 31 December 2014
HE-ZT—NF+_A=+—HILFE

Contracted Contracted Contracted  Contracted
amount GFA ASP amount GFA ASP
£ 40 FH
HFHEH BREEH EHER BHoRE REBEEE FHEE
(RMB million) (sgq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.) (RMB million) (sq.m.) (RMB/sqg.m.)
(ANR# (BEH XK (AR (BF75K
Project 15H BEAT) (FEFHK) ARH) ER-2) (73 K) AR®)
Beijing Fortune Garden It RE 2,774 50,227 55,238 2,810 57,355 48,994
Yingkou Platinum Bay O REe G E 50 9,540 5,255 151 21,873 6,887
Langfang Minmetals Vanke City BB 35 T 78 & Rl 3 551 70,970 7,767 282 41,048 6,871
Tianjin Minmetals International RKEFEABEBAE 228 21,186 10,785 98 8,712 11,248
Nanjing Laguna Bay AR 7 e B E 54 1,593 33,612 80 6,652 12,039
Nanjing Riviera Royale R ARE T & 36 958 37,971 46 2,259 20,583
Nanjing Sello Royale ARARNLES 328 19,617 16,726 837 57,971 14,444
Nanjing Academic Royale PR AR E & 3,101 120,067 25,829 2,442 101,703 24,008
Nanjing Yan Shan Ju EREE 1,029 37,633 27,334 — — —
Changsha LOHAS International RO AR ERH R
Community @ 324 60,062 5,390 626 107,201 5,842
Changsha Scotland Town RO /NE 2 771 2,576 31 536 6,135
Changsha Kaifu Project ’J\ﬁﬁ!%nm Eﬁtﬂz 152 19,251 7,905 40 3,097 12,947
Huizhou Hallstatt See BN TTE o 10 3 B 1 101 10,679 9,482 70 6,676 10,507
Total @zt 8,730 422,554 20,663 7,513 415,083 18,100
Note: * “Contracted Sales” means sales contract entered between the Group and i [BNNES AAEERBEREREETEMMBEE
purchasers pursuant to the Administrative Measures on the Sales of Commodity ggg@:ggfﬁmﬂ MEAAGRER-_EE—FxA—
Buildings ("7 & F5 4 & B 12 #t 75 ) promulgated by MOHURD (" {E 55 1 4k 48 & HEM EAmEHEEEN LB ZHEAR - &
Z#") on 4 April 2001 and implemented on 1 June 2001. Sale of commodity LEHERIEEERBIHRZINE o

buildings included both pre-completion sales (pre-sale) and post-completion

sales.
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PROJECT PROFILES

R 71 T S—
g 4

I B

Attributable GFA held
interest to the Estimated GFA GFA under for future
Group Site Area GFA  completed development development
FEE 4 E#%T BRP HEAERREEZ
P 45 23 WBEEE CEEEE COEEEE 2 HEEEE BT T R
(sq.m.) (sg.m.) (sq.m.) (sg.m.) (sq.m.)
Location/Project e TEE (EFHK) (EFHXK) (EFHK) (EHK) (EHXK)
Pan Bohai Rim Ri#iEHE
1. Beijing Fortune Garden tRME 51.00% 139,000 414,000 182,000 215,000 17,000
2. Yingkou Platinum Bay EORTEHEE 100.00% 396,000 521,000 146,000 2,000 373,000
3. Langfang Minmetals Vanke City ¥ o & & Rl 50.00% 433,000 704,000 = 162,000 542,000
4. Tianjin Minmetals International XEHFERBEABAE 100.00% 21,000 183,000 183,000 = =
Yangtze River Delta REAKE
5. Nanjing Laguna Bay FRRGeiNE 71.00% 310,000 319,000 319,000 = =
6.  Nanjing Riviera Royale ARAR IS 98.88% 73,000 222,000 222,000 = =
7. Nanjing Sello Royale MRABNER 100.00% 179,000 270,000 263,000 7,000 =
8. Nanjing Academic Royale FARABeEXEH 66.67% 136,000 482,000 152,000 302,000 28,000
9. Nanjing Yan Shan Ju AREILE 100.00% 91,000 203,000 = 203,000 -
Central China EiE
10.  Changsha LOHAS International K% AfEefe &Rt E
Community 100.00% 643,000 1,084,000 934,000 51,000 99,000
1. Changsha Scotland Town ROEHE/NE 100.00% 333,000 442,000 442,000 = =
12. Changsha Kaifu Project RPATOLESH 100.00% 150,000 534,000 73,000 55,000 406,000
Pearl River Delta K=ABE
13. Huizhou Hallstatt See BN FE o 18 i B A 80.00% 984,000 1,003,000 162,000 51,000 790,000
AERRERDA —T—REFEH | 15
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Beijing Fortune Garden

Fortune Garden is a residential development project located at
Xibeiwang Town, Haidian District, Beijing. The development occupies
an aggregate site area of approximately 139,000 square metres and
has an aggregate planned gross floor area of approximately 414,000
square metres. The project received the “International Award” by
the British Association of Landscape Industries in recognition of
its outstanding landscape design. The project is comprised of two
phases. Development of Phase | commenced in October 2011 and
was completed and delivered. Construction of Phase Il commenced
in June 2013, pre-sale was launched in July 2013 and is scheduled to
complete by early 2017. In year 2015, a contracted sales of around
50,227 square metres were recorded under this project.

Location

i B

Usage

R

Site area

i A2 T &

Gross floor area
RIEH B
Group's interest
75 B P A M 5

Expected construction completion date
T8 B i 52 T2 58 Ak B B
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it = E
dFEMEAMNRIE R EE AR FER
RIEE @ BHEEELA139,000F 75K - B4
L2 ERE O A414,000F 5K - 2 EHAE
EHNSBRTEABRBEMREN S EEER
Bl - ZEEREMB F-—HERNR-_T——
FTAME  BEERERIFER: FZHERR
ZE-—=FRABIT RFELRAETEE &
AR EFFYAITKAE KT —H
FA - ZEEBHBEHNBEEEHELNS0,227FH
}K o

Xibeiwang Town, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC
H B b R 8 [ 7 b B 8

Residential

F=

Approximately 139,000 square metres
#7139,000 75 2K

Approximately 414,000 square metres
#7414,000°F 75 2K

51%

1Q 2017
—E—+tFE—F



Yingkou Platinum Bay

Platinum Bay is a residential development project comprises villas and
apartments. It is located at Liaoning (Yingkou) Coastal Industrial Base,
Yingkou City, Liaoning Province. The project occupies an aggregate site
area of approximately 396,000 square metres and has an aggregate
planned gross floor area of approximately 521,000 square metres.
The project will be developed over six phases. Development of Phases
I and Il was completed in December 2012. Construction of Phase llI
commenced in March 2014, pre-sale was launched in June 2014 and
has commenced delivery as of the end of 2015. The remaining three
phases are currently under planning. In year 2015, a contracted sales
of around 9,540 square metres were recorded under this project.

Location

I B

Usage

A&

Site area

I 42 H 18

Gross floor area
IS TE EE
Group's interest

7N 5 B P A B =R

Construction completion date

EETETKBEH

EORME » $HiB &
AFENFERBESRERAEEN ZEER
BER NAEELLOMEBEEMRO)NEGE
FEM - RIBEIELAE396,000F 5K - B8R
S48 S E E A5 4 4521,0005F 5K - ZIEEH N
R E—HRE_BHERE—Z=-F+=A
BT F-HEIN_T—NF=AFHIT BF
NARBEE  ER-ET-AFFEMHARM:
HBRT=HEMEEREBE - RZT—HFA -
ZEESGENHEEBENIS40FFK -

Liaoning (Yingkou) Coastal Industrial Base,
Yingkou City, Liaoning Province, the PRC
TREEREOMEE(EO) S EEXE N
Residential

=

Approximately 396,000 square metres
#7396,000°F 755K

Approximately 521,000 square metres
#7521,000°F 752K

100%

Phase Il in 4Q 2015
F=H — —_T-REFNF

ARBRERAT —T—REEH | 17



Management Discussion and Analysis

CELERE LK

Langfang Minmetals Vanke City

Minmetals Vanke City is a residential development project located in
Xianghe County, Langfang City, Hebei Province. The project occupies
an aggregate site area of approximately 433,000 square metres and
has an aggregate planned gross floor area of approximately 704,000
square metres. Construction of the project commenced in October
2014 and pre-sale was launched in December 2014. The project is
scheduled to complete by the end of 2017. In year 2015, a contracted
sales of around 70,970 square metres were recorded under this

project.

Location

I B

Usage

&

Site area
A% TH 1R

Gross floor area
IR TH A
Group's interest

7% [ BT 4k 2

Expected construction completion date
T8 B g 52 T2 55 Ak B B

Tianjin Minmetals International

Minmetals International is a completed mixed commercial and
residential development project located at the east of Yingbin Main
Road and south of Tuochang Road, Tanggu District, Tianjin. The project
is comprised of office space, apartments and retail stores as well as
car-parking spaces. The development occupies an aggregate site area
of approximately 21,000 square metres and has an aggregate gross
floor area of approximately 183,000 square metres. So far, 90% of
the gross saleable floor area was sold. In year 2015, a contracted sales

of around 21,186 square metres were recorded under this project.

By AR S FH

AEERSAMMNAILEBTME NG ZFE
BRIEE B BMEELHAE433,000F 5K B
FEILEEMmMEL A704,000F 5K - BB R
ZE-MF+AHIT AF+_AERBEE - %
HEBHRZE—LtFFERIL - RZZT—H

FA ZAEBBRBHRNHEEERAT0,970F 7

Jingxintun Town, Xianghe County, Langfang City,
Hebei Province, the PRC

R B AT b & BB B T & R SR i R R

Residential

*=

Approximately 433,000 square metres
#7433,000F 75 K

Approximately 704,000 square metres
#)704,000F 75 K

50%

Phase Il in 4Q 2017
FH — T —EFEFNF

XEFERABERBXE
TREAREBSAEAREMAE 2B AL
FESZERIFEMAERIER  NRKZE
BAENERBEURKEICIGENRS 18 E
T&49521,000F A K - 481 [ [ 75 49 5183,000
FHKES  ZEHEEHIO%AAEET
BHE - RZZE—AFAN ZBEEHSENHEE
ETE#I21,186F 7K

Location At east of Yingbin Main Road and south of Tuochang Road,

i B Tanggu District, Tianjin, the PRC
REREDEOREEREARREHE AR

Usage Commercial and residential

& P REE

Site area Approximately 21,000 square metres

I A% [ 18 #921,000°F 75 2K

Gross floor area Approximately 183,000 square metres

#8128 T T & #7183,000°F 75 2K

Group's interest 100%

RNE B PTG

Construction completion date 2011

BETIETKBEH —T——F
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Nanjing Laguna Bay

Laguna Bay is a completed residential development project located at
the junction of Xue Si Road and Xue Qi Road, Science Park, Jiangning
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province. The project is comprised of terrace
houses, high-rise apartments, low-rise villas together with a three-
storey commercial building. The project occupies an aggregate site area
of approximately 310,000 square metres including the lake area and
has an aggregate gross floor area of approximately 319,000 square
metres. It features two lakes and an open green space at the centre
of the development, supplemented with neighbouring land totaling 20
acres reserved for education purposes and other ancillary facilities. So
far, 100% of the gross saleable floor area was sold. In year 2015, a
contracted sales of around 1,593 square metres were recorded under
this project.

BREER « GEiME

RheE BN IHEAER IERRBEE
MEHEBL IR ZERTIEEHEIEE 0 H
BRREEHENE SEAT - BIARER
—BEo-EREEAE - ZEBAMHERER
FE AT ) 49 4310,000°F 5K » A2 mE A
#)/319,000F 752K - HME RO B A MIE A
RBEARARM - B0 HA B R R EMEE
BHEAM - 25 ZIEECDEHI100%BAIEE
EAEE RZET—AFRN ZEEHEEHHE
S & #1,593F 5K ©

Location At the junction of Xue Si Road and Xue Qi Road, Science Park,

it B Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
TEIHEFIERN BEASNMKESE LKA

Usage Residential

A& F=

Site area Approximately 310,000 square metres

b #2 TH 15 #)310,000°F 755K

Gross floor area Approximately 319,000 square metres

#812 H H E #1319,000°F 75K

Group's interest 71%

REEMEEE

Construction completion date 2013

BETIETHKBH —E—=F

ARBRERAT —T—REER |
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Nanjing Riviera Royale

MRAWR e HI&

Riviera Royale is a completed residential development project comprises R T &M AR EHIE « RELLOFTEMN 2
villas, apartments and LOFT units for high-end market. The project is BERIFFER  USHTEELAHEH R -
located at Mengdu Avenue, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province. M RTI#HEMRAEH REMBAE @ BB EE
It occupies an aggregate site area of approximately 73,000 square  #9/473,000F 5K - 12 E & 49/45222,000°F
metres and has an aggregate gross floor area of approximately 75K @ E2E R i B £912,000F KA RAE K
222,000 square metres. The project has ancillary facilities including a ~ #92,000F /5 K€ FT - 25 - ZABEEL100%
central park and a club house of approximately 12,000 square metres M AEEA@EE R —AF AN - ZIBH 8
and approximately 2,000 square metres respectively. So far, 100% of S ##HEMIELIS8F K

the gross saleable floor area was sold. In year 2015, a contracted sales

of around 958 square metres were recorded under this project.

20

Location

3 2

Usage

A&

Site area

3 A% T A

Gross floor area
REEEE
Group’s interest

N B PTG AR
Construction completion date
EETRTKHEES

Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2015

No. 188 Mengdu Avenue, Jianye District, Nanjing,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
REIHREERERRSHBAE —B/N\T/\R
Residential

=

Approximately 73,000 square metres
#173,000F 75 K

Approximately 222,000 square metres
#9222,000F 75 2K

98.88%

2012
—E——%F



Nanjing Sello Royale

Sello Royale is a residential development project located at south
of Hongjing Road, Science Park, Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province. It occupies an aggregate site area of approximately 179,000
square metres and has an aggregate gross floor area of approximately
270,000 square metres. This project is comprised of villas and low-rise
apartments. Construction of the project commenced in April 2012 and
pre-sales of the project was launched in December 2012. Development
of residential portion was completed and delivered at the end of 2015.
The project was awarded the title of “Best Residential Development
in 2014 (East & Central China)” (2014FE Bl EE R % P i & & =
£ I8 H) at the first China Property Awards held by Ensign Media.
Majority of the development works of this project have completed.
So far, 87% of the gross saleable floor area was sold. In year 2015, a
contracted sales of around 19,617 square metres were recorded under

this project.

ARAR LESG

IR NBARUNIHEAERIZENER
SAERBUBMZAERREL  RBREELY
/3179,000°F 75 2K - 42 1 H M 1& 4J /3270,000°F
AR BEEHNERZERAE RZT—=
FUABHIT AFT-RETEE  R=ZE—1
FEAEIREER I RRNM o %I B R Ensign
Media = ## 2 % — J& China Property Awards# i#
RROVEEFHERRERRZETITE
Bl - ZEEFRBIREEARRK  £5BEEH
7% RAFEEHERE (BRFEEM) RZZT—h%F
N ZIBBSEENHEEIEL19,617TF K -

Location At south of Hongjing Road, Science Park, Jiangning District,

3 2 Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
METHEAR I EEMBELTKNENAS

Usage Residential

Az F=

Site area Approximately 179,000 square metres

3, A% [ 15 #3179,000F 75 K

Gross floor area Approximately 270,000 square metres

#8012 H H A #7270,000F 75 K

Group's interest 100%

REBMEEE

Construction completion date 2014

BEETIR KA —ZT—MF
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Nanjing Academic Royale

Academic Royale is a residential development project located at Tian
He Road, southern part of Hexi, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province. It is approximately 5 kilometres from the Nanjing Olympic
Sports Centre, the main stadium for the Nanjing 2014 Summer Youth
Olympic Games. The project is located within the Nanjing Hexi New
City Zone, a district of key future development with a construction plan
of becoming comfortable living Eco-City. The project was designed
as a high-quality residential community with low density. It occupies
an aggregate site area of approximately 136,000 square metres
and has an aggregate planned gross floor area of approximately
482,000 square metres. Academic Royale is comprised of four phases.
Development of Phase | commenced in the third quarter of 2013
with presale in April 2014, and it was completed in the third quarter
of 2015. Development of Phase Il commenced in the first quarter of
2014 with presale in the third quarter of 2014, and it was completed
at the beginning of 2016. Development of Phase Il commenced in
January 2015 with presale in November 2015, and it is scheduled to
complete at the end of 2016. Development of Phase IV is expected to
commence in June 2016 and pre-sale is expected to launch at the end
of 2016. In year 2015, a contracted sales of around 120,067 square
metres were recorded under this project.

Location

bk

Usage
A&

Site area
AL T AR

Gross floor area
RIEEEE
Group's interest

N6 P Ak R =

Expected construction completion date

TAHRETZ KA
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BARAR « RXEW
AEENEHANRIHAEREBE A
EHRAKZEEREEE  EHER_T—
WFEZEFREGTHE — BREMKRER
BERLANRARE - ZBBMEMIEIKE -
AR EREES A ERALER
HEFW - ZIEE B ERETEL A136,0005F 7
K- BREEEEEMELH482,000F 75K - &
AAREERRFER ZBEBENE:F
—HERNR-ZT—=FE=FHIT R=_T—
MEmAETEE YR _T—AFE=FTR
T E_HERN-_ZT—NFE—FHIT K=
TNFEF=FETEE IR —FV
BT BE-HEER-_ZT—AF AT BF
T—RAETEE  BARZZE-REFERI$
WHZERBEHR-_ZE—AFSABIERESF
FREMBE R_ZT—AFRN  ZBEAHSE
S U E T TE£120,067F K o

At Tian He Road, southern part of Hexi,

Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
mh BT &% A R ot 2 B R R 78 R R0 RO B8
Residential

=

Approximately 136,000 square metres
#7136,000°F 75 2K

Approximately 482,000 square metres
#9482,000F 75 K

66.67%

4Q 2018
—E-\FEEE



Nanjing Yan Shan Ju

Yan Shan Ju is a residential development project located at southeast
of Zijin Mountains in Nanjing Xuanwu District, the prime high-end
residential district where land supply is limited. The project occupies
and an aggregate site area of approximately 91,000 square metres and
has an aggregate planned gross floor area of approximately 203,000
square metres. There are well developed transportation facilities and
the project is in close proximity to the Ninghang Expressway and
Subway Line 2. In addition, it enjoys excellent surrounding environment
and neighbours a number of educational and research institutions.
The project will be developed into a high-end low-density residential
community comprises low-rise apartments for first time buyers and
upgraders from the local district and the Nanjing city. It is comprised
of two phases. Construction of Phase | commenced in the first quarter
of 2015, pre-sale was launched in July 2015 and it is scheduled
to complete in the third quarter of 2016. Construction of Phase Il
commenced in the third quarter of 2015 and pre-sale is scheduled to
launch in the third quarter of 2016. In year 2015, a contracted sales
of around 37,633 square metres were recorded under this project.

Location
3, Bh

Usage
Az

Site area

3 A8 T A&

Gross floor area
RIEEER
Group's interest

7N B P Ak R =

Expected construction completion date
TEHIEE T2 A A A

AMREWRE
ZUELRERZREESLERMEAE - RE
MEEEERNESLSHTIERE - ZBEEH
BEELA,000F 5K BERELEEERE
#943203,000F 750K - BRI 3 1 2 3% A0 b #1257
B RBEF - AERERT  BHTLOHE
kElif#E  ZBESRERABE /I RENS
mEEREFERE  BERFPAZERE R M
HE BHUEP  ZEEREMH: - E—HER
RZZE—RFF—ZHT AFLtARHAEE -
EBER-E—RNEFE=ZFTRI:F_HERR
—E-RAFEZFHT HER=E—RFE
—FTRAEBE -R_ZT—AFARN - ZHBEBHSG
BHHEEELI37633F K -

At Zhong Ling Jie, Xuan Wu District, Nanjing,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
hEIHREERZRNREERS

Residential

E=

Approximately 91,000 square metres
#791,000F 75 K

Approximately 203,000 square metres
#)203,000F 75 K

100%

2Q 2017
S
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Changsha LOHAS International Community
LOHAS
development project with ancillary facilities, such as clubhouse, shops,

International Community is a large-scale residential
car-parking lots, schools and landscaped garden. Located at Gaoyun
Road, Muyun Town, Changsha County, Hunan Province, the project
occupies an aggregate site area of approximately 643,000 square
metres, including a private lake of 30,000 square metres. It has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of approximately 1,084,000 square
metres. This project is comprised of five phases. Development of
Phases | was completed in December 2010. Development of Phase
Il and Il was completed in August 2013. Development of Phase IV
commenced in March 2013 and was completed at the end of 2014,
Development of Part | of Phase V commenced in December 2013 and
was completed in the fourth quarter of 2015. Development of Part
Il of Phase V is currently under planning. So far, 84% of the gross
saleable floor area was sold. In year 2015, a contracted sales of around

60,062 square metres were recorded under this project.

Location
b B4

Usage

A&

Site area

i 48 [ 15

Gross floor area
BEmEE
Group's interest

AR5 B P Ak R =

Expected construction completion date

TAHEETZ KA
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FigeEEREHRARETERREE BH
G- mE B EREESTEESSZEE
EXE O URPBREARDPGETERER 4
AR FE4) 4643,000F 52K (823530,000F ;52K
FLAHR) - B R BB 1E M M TE 4 &1,084,000
FHK - ZEEHDAHMAE - F—HERZZT
—EFE+ AR T E_HRE=HE AT —
=SENART FEPERN-_Z—=F=7%
T BERZZE—NFEET: FRAH-EESZR
TE-ZF+ AT ERN_ZE-REFNF
BT FERA_RBATIEEMRBIMBR - 25 %
BHEDELHS4%BEREERE -R-F—H
FA - ZEEBHEENHEEEEL60,062F

NV
7N @

At Gaoyun Road, Muyun Town, Changsha County,
Hunan Province, the PRC
HEHEERSGEZHRSER

Residential

F=E

Approximately 643,000 square metres
#7643,000F 75 2K

Approximately 1,084,000 square metres
#1,084,000F 75 oK

100%

4Q 2018
ZE-N\FEEE



Changsha Scotland Town

Scotland Town is a completed residential development project located
at Yuntang Village and Yuetang Village, Muyun Town, Changsha
County, Hunan Province, and is adjacent to LOHAS International
Community. The development occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 333,000 square metres and has an aggregate gross
floor area of approximately 442,000 square metres. Development of
Phases | and Il reached completion in August 2011 and November

REE/E

BENEABNRNAEERPEEZHEERENK
AENZERIAXTEHRIER - WA A TEFEE
BIRR 1t (@ - A2 AR FE 49 /83333,000°F 5K + 4
BHEEEL B442,000F 5K - ZHEF—HK
FZBORRZE——F NARZE—=F+
—A%T %25 ZEBEDEHICKBAEET
AE RZZT—AFRN ZHARSENHEE

2013 respectively. So far, 96% of the gross saleable floor area was EE#771F F K -
sold. In year 2015, a contracted sales of around 771 square metres

were recorded under this project.

Location At Yuntang Village and Yuetang Village, Muyun Town,

I B Changsha County, Hunan Province, the PRC
FEARERASBREZEETENR AEN

Usage Residential

A& =

Site area Approximately 333,000 square metres

i A2 T 75 #1333,000F 75 K

Gross floor area Approximately 442,000 square metres

#8128 H H A #1442,000°F 755K

Group's interest 100%

REE (=

Construction completion date 2013

BETIRRTKEH —T—=F

ARBRERAT —T-—REER |
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Changsha Kaifu Project

Kaifu Project is a residential development project located at Fu
Yuan West Road, Kaifu District, Changsha County, Hunan Province.
The project is located at a comfortable living Eco-City zone under
planning, with close proximity to the Kaifu District Administration
Centre. The development occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 150,000 square metres and has an aggregate planned
gross floor area of approximately 534,000 square metres, of which
approximately 331,000 square metres is designated for residential
purpose, approximately 113,000 square metres for commercial
purpose, approximately 5,000 square metres for public ancillary facility
purpose, and approximately 71,000 square metres for car-parking and
civil air defense purpose. The residential portion of the project will be
developed into a quality residential community for first home buyer
and upgraders, whilst the commercial portion will be positioned as a
5A graded office building, business hotel, commercial zone with shops
of lifestyle and leisure goods and services, and office building zone
positioned for cultural and creative sector. The project is comprised
of three phases. Development of phase | commenced in September
2014 and is expected to complete in the fourth quarter of 2016,
in which development of the villas and selected high-rise units was
completed by December 2015, and development of the high-rise units
is scheduled to complete in the fourth quarter of 2016. In year 2015,
a contracted sales of around 19,251 square metres were recorded
under this project.

Location

I B

Usage

A&

Site area

i 4% T &

Gross floor area
BMEMEE
Group's interest
NE B PTG

Expected construction completion date

TAHIEETZ KA
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Fu Yuan West Road, Kaifu District,
Changsha County, Hunan Province, the PRC
BB R & R D 5 R AR R AR T B
Residential and commercial

EERBEE

Approximately 150,000 square metres
#7150,000°F 75 2K

Approximately 534,000 square metres
#)534,000F 75 K

100%

Phase | in 4Q 2016
F—H — T "FENF



Huizhou Hallstatt See

Hallstatt See is a large-scale residential development project located
at Mai Tian Ling, Boluo County, Huizhou City, Guangdong Province
and is in close proximity to many amenities including golf course.
Surrounded by hills and a 20-acre lake, the development occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately 984,000 square metres and has
an aggregate planned gross floor area of approximately 1,003,000
square metres. The project received 4A tourist attraction rating by
the China National Tourism Administration in 2015, and was given an
award for its innovative cultural and resort real estate model (X1t &2
Jik 32 FE 85 0 EE AR 30 Al K 2€) in the 10th Annual Real Estate Billboard
event hosted by the China Commercial Real Estate Commission. It
is comprised of seven phases. Development of Phase | and part of
Phase Il was completed and delivered in 2013 and 2014 respectively.
Construction of the majority of Phase Il and Phase Il was completed
by November 2015. The entire project is scheduled to complete by
the end of 2019. In year 2015, a contracted sales of around 10,679
square metres were recorded under this project.

Location

I B

Usage
&

Site area
AR T AR

Gross floor area
RIEEMAEE
Group's interest

AN [ P Ak #E =

Expected construction completion date

TAHIEETZ KA

BINATR o 1975 4
AE-REEBAUNEREBNTEEGE

HEZANFEHRER  MORZURRX
ISECRMEBERE - WAL N20E®M 2 AR
B BRI IEA A984,000°F K BEREIE
1 T T8 49 41,003,000F 52K - ZBHERZ-Z
—AFEPBEBERKERBTABERIAGIRE S
E -UER2EIRHEMERERNZET
i Hb EE B S IR [ b B R 5 2 R i EE AR
REFARE] - ZHEEESLHERE F—HK
EFE_HBOTIERSRNER-_TE—ZFR_F—
METRERN  F_PRE-HETBRET
BERZZE—RF+—AXK BEEBEH
RZE-NFERTK R —HFA " %
HEHESELNIEEEEL10,679F K -

Mai Tian Ling, Boluo County, Huizhou City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
PREEREEMNTIEESZERS
Residential

F=

Approximately 984,000 square metres
#7984,000%F 75 2K

Approximately 1,003,000 square metres
#91,003,000F J5 3K

80%
4Q 2019
—E-AFEMEF
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Land Bank

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a land bank developable in
gross floor area of approximately 3.5 million square metres across 13
real estate development projects in 7 cities located in mainland China,
including Beijing, Yingkou, Langfang, Tianjin, Nanjing, Changsha and
Huizhou.

SPECIALISED CONSTRUCTION

The Group is engaged in the business of specialised construction
mainly encompassing the services of design, production and
installation of curtain walls system via Condo Shanghai for the PRC
market, Condo Hong Kong for the Hong Kong market and Condo
Macau for the Macau market. In 2015, revenue derived from this
operating segment showed a decline of 36.3% and its operating
results, net of intra-group transactions, showed an operating profit of

HK$2.7 million (2014: HK$57.1 million).

During the year, Condo Shanghai implemented stringent management
on company financial and cashflow. Through active participation
in project bidding and stringent risk management, the specialized
construction segment lowered financial risks and achieved record
turnover in the Macau market, and recorded steady revenue in light
of extremely competitive Hong Kong market condition.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Group's investment property portfolio in Hong Kong comprises
two commercial office buildings, namely China Minmetals Tower in
Tsimshatsui and LKF 29 (formerly “ONFEM Tower”) in Central, and
four residential units, all of which are located in Hong Kong with a
total gross floor area of 15,826 square metres. In 2015, revenue from
this operating segment rose 3.6% to HK$69.9 million (2014: HK$67.5
million). As at 31 December 2015, the occupancy rate of LKF 29 was
92.0% (31 December 2014: 95.9%) while China Minmetals Tower
remained 100% occupied (31 December 2014: 100%).
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Building China Minmetals Tower

NEEE FEARKXE

Location No. 79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
b B BEENEBRDERMEED L +IR

Total GFA 10,789 square metres

#IRHE A 10,789 77 K

Usage Commercial

A& [EHES

Lease term Medium term

HEHR A

Building LKF 29

RNELH LKF 29

Location No. 29 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong
b Bh BEERREFHA-_T AR

Total GFA 5,038 square metres

IR A 5,038 75 K

Usage Commercial

A& [EHES

Lease term Long term

HEHR & 5

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year of 2015, the Group’s operations were financed mainly
by cash flows generated internally from business operations as well
as borrowings.

As at 31 December 2015, cash and bank deposits (excluding restricted
cash and bank deposits) of the Group amounted to HK$10,672.9
million (2014: HK$5,240.5 million), of which 91.3%, 7.3%, 1.2% and
0.2% (2014: 99.2%, 0.6%, 0.2% and 0.0%) were denominated in
Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar, United States dollar and Macau Pataca
respectively.

The Group had utilised financing to supplement internal resources
to finance the acquisition of new projects and the development of
existing projects. Total borrowings of the Group stood at HK$12,578.5
million as at 31 December 2015 (2014: HK$11,641.5 million), which
mainly comprised borrowings from banks and bond issuance. The net
gearing ratio (net debt to total equity) of the Group as at 31 December
2015 was 13.8% (2014: 49.2%).

RBEERUMBER
R-F-—RFM FAEBEZEEELEERE
EBEBHBRZBEAREH -

R-_ZE—HF+_A=+-—H AEEzZR
CRBITFERATLEZIRHE S KK
7 ) A10,672,900,0008 7T (= & — I 4 :
5,240,500,000%7T) * £#H91.3% * 7.3% * 1.2%
}02% (ZZF —P04F:99.2% * 0.6% * 0.2% &
0.0%) D RIAARY B ETKBPIET|
@o

AEEEHABREAERRNTERAKEFHIEE
RERREBERHBEES - AKEBR=-Z—7
FTZA=+—H2Z{EX#% /12,578,500,000
JL(=Z — P04 : 11,641,500,000/8 ) 28
FROTEARESFZRT - RZT—HF+=A
=t+—H AEBEZFEER(EBFELTERS
HEA) 513.8% (ZF—HF 1 49.2%) °
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Maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

31 December 2015
—E-AFE+=-HA=+—H

AEBZERBNHBERMAT

31 December 2014
—T-mEF-F=+-H

HK$ million HK$ million
BHEBT % BEAT %
Within one year —FRA 4,452.0 35.4 116.9 1.0
In the second year B F 994.3 7.9 4,596.5 395
In the third to fifth year EFE-EZERF 6,174.3 49.1 5,970.8 51.3
Beyond five years AF A& 957.9 7.6 957.3 8.2
Total st 12,578.5 100.0 11,641.5 100.0

The currency profile of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

31 December 2015
“E—-AF+=-H=+—H

AEBEZEFREEBROT:

31 December 2014
“T-mEF-A=+-H

HK$ million HK$ million
BHEETT % BEET %
Renminbi AR 860.6 6.8 1,194.3 10.3
Hong Kong Dollar BT 9,027.2 71.8 7,761.6 66.6
United States Dollar ETT 2,690.7 21.4 2,685.6 23.1
Total st 12,578.5 100.0 11,641.5 100.0

Finance costs charged to the profit or loss for 2015 amounted
to HK$57.5 million (2014: HK$65.9 million) after capitalisation of
HK$453.1 million (2014: HK$458.7 million) into properties under
development. The unutilised banking facilities of the Group as at 31
December 2015 amounted to HK$336.9 million (2014: HK$4,597.5
million).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE RATES

During the year of 2015, most of the Group’s revenue and costs
were denominated in Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi. The Group is
exposed to exchange rate risk on transactions that are denominated in
a currency other than Hong Kong dollar, the reporting and functional
currency of the Company. The Group has not implemented or entered
into any foreign exchange hedging arrangement to manage its
exchange rate risk during the year of 2015. However, the Group has
been closely monitoring the recent fluctuation in Renminbi exchange
rate, and will adopt necessary measures to minimize the impact
arising from adverse currency fluctuation including adjustment to the
proportion of borrowings in foreign currency and adoption of foreign
exchange hedging instruments.
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CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2015, certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group and mortgage
loan facilities to the buyers of the Group’s properties, and these
pledged assets of the Group included:

i. properties under development with carrying amounts of
HK$1,388.7 million (2014: HK$7,185.5 million); and

ii. bank deposits with nil carrying amounts (2014: HK$127.2
million).

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2015, guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to certain purchasers of the Group’s properties
amounted to HK$7,742.4 million (2014: HK$3,750.8 million). Such
guarantees will terminate upon the earlier of (i) issuance of the
property ownership certificate which will generally be available
within one year after the purchasers take possession of the relevant
properties; or (i) repayment of mortgaged loans by the purchasers.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying
the outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and the Group is
entitled to take the possession of the related properties. Under such
circumstances, the Group is able to retain the property sales proceeds
previously received from the purchasers and sell the property to recover
any amounts paid by the Group to the banks. Therefore, after taking
into account of the creditworthiness of the purchasers, the Directors
consider that no provision is required in the consolidated financial
statements for the guarantees.

REEERF
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EMPLOYEES

Total number of staff of the Group, including the Directors, dropped
21.5% to 904 as at 31 December 2015 (2014: 1,152). The Group will
continue to adopt a remuneration policy in line with local market
practice and standards. Total remuneration and benefits of the
Directors and staff of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015 were approximately HK$276.3 million (2014: HK$235.6 million).

He Jianbo
Deputy Chairman and Managing Director
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Corporate Governance Report
TEREGHRE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to
and responsible for the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. The Board has put in place a corporate governance structure
for the Company which is principally responsible for setting directions,
formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing risks of
the Group. The respective Board committees oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs and perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended 31
December 2015, the Company has complied with the code provisions
of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except
for the following deviations:

1. Code provision A.4.2 requires that all directors appointed to fill
a casual vacancy in listed companies be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.
Every director, including those appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Instead of having elected at the first general meeting, Directors
appointed by the Company to fill a casual vacancy would be
subject to election at the first annual general meeting after their
appointment. Besides, all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation in the manner as set out in the said code provision save
for the Chairman and the Managing Director of the Company
where they are not required to do so pursuant to the private
company act 1991 by which the Company was incorporated.

2. Code provision E.1.2 requires that the chairman of the Board and
the chairman of all the board committees of listed companies
to attend and answer questions at the annual general meeting.
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EEXEARE

Mr. Zhang Yuanrong, the Chairman of the Board and of the

Nomination Committee, was not available for the Company’s

annual general meeting for 2015 due to ad hoc business

commitment. Accordingly, Mr. He Jianbo, the Deputy Chairman,

Managing Director and a member of the nomination committee,

took the chair of the said meeting.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the

Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising

the Company’s affairs. The day-to-day management, administration

and operation of the Company, however, are delegated to the

management of the Company.

The Board comprises eight members as at the date of this report, the

composition of which is set out below:

Name of Director

Designation

RRFEENRB LY ARBEFER
RAZBEIRRTREERELFELAL
AM—_F-AFERRBEFRE - AQH

AEEREFEEERIREEERRAN

BUREERMNAERZEH -
EET
EFRMAGEERERAARN AT U &
BAEREREEARAZER MERAE
ARESRTARAAZARER - TRREE

EFEH -

RABRERS E2eh\BESFEK 515
Bt T

Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination

Committee Committee Committee Committee

EEng B 167 BITEEE BEXEEE HWESE REFEEE
Mr. Zhang Yuanrong Chairman & Non-executive Director M C
RITRAELE ITRERFANTES
Mr. He Jianbo Deputy Chairman, Managing Director & Executive Director C M M
fa] 108 55 &£ BlER EFLLBERAITES
Mr. Yin Liang Senior Deputy Managing Director & Executive Director M
FREE EEEBREKERRTES
Ms. He Xiaoli Deputy Managing Director & Executive Director M
/N &L BEFRAKERATTES
Mr. Liu Zeping Deputy Managing Director & Executive Director M
BRI E EFRIAKBERAITES
Mr. Selwyn Mar Independent Non-executive Director C M M
SREAE BYFATES
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria Independent Non-executive Director M C M
mERZ LT BYFATES
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Independent Non-executive Director M M M
MR BIYFATES

C: Chairman M: Member C:EF M:KE

Biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed

“Directors’ and Senior Management's Profile” in this Annual Report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business,

family or other material or relevant relationships amongst members of

the Board.
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All Non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term of three
years. Save as disclosed in the previous paragraph headed “Corporate
Governance Code”, the Non-executive Directors, save for Mr. Zhang
Yuanrong, are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
provisions of the Bye-laws.

The Company has met the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at
least three Independent Non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third members of the Board and with at least one Independent
Non-executive Director possessing appropriate accounting and financial
management expertise and professional qualifications.

The Company received written confirmations from all Independent
Non-executive Directors confirming their independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

During the year, a total of four physical Board meetings and two
general meetings were held. Notice of at least fourteen days is given
for regular Board meetings. The attendance of the Directors is as
follows:

BN TEEZERAR=F - B LEXIEXRE
ATRI—BABEIN  MBEFERTEZE(GRT
KREERINBRBARBERAUANEERE
TRZGXEZEE -

ARA—BHETETHRAIAEELHRARAR
BRV=ZZBIFNITES  BRFBEILIFH
TEFRHEFEARZRLI=Nz— MEF
RO—RBUFATESTEABSARUBE
XERMNERERZAE -

ARRDEESBUFNTESFTRR EMAR
FIVBHEZRE RWEZ2 B E DL 2 #
RE -ARARRAEBIUNNTEETHRE
MATE -

REAFERN ARBRRTTEHAORESEE S
FMMABRAE EFQEHERIBAY
REZRTHHAIRLOTOREAZERBES -

EEFHFERZBRW T

Number of Meetings Attended/Held

BIT/HEERRY
Board Meeting General Meeting
Name of Director EEKZ EEE BERERX=E
Mr. Zhang Yuanrong RITER L& 3/4 0/2
(appointed on 18 March 2015) (R=—Z—RF=A+N\BEZT)
Mr. He lianbo fa] K% 5% & 4/4 2/2
Mr. Yin Liang Fk Ak 4/4 2/2
Ms. He Xiaoli /N 4/4 2/2
Mr. Liu Zeping 2 8)F 4 4/4 0/2
(re-designated as Executive (R=ZE—R"EF=A+N\H
Director on 18 March 2016) HAEEBRITES)
Mr. Selwyn Mar BHRELE 4/4 2/2
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria BERL L 4/4 2/2
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy R B o A 11 171
(appointed on 1 September 2015) (R=ZE—hFNA—BEZE)
Mr. Sun Xiaomin RERLE 0/0 0/0
(resigned on 18 March 2015) (R=—ZZE—hE=A+N\BEF)
Mr. Tian Jingqi AEREE 2/2 0/1
(resigned on 20 August 2015) (R—ZE—RFNA-_t+HEMT)
Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel B L E 171 171

(resigned on 11 June 2015)
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The Directors acknowledge that they have a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company and commit themselves to
spend sufficient time to perform their duties. They are also aware of
their collective and individual responsibilities to Shareholders. As such,
they must take an active interest in the Company’s affairs and obtain
a thorough understanding of the business of the Company.

The Company enables the Directors, upon request, to seek advice from
independent professional advisors at the Company’s expense in the
process of discharging their duties. The Company has also arranged for
appropriate liability insurance to indemnify Directors for their liabilities
arising from corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a comprehensive
induction package and training covering the Company’s constitutional
documents, internal policies and procedures as well as the general,
statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that
he/she is thoroughly aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and other relevant regulations.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates
on the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regime. The Company provides monthly reports to Directors
which contain updates on the business development and financial
information of the Group.
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All Directors have participated in continuous professional development.
The individual training record of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out below:

FTEERH2EFBETELRR - SE2NH2
—E—RAF+t-AZ=Z+t—HLEFEZ@EREIN
Lk

Attending

Briefings expert

& updates briefings,
on business seminars,
operations, conferences

Paving visits regulatory relevant to
ying ) & corporate the business
to Company’s . ,
. governance or directors
projects & .
subsidiaries matters duties
S AMIEE HEREH
BEXLE ggpox EEREAH
FEHEME ZagEEz 2HEHEE.

A8 BHRREEH AT wiE

Directors BEE

Mr. Zhang Yuanrong RITER A&
Mr. He Jianbo o] &% % &
Mr. Yin Liang FomE st
Ms. He Xiaoli A/ N+
Mr. Liu Zeping 28 F L £
Mr. Selwyn Mar SAErEE
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria mEERA T
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy AR B R A

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

Mr. Zhang Yuanrong is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. He Jianbo
is the Managing Director of the Company. This segregation of roles
ensures that there is a clear distinction between the broad strategic
direction of the Group and the management of the Board by the
Chairman and the strategic planning and day-to-day management
of the Group’s business by the Managing Director. The respective
responsibilities of the Chairman and the Managing Director are set
out in the Company’s internal documentation entitled “Guidelines in
respect of the Responsibilities of the Board of Directors”.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has established a set of guidelines as its own “Rules
and Procedures for Directors and Relevant Employees of the Company
in respect of Dealings in Securities of the Company” (the “Rules
for Securities Transactions”) on terms no less exacting than those
contained in the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules.

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, they had confirmed
in writing that they had complied with the Rules for Securities
Transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2015.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and its results and cash flows for the relevant financial
period. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2015, the Directors ensured that the consolidated
financial statements had been prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards; made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable; and had prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
The Directors are also responsible for the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Directors confirm that, having made all reasonable enquiries, that
to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, they are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement made by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the independent
auditor of the Company, about their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this Annual Report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for internal control system of the
Group and, through the Audit Committee, reviews its effectiveness
to protect Shareholders’ interest and to safeguard the Group’s assets.
The Board has authorised the management to design, implement and
maintain its internal control system by clearly defined responsibilities,
investment decision system and budgeting system for performance
appraisal, etc.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Audit Committee has
assisted the Board in reviewing the Group’s financial, operational and
compliance controls, and risk management functions, ensuring that
controls and risk management measures and procedures are properly
implemented. The Group’s Internal Audit Department follows a risk-
and-control-based approach. Different audit areas are assigned risk
ratings and an audit plan is formulated in a risk-weighted manner so
that priorities and appropriate audit frequency are given to areas with
higher risks. The Group’s Internal Audit Department has conducted
audits to inspect and evaluate the Group’s financial control, operational
control, and compliance control and risk management on a regular or
as-needed basis, and submitted internal audit reports directly to the
Audit Committee, with the purpose of ensuring that the effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Group has been improving
continuously. The Audit Committee would make recommendations to
the management and submit regular reports to the Board on the basis
of such audit findings and views.

The Board has adopted a risk management and internal control manual
in December 2015 to ensure that the Group have sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems and in compliance with
the CG Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

A.

Audit Committee

All the members of the Audit Committee are Independent
Non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is principally
responsible for providing independent review of the effectiveness
of the financial reporting procedures and internal control system
of the Group; reviewing the appointment of independent auditor
and the efficiency and quality of their work; and reviewing all
internal audit reports as well as management feedback to such
reports.

The Audit Committee held three meetings in 2015. The
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is as

EE§

g*”i
%Vé/\aﬁ,\i’]?%ﬁi??iﬂTTé? =
REES T ERECEHAER UK
EREFLANLEZERR 2B R EST
BB  BEBELZEMBE - LR
METEREMIEEEZ  URERME
ABEFTREREEEHZERENR

=T

ERZEGR T -RAFBETT=ZRE
& BB %@E%Z\ﬁ/RZZDT-

follows:
Attendance
Members of the Audit Committee EEZEEE HERXY
Mr. Selwyn Mar — Chairman BHRELEE — £F 3/3
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria BEKLL 3/3
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy MR SR A
(appointed on 1 September 2015) (RZZE—RAFILA—BEZT) 11
Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel B A
(resigned on 11 June 2015) (RZZE—RF A+ —HEE) 1/1
The major tasks accomplished by the Audit Committee during NTAEZZEENAFEATHKNEE
the year are as follows: T
a. reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the a. BHAEEEZE_ZT-—NF+A

Group for the year ended 31 December 2014, the
independent auditor’s letter to the management and the
annual results announcement, and made recommendation
to the Board for approval;

b. reviewed the interim financial information of the Group
for the six months ended 30 June 2015 and the interim
results announcement, and made recommendation to the
Board for approval;

C. reviewed the management recommendations furnished
by the independent auditor and the responses from the
Group’s management;
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d. reviewed the audit strategy submitted by the independent
auditor, and made recommendation to the Board for their
appointment, remuneration and terms of engagement on
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2015;

e. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor for providing non-audit services;

f. reviewed with the management the accounting practices
and principles and practices adopted by the Group;

g. assisted the Board in conducting independent evaluation
of the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting
procedures and internal control system;

h.  ensured that the management has fulfilled its duty
to establish and maintain an effective internal control
system including adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff working in the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function;

i. constantly reviewed internal audit reports submitted by the
Internal Audit Department and directed the department in
its approaches to audit planning and reports and ensured
that the internal audit function was supported by adequate
resources and is effective; and

j- furnished its opinions to the management concerning
related risks in respect of significant matters of the Group.

The Board agrees with the proposal of the Audit Committee
for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
the Company’s independent auditor for the year ending 31
December 2016. The Company will put forward a resolution
in respect of the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as the Company’s independent auditor for the year ending 31
December 2016 for approval by Shareholders at the AGM.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board, the Managing Director and all the Independent Non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee is responsible
for the review of the remuneration mechanism and incentive
scheme of the Directors and senior management, and the
establishment and maintenance of a reasonable and competitive
remuneration level in order to attract and retain Directors and
senior management.

The Remuneration Committee was authorised by the Board to
determine the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and
senior management and make recommendations to the Board
of the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in 2015. The
attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee is

HWNESE
FHNEZEEeNBERESTEIRE EFH
RERZEBBIUNNTEST - FTHEZE
SRHAENLAWEENREEEAR
ZHEMEEIAMEREE  BLRERS
BREBFNZHFYKFE - LRSI RRE
E=EREEERAR -

FNZEERESSRREETNTES
ERBEREABNHMGE  WHIERTT
EENFHMEZTSREERER -

FMEESeN T —RFRITTREE
ERBHFEERZBRET:

as follows:
Attendance
Members of the Remuneration Committee HMEEEHE HERXE
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria — Chairman BEKLLE - % 11
Mr. Zhang Yuanrong 9k JC &R A
(appointed on 18 March 2015) (R—ZE—RFE=RA+N\BEZT) 0/0
Mr. He Jianbo 1] R 3% 55 & 171
Mr. Selwyn Mar HBHRELTE 11
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy R SR A
(appointed on 1 September 2015) (R=ZZE—AFNLA—HBEZT) 0/0
Mr. Sun Xiaomin RERELE
(resigned on 18 March 2015) (M—ZE—AE=A+/\BHET) 0/1
Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel =
(resigned on 11 June 2015) (R—ZE—HRFNA+—HEMT) 1/1

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and
approved the 2014 annual bonus proposal, 2015 annual salary
adjustment proposal, and the fee for an Independent Non-
executive Director appointed during the year.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board, the Managing Director and all the Independent Non-
executive Directors. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
formulating the policy for nomination of Directors and to lead
the process of identifying and nominating candidates suitably
qualified to become Board members. It reviews the Board
structure, size and composition and makes recommendations
to the Board on re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Chairman and the chief executive of the
Company. It also reviews the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
which include but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, integrity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee
has the primary responsibility for the implementation of the
policy and will review the policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the policy.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting in 2015. The
attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee is as
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Attendance

Members of the Nomination Committee REZEEERE HERXE
Mr. Zhang Yuanrong — Chairman SRITEREE — £E

(appointed on 18 March 2015) (R—Z—RE=A+\BHEZE) 1/1
Mr. He Jianbo fa] @ % %t & 171
Mr. Selwyn Mar BHRELE 1/1
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria BRI L 1/1
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy AR B ST A

(appointed on 1 September 2015) (RZZE—hFHLA—BEZHF) 11
Mr. Sun Xiaomin RERESE

(resigned on 18 March 2015) (R=ZE—RF=A+N\BEE 0/0
Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel MBS A

(resigned on 11 June 2015) (R—ZE—RFA+—BHEMT 0/0
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the Nomination Committee reviewed the
the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the board

During the vyear,
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors,

diversity policy of the Company.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board as a whole is responsible for determining the policy
for corporate governance of the Company and performing the
corporate governance duties including to develop and review
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance,
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, to
develop, review and monitor the Company’s code of conduct
and to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 December 2015, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,

the independent auditor of the Group, received approximately HK$3.7

million (2014: HK$3.4 million) for audit services, and approximately
HK$1.9 million (2014: HK$0.5 million) for non-audit services which
include the review of the 2015 interim report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chung Wing Yee has been acting as Company Secretary of the

Company since August 2006. She is an associate member of The

Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of

Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Ms. Chung has participated

the relevant professional training activities for more than 15 hours in
2015.

=N
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

A. Convening of special general meeting on requisition and
putting forward proposals at general meetings
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up share capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company have the right to
requisite the Directors to convene a special general meeting of
the Company. The requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionist and deposited
at the registered office of the Company.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionist, or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a special general meeting of the Company.

B. Enquiries from Shareholders
The Company’s website provides email address, postal address,
fax number and telephone number by which enquiries may be
put to the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTMENT
COMMUNITY

The Company attaches great importance to communications with
Shareholders and the investment community (which refers to the
Company’s potential investors and research analysts reporting and
analysing the Company’s status and performance).

Corporate information will be communicated to Shareholders and the
investment community by way of the Company’s announcements,
websites, meetings with shareholders and general investor relations
activities.

It is believed that effective communication with investors is
essential for promoting their understanding of the Group’s business
development. The Company releases property sales update by way of
announcement and press release on a regular basis.
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Announcements and corporate website

The Company maintains its corporate website at
www.minmetalsland.com where announcements, press releases
and update information on the Group are available. It serves as
a key channel for Shareholders and the investment community
to access reliable and timely information about the Company.
Shareholders would raise enquiries or provide feedbacks via the
designated section on the Company’s corporate website.

The following corporate information, which has been released
by the Company to the Stock Exchange, is also posted on the
Company's website immediately thereafter:

announcements, notices and circulars;
annual reports and interim reports;

a
b

C. Bye-laws;
d list of Directors;
e

terms of reference of all the committees of the Board; and
f. procedure for nomination of Directors by Shareholders.

General meetings of Shareholders

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote on their behalf if they
are unable to attend the meetings. They are welcome to raise
questions and comments at general meetings where members
of the Board and independent auditor of the Company are
delighted to answer.

Shareholders are informed of the voting procedures of general
meetings by the Chairman of the general meeting. The Company
also provides Shareholders with sufficient and timely information
concerning the date, location and agenda of general meetings
and other information regarding issues to be decided at general
meetings.

The Company ensures votes cast are properly counted and
recorded. Independent scrutineers are appointed to count
the number of votes cast at general meetings. The Company
announces and publishes, on the same day of the general
meeting, the poll voting results on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.
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C. Investor relations activities

We believe that, to enhance corporate governance, regular
and effective communication with investors is essential and in
particular, for their understanding of the Company’s business
development. We endeavour to maintain regular meetings and
frequent dialogues with the investment community through
participation in investor conferences, analyst and media briefings,
non-deal road show and investors’ and shareholders’ visits.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents (i.e.
the Bye-laws) during the year.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile

EEREEEEAEH N

Directors

ES

Mr. Yin Liang

BREE

Senior Deputy Managing Director
EEEHEIBALE

Mr. Selwyn Mar

BREXE

Independent Non-executive Director
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DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Yuanrong, aged 60, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director and the Chairman of the Company in March 2015. He
graduated from the School of International Communications of Beijing
University of Posts and Telecommunications in 1980 with a Bachelors
Degree and is a Senior International Business Engineer in the PRC.
Mr. Zhang joined China Minmetals in 1985. He is currently the
Executive Vice President of China Minmetals and a Vice President of
CMCL. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the general office, audit division,
financial services business and real estate development business of
China Minmetals. Mr. Zhang has been serving various departments of
China Minmetals group for investment, trading, mineral resources and
financial services businesses. He has extensive experience in real estate
development, strategic investment, financial services and corporate
management.

Mr. He Jianbo, aged 46, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Managing Director of the Company in December 2007. He was
appointed to the position of Deputy Chairman of the Company in
April 2013. Mr. He is responsible for the operation of and strategic
planning for the Company. Mr. He is a Senior International Business
Engineer in the PRC. He is also a Council Member of the Chinese
Association for International Understanding and a Vice President
of the Liaoning Province Youth Federation. He graduated from the
Peking University in 1992 with a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics. He
also obtained a Master's Degree in International Finance from Peking
University and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Saint
Mary’s University, Canada. Mr. He joined China Minmetals in 1992
and had served the positions of director of general administrative
office, director of strategic planning division and a member of the
strategic planning committee of China Minmetals. He is concurrently
the General Manager of the Real Estate and Construction Business
Centre of China Minmetals and a director of Minmetals HK. Mr. He
has over 20 years of experience in corporate management, strategic
planning and investment.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile

ESEREEEBRAS[MT

Mr. Yin Liang, aged 47, was appointed as an Executive Director and a
Deputy Managing Director of the Company in December 2006. Mr. Yin
is now an Executive Director and the Senior Deputy Managing Director
of the Company. He graduated from the University of International
Business and Economics of China in 1991 with a Bachelor of Law
Degree and obtained a Master's Degree in Business Administration
from Saint Mary’s University of Canada and a Master’s Degree in Law
from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yin joined China Minmetals in
1991 and has been serving various departments of China Minmetals
group for investment, corporate management, capital market, legal
affairs and trading. Mr. Yin has extensive experience in real estate
development, investment, capital market and corporate management.

Ms. He Xiaoli, aged 48, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company in February 2002. Ms. He is now a Deputy Managing
Director of the Company. Ms. He holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Accounting from North China University of Technology and a Master's
Degree in Business Administration from the University of South
Australia. She is a qualified PRC Senior Accountant and a member
of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to
joining the Company, Ms. He was the head of business division and
the deputy minister of accounting information division of the finance
department of the previous China National Nonferrous Metals Industry
Corporation. Ms. He has extensive experience in financial management
of enterprises.

Mr. Liu Zeping, aged 47, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in June 2010. Mr. Liu is now an Executive Director
and a Deputy Managing Director of the Company. Mr. Liu holds
a Bachelor’s Degree from Military Academy of Engineering and an
Executive Master’'s Degree in Business Administration from Tsinghua
University. He is a Qualified Senior Engineer in the PRC. Mr. Liu joined
China Minmetals in 1992 and is a Deputy General Manager of the
Real Estate and Construction Business Centre of China Minmetals and
the President of 23rd Metallurgical. Mr. Liu has extensive experience
in real estate development and construction business.

Mr. Selwyn Mar, aged 80, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in November 2002. Mr. Mar
graduated from the London School of Economics, University of
London. He is a Chartered Accountant, a director of Nexia Charles
Mar Fan Limited and the Managing Director of Marfan & Associates
Limited. Mr. Mar was the President of the Hong Kong Institute of
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Certified Public Accountants in 1991, a member of the Appeals Panel
of Securities & Futures Commission and a member of the Board of
Governors of Chinese International School. Mr. Mar has been actively
involved in commercial and industrial undertakings in Hong Kong and
the PRC in the past 38 years. Presently, he sits on the board of two
other Hong Kong listed companies. Mr. Mar is an Honorary Fellow of
the Lingnan University.

Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria, aged 70, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in April 1997. Ms. Tam holds
a Bachelor’s Degree in Law from the University of London and has
been a practising barrister since 1972. Ms. Tam is currently involved
in numerous community services, which include the Deputy of the
National People’s Congress of the PRC, a member of the Basic Law
Committee of the HKSAR and the Bar Association, as well as the
Chairman of the Operations Review Committee, a member of the
Witness Protection Review Board and the Ex-officio member of the
Advisory Committee on Corruption of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption. Ms. Tam is a Justice of Peace since 1982. She
was awarded the Grand Bauhinia Medal by the HKSAR Government
in 2013.

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy, aged 68, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in September
2015. Mr. Lam graduated from the Hong Kong University in 1970
with a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Degree. He also held a Master
Degree in Science of Management from the Stanford Graduate
of Business of U.S.A. Mr.
Government as Administrative Officer in 1970 and had served various

School Lam joined the Hong Kong
government departments for housing, environmental protection, land

administration, procurement, financial services and infrastructural
development affairs. He was appointed to the positions of Director
of the New Airport Projects Coordination Office (1993-97), Chief
Executive Officer of The Hong Kong Airport Authority (1998-2000)
and the Managing Director of the Urban Renewal Authority (2001-
2007). Currently, Mr. Lam is a member of the Lantau Development
Advisory Committee and the Country and Marine Parks Board. He
is also a fellow and court member, and an Adjunct Professor of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam was awarded the Silver
Bauhinia Star and the Golden Bauhinia Star medals in 2002 and 2008
respectively by the HKSAR Government. He has also been a Justice of

Peace since 2004.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Lu, aged 58, joined the Company as the General Manager
of the Real Estate Development Department in May 2007. Mr. Yang is
now a Deputy General Manager of the Company. Mr. Yang graduated
from Chongging (Jianzhu) Architectural & Engineering University
(now known as Chongging University) in 1982 with a Bachelor of
Engineering Degree. He also holds a Grade One Project Manager
Certificate issued by the PRC's Ministry of Construction and is a
member of the Chartered Institute of Building, U.K.. He was previously
employed to managerial positions in various companies of China
Overseas Holdings Limited with exposure to a variety of domestic and
overseas engineering projects. He was also the general manager of
a PRC real estate development company of China Overseas Holdings
Limited. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in the development,
operation and management of construction contracting and real estate
development business.

Mr. Yang Shangping, aged 42, joined the Company as the General
Manager of a real estate development company of the Company in
Nanjing in May 2007. Mr. Yang is now a Deputy General Manager of
the Company. Mr. Yang holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Civil Structural
Engineering from Tongji University and a Master's Degree in Business
Administration from Fudan University. He had participated in project
works for China Overseas Holdings Ltd. and Shanghai Vanke Co.,
Ltd. for over 10 years. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in project
management as well as sales and marketing and costing management.

Mr. Tang Ying Kit, Edward, aged 42, joined the Company as the
Financial Controller in April 2013. He is an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants, and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tang holds a
Bachelor degree in Business Administration in Finance (Honours) from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Tang worked in listed company and state-owned
enterprise in Hong Kong. He has extensive experience in corporate
finance, financial and general management.
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Report of the Directors

EE

EHhE

The Board would like to submit the Annual Report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS

OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are real estate development,
property
investment. Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are

specialised construction, investment and securities

set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating
and geographical segments is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 75.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2 cents
(2014: HK1.5 cents) per Share payable in cash to Shareholders whose
names appearing on the register of members of the Company on
Wednesday, 8 June 2016.

The dividend cheques will be distributed to Shareholders on or about
Friday, 24 June 2016.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development, possible risks
and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are provided in the
“Chairman’s Statement” as well as the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 8 to 11 and pages 12 to 32 of this Annual Report
respectively.

The financial risk factors and management of the Group are set out
in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

No important event affecting the Group has occurred since the end
of the financial year ended 31 December 2015.
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Report of the Directors

ESERE

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the “Financial Highlights”
on page 3 of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group strives to maintain balance between our core real estate
development business and the ecological environment, looking for green
development opportunities from environmental challenges in order to
promote sustainable development. We actively practice environmental
protection actions covering the whole building life cycle through
integration of resources and scientific management of the industry chain,
aiming to create a harmonious environment between man and nature
communion. The Group promote the “return to nature” concept in its
project’s planning and design. Our real estate development projects
adopt the notion of green design “according to local conditions, resource
conservation and comprehensive utilization” in order to increase their
applicability and life, and maximise the integration between our projects
and natural environment. On the construction side, the Group continued
to strengthen its construction management, by strict implementation of
the “four conservations one protection” measure on land, water, raw
materials and energy savings, and environmental protection so as to
reduce the hazardous effect of dust, waste water, construction waste and
noise to neighbouring residents and the environment.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements. During the year under review, the Group complies with
the requirements under the Bermuda Companies Act, Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules and
SFO (Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant rules
and regulations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS
The Group’s success depends on the support from key stakeholders,
which mainly comprise employees, customers and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are important and valuable assets of the Group. The Group
would reward and recognise performing staff by providing competitive
remuneration package and implementing sound performance appraisal
system with incentives. The Group has thorough career development
program to promote career development and progression by
appropriate training and providing opportunities within the Group for
career advancement.
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Customers

The Group’s principal customers are buyers of our real estate
development projects. The Group has established its own property
management subsidiaries in Nanjing, Changsha, Yingkou, Huizhou and
Tianjin to provide quality property management services to buyers
of our projects. They are also eligible to join our M-Land Club to
enjoy benefits from the promotions, functions, and other value-added
services provided.

Shareholders

The Group strives to enhance corporate value to Shareholders. The
Group is poised to foster business developments for achieving the
sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding Shareholders by stable
dividend payouts taking into account capital adequacy levels, liquidity
positions and business expansion needs of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 26 and Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

PROPERTIES
Particulars of the major properties held for investment and properties
under development of the Group are set out on pages 16 to 29.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2015,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$761,433,000 (2014: HK$814,459,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 7.
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Report of the Directors

ESERE

SHARE OPTION

2003 Share Option Scheme

The 2003 Share Option Scheme, which was adopted by the Company
on 29 May 2003, expired on 28 May 2013. Share options granted
under the 2003 Share Option Scheme prior to its expiration shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with their terms of
issue.

Details of the movements of share options granted under the 2003
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2015 are

g

—ET=FRERESE
ARAR-BE=FRA-TAERMNZ-
T= i%%%%%'aﬂ:f—ziﬂﬂi+
NEER - R-TT=F 8RB E A AT
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as follows: BT
Number of share options
BRERE
As at Granted Exercised Lapsed As at
1 January during the during the during the 31 December
2015 year year year 2015
Exercise 7 ?
Category of participant Date of grant  Exercisable period pricc ZF—-AFE REEE REEE REEE —E-1f
SEEER it B8 TEH fTEE -A-H i & ## +-A=+-8
HK$
BT
(i) Directors
Ez
Mr. He Jianbo 1.12.2008 1.12.2010 to 30.11.2018 (Note 1) 0.45 1,428,000 - 1,428,000 - -
1o 82 5% 5 A 1.12.2008 1.12.2010230.11.2018 (Bff 7% 1)
30.11.2012 30.11.2014 to 29.11.2022 (Note 2) 1.20 2,900,000 - - - 2,900,000
30.11.2012 30.11.2014%29.11.2022 (Fi 5 2)
Mr. Yin Liang 1.12.2008 1.12.2010 to 30.11.2018 (Note 1) 0.45 952,000 - 952,000 - -
FrEE 1.12.2008 1.12.2010%30.11.2018 (i £ 1)
30.11.2012 30.11.2014 to 29.11.2022 (Note 2) 1.20 2,200,000 - - - 2,200,000
30.11.2012 30.11.2014%29.11.2022 (K #2)
Ms. He Xiaoli 1.12.2008 1.12.2010 to 30.11.2018 (Note 1) 0.45 793,333 - 793,333 - -
fNBRL 1.12.2008 1.12.2010%30.11.2018 (Bff 5% 1)
30.11.2012 30.11.2014 to 29.11.2022 (Note 2) 1.20 2,100,000 - - - 2,100,000
30.11.2012 30.11.2014% 29.11.2022 ([ #2)
Mr. Liu Zeping 30.11.2012 30.11.2014 to 29.11.2022 (Note 2) 1.20 1,470,000 - - - 1,470,000
B8 & E 30.11.2012 30.11.2014% 29.11.2022 (Bff 7+2)
(i) Employees and others 1.12.2008 1.12.2010 to 30.11.2018 (Note 1) 0.45 4,981,002 - 595,000 - 4,386,002
BEREM 1.12.2008 1.12.2010%30.11.2018 (K 1)
30.11.2012 30.11.2014 to 29.11.2022 (Note 2) 1.20 42,470,000 - - 4,270,000 38,200,000
30.11.2012 30.11.2014% 29.11.2022 ([ 72)
Total 4 it 59,294,335 - 3,768,333 4,270,000 51,256,002
Notes: W 2E
1. These share options are exercisable in three tranches: the maximum percentage of 1. ZEBREAD=ZBROTE - NA-ZE-ZF+_A

share options of each tranche exercisable within the periods commencing from 1
December 2010 to 30 November 2018, from 1 December 2011 to 30 November
2018 and from 1 December 2012 to 30 November 2018 are 30%, 30% and 40%
respectively.
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These share options are exercisable in three tranches: the maximum percentage
of share options of each tranche exercisable within the periods commencing
from 30 November 2014 to 29 November 2022, from 30 November 2015 to 29
November 2022 and from 30 November 2016 to 29 November 2022 are 30%,
30% and 40% respectively.

Save as disclosed above, no share options in respect of the 2003 Share

Option Scheme were granted, lapsed or cancelled during the year.

2013 Share Option Scheme
The Company adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme on 7 June 2013
to recognise and acknowledge eligible persons for their contribution

or potential contribution to the Group.

No share options have yet been granted by the Company pursuant to
the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

The principal terms of the 2013 Share Option Scheme are set out as

follows:

(1

2)

(€)

Participants

Any directors or any employees of any company of the Group
and any advisers of, consultants of, contractors to any company
of the Group or any person who has any relationship (whether
business or otherwise) with any company of the Group or any
person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has
contributed or will contribute or can contribute to the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares available for issue under the
2013 Share Option Scheme is 333,785,270,
approximately 9.98% of the issued share capital of the Company

representing

as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No share options under the 2013 Share Option Scheme may be
granted to any eligible person, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon the exercise of the share options already granted or to be
granted to such eligible person under the 2013 Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
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(4)

)

(6)

(1)

such new grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital as at
the date of such new grant. Any grant of further share options
above this limit shall be subject to the requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The period within which the Shares must be taken up under a
share option

The Directors may in their absolute discretion determine the
period during which a share option may be exercised and notify
each grantee, save that such period shall not be later than 10
years from the date on which the Directors make an offer of
the share option subject to the provisions for early termination
as stipulated in the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

Time of acceptance and the amount payable on acceptance of the
share option

The offer of a share option made in accordance with the 2013
Share Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 business days
from the date on which the offer is made and the amount
payable on acceptance of the share option is HK$10.

The basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board at the
time of grant of the relevant share option and shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price per Share as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the relevant share option; (ii) the amount equivalent to the
average closing price per Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant share option; or (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.

The remaining life
The 2013 Share Option Scheme is valid until 6 June 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Yuanrong (appointed on 18 March 2015)
Mr. Sun Xiaomin (resigned on 18 March 2015)

Mr. Tian Jingqi (resigned on 20 August 2015)
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Executive Directors

Mr. He Jianbo

Mr. Yin Liang

Ms. He Xiaoli

Mr. Liu Zeping (re-designated on 18 March 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Selwyn Mar

Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy (appointed on 1 September 2015)
Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel (resigned on 11 June 2015)

Mr. Yin Liang and Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy will retire from the
offices of Director at the AGM in accordance with Bye-law 111(A) and
Bye-law 102 of the Bye-Laws respectively and, being eligible, offers
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired
service contract which is not determinable by the Company and any
of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The interests of Directors in competing businesses that were required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules as informed
by the relevant Directors are as follows:

Mr. He Jianbo, Deputy Chairman, Managing Director and an Executive
Director, is also a director of Yingkou Industrial Park, Minmetals Real
Estate and 23rd Metallurgical.

Mr. Liu Zeping, an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing Director,
is also a director and the president of 23rd Metallurgical, and a
director of Yingkou Industrial Park and Minmetals Real Estate.

Yingkou Industrial Park, Minmetals Real Estate and 23rd Metallurgical
are enterprises established under the laws of the PRC. Yingkou
Industrial Park is engaged in the development of Minmetals (Yingkou)
Industrial Park. Minmetals Real Estate is engaged in real estate
development and operation, construction, property management, real
estate agency, real estate advertising and exhibition and other real
estate related business. 23rd Metallurgical is engaged in construction
engineering, mining development and operations, real estate and
related industries business.
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In case the Board decides that there are any issues of conflict between
the Group and the aforementioned companies, conflicting Directors
will abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had any competing interests in
a business which competes or is likely to compete with the business
of the Group (as would be required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10
of the Listing Rules if each of them were a controlling shareholder).

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors for the year ended 31 December 2015 are as
follows:

1. Changes in Director’'s emoluments during the year are set out
in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

2. Mr. Selwyn Mar, an Independent Non-executive Director, acted
as an independent non-executive director of China Kingstone
Mining Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange) for the period from 14 July 2015 to 14
December 2015.

3. Mr. Liu Zeping was re-designated from a Non-executive Director
to an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing Director of the
Company on 18 March 2016.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of the SFO), which have been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
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pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules, or as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, were as follows:

HEAR)HIR I LR RIS FRAIR 2
6 <F B 77 40 & A A A R B 0 BT 2 A R A
.

Long Position in Shares RERZEFE
Number of Approximate percentage
Shares held of total issued Shares
Name of Director Nature of interest FimaEzZ HE#HTRS
EElA Eang % & 8B HYHZBAESLL
Mr. He Jianbo Personal 2,040,000 0.06%
] 1) 0% 52 A & A
Mr. Yin Liang Personal 1,360,000 0.04%
FEEE & A
Ms. He Xiaoli Personal 1,163,333 0.03%
A/ NEBEZ L &l A
Note: Details of the interests of Directors in share options of the Company are disclosed ~ M af: AREEERAAFBREE R 2 FHEHN LXXTHR

in the section headed “Share Option” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company or any of their
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any personal, family,
corporate or other interests or short position in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age, was
granted or had exercised any right to subscribe for any equity or debt
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO) during the year ended 31 December 2015.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS
Save as disclosed and

in the sections headed “Share Option”

“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, the Company had
no other outstanding options, convertible securities, warrants or other

similar rights as at 31 December 2015.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no repurchase or exercise of options
and convertible securities during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2015, according to the register of interests kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following entities
had interests in the Shares and underlying Shares which fall to be
disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO:

BREXHBEESIN  ARRARANFEHERR
1T (A B AR R S AT R R 8 55 o

EFERR
R-T—BFT-A=+—0 REALFARE
SRBERPIEZE=tAGRZREFEZE

HBRMay  THEBRAARRGRES
BREERBEENE+ANE - REZHH
BHAARRBZ RS RAR

Long Position in Shares R ZTFE
Approximate percentage
Interest in Shares of total issued Shares
Name of Shareholder BEEE REhhzEZ HERTROEBZHEOEDL
China Minmetals MR A 2,071,095,506 61.93%
(Note 1)
(B 3E1)
CMCL T #E B 2,071,095,506 61.93%
(Note 1)
(Fft5E1)
Minmetals HK BB AN 2,071,095,506 61.93%
(Note 1)
(B 2E1)
June Glory June Glory 2,071,095,506 61.93%
(Note 1)
(Hft5£1)
Mr. Osbert Lyman Osbert Lyman 5t 4 170,139,862 5.09%
(Note 2)
(Mt 5£2)
Strategic Power International Strategic Power 170,139,862 5.09%
Limited (“SPI") International Limited (Note 2)
(Kt 5£2)
(sp1))
Notes: B 5
1. June Glory is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Minmetals HK, which in turn is wholly 1. June Glory AE B RE 2 2EWB AR MESARE

owned by CMCL. CMCL is owned as to approximately 88.4% by China Minmetals.
Accordingly, each of China Minmetals, CMCL and Minmetals HK was deemed as
interested in the 2,071,095,506 Shares held by June Glory.

2. SPI is owned as to 70% by Mr. Osbert Lyman. In view that SPI had direct and
indirect interests in 19,290,000 Shares and 150,849,862 Shares respectively,
each of SPI and Mr. Osbert Lyman was deemed as interested in an aggregate of
170,139,862 Shares.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The following contract of significance was entered into or subsisted
between or subsisted between or subsisted between the Company
or its subsidiaries and the Company’s controlling shareholder or its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2015:

Minmetals Land Beijing and Minmetals Zhidi (both are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company), and Minmetals Futures (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) entered into a construction project
management agreement on 24 February 2014 for the provision of
construction project management services for the project involving the
construction of a commercial complex and certain ancillary facilities
for the use by Minmetals Futures as its southern headquarter in the
PRC. Details of the transaction have been published in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 February 2014.

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance were entered
into or subsisted between the Company or its subsidiaries and the
Company’s controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

No contract of significance to which the Company, any of its holding
companies, or any of their subsidiaries was a party, in which a Director
had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers during the year is

TEERRMER
UTATEEFRGEENAFEEREER
EERRBHAZAR

as follows:
Percentage of the Group’s total
HEAEREAFEZzESLHE
Sales Purchases
SHEHE REEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-RE —TWF ZT-RE —TNF
The largest customer BRAEP 1.6% 1.9%
Five largest customers in aggregate & A AKX P Fi{h 42 %8 5.2% 6.4%
The largest supplier RARER 6.0% 9.0%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate BR K ERGERE 17.2% 22.4%

23rd Metallurgical (@ non wholly-owned subsidiary of China Minmetals)
is the largest supplier of the Group during the year.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year, had the Directors,
their associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had
any interests in the above customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or
the laws of Bermuda.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The continuing connected transactions undertaken by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2015 are as follows:

1. A tenancy agreement dated 1 April 2013 was entered into

between Fifth Plaza Co (a non wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) as the landlord and Minmetals Land Beijing
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(@ wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as the tenant
("Tenancy Agreement 1”), details of which are set out below:

Premises . 7th Floor and part of BM and B1 Floors, Tower A,
Minmetals Plaza, 3 Chaoyangmen North Street,
Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC

Car Parking : Six car parking spaces at Minmetals Plaza
Spaces

Period : 33 months commencing from 1 April 2013 to
31 December 2015 (both dates inclusive)

Rental - RMB1,227,328.24 per calendar month (exclusive
of management, electricity and public facility
charges)

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals Land Beijing
under Tenancy Agreement | for the year ended 31 December
2015 was RMB14,524,859.

A new tenancy agreement dated 29 December 2015 was
entered into between Minmetals Land Beijing, Condo Shanghai
(@ wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Fifth Plaza Co
for the lease and sub-lease of the above premises and seven car
parking spaces at Minmetals Plaza for the period from 1 January
2016 to 31 December 2018, details of which are contained in
the Company’s announcement dated 29 December 2015.

A conditional construction contracting agreement dated 4
November 2013 was entered into between the Company and
23rd Metallurgical whereby the Company may from time to time
invite 23rd Metallurgical or its subsidiaries to tender and award
construction contracts, subject to successful tender, in respect
of the existing and future real estate development projects of
the Group in the PRC for the period from 1 January 2014 to 31
December 2016.

The aggregate contract sum awarded by the Group to 23rd
Metallurgical and any of its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
December 2015 was RMB501,167,445.
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A financial services framework agreement dated 4 November
2013 was entered into between the Company and Minmetals
Finance (a non wholly-owned subsidiary of China Minmetals)
whereby Minmetals Finance would provide the Company and its
PRC subsidiaries with deposit, loan and settlement services for
the period from 4 November 2013 to 31 December 2015.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the maximum daily
outstanding balance of deposits (including accrued interests)
placed by the Company and its PRC subsidiaries with Minmetals
Finance was approximately RMB1,798,394,787.

A new financial services framework agreement dated 3
November 2015 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Finance whereby the deposit, loan and settlement
services provided by Minmetals Finance will be continued for
the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018, details
of which are contained in the Company’s announcement dated
3 November 2015 and the circular dated 24 November 2015.

A tenancy agreement dated 29 May 2014 was entered into
between Minmetals Capital (@ non wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) as the landlord (“Tenancy Agreement
[1”), details of which are set out below:

Premises : 9th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham
Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Period . two years commencing from 1 June 2014 to
31 May 2016 (both dates inclusive)

Rental : HK$139,032 per calendar month (exclusive of
government rates and service, management
and air-conditioning charges)

Other : HK$27,227.10 per calendar month (being the

charges tenant’s share of service, management and air-

conditioning charges)

Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2015
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The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals Capital under
Tenancy Agreement Il for the year ended 31 December 2015
was HK$1,529,352.

A tenancy agreement dated 29 May 2014 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory (@ non wholly-owned subsidiary
of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) as the landlord (“Tenancy Agreement
[11"), details of which are set out below:

Premises - 11th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham
Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Period . two years commencing from 1 June 2014 to
31 May 2016 (both dates inclusive)

Rental : HK$139,032 per calendar month (exclusive of
government rates and service, management
and air-conditioning charges)

Other : HK$27,227.10 per calendar month (being the
charges tenant’s share of service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals Cheerglory
under Tenancy Agreement Il for the year ended 31 December
2015 was HK$1,529,352.

A tenancy agreement dated 29 May 2014 was entered into
between Minmetals HK (a non wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord (“Tenancy
Agreement V"), details of which are set out below:

Premises : 19th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham
Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Period : two years commencing from 1 June 2014 to
31 May 2016 (both dates inclusive)

Rental : HK$139,032 per calendar month (exclusive of
government rates and service, management
and air-conditioning charges)

Other : HK$27,227.10 per calendar month (being the
charges tenant’s share of service, management and air-
conditioning charges)
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The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals HK under
Tenancy Agreement IV for the year ended 31 December 2015
was HK$1,529,352.

A framework agreement dated 30 December 2014 was entered
into between Boluo Bihua (a 80%-owned subsidiary of the
Company) and Shenzhen Pan-China (a company holding 20%
equity interests in Boluo Bihua) whereby Boluo Bihua may from
time to time invite Shenzhen Pan-China to tender and award
construction contracts, subject to successful tender, in respect
of Hallstatt See project in Huizhou, the PRC for the period from
1 January 2015 to 31 December 2017.

No construction contract was awarded by Boluo Bihua to
Shenzhen Pan-China for the year ended 31 December 2015.

A property management service contract dated 5 January 2015
was entered into between lJiahe Risheng (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and lJiasheng Properties (@ non
wholly-owned subsidiary of China Minmetals) whereby Jiasheng
Properties provides property management services to the
sales office, show flats and unsold residential units of LOHAS
International Community for the period from 1 January 2015 to
31 December 2016.

The aggregate sum of management fee paid by Jiahe Risheng to
Jiasheng Properties for the year ended 31 December 2015 was
RMB5,109,791.

A property management service contract dated 5 January 2015
was entered into between Zhongrun Chengzhen (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Jiasheng Properties
whereby Jiasheng Properties provides property management
services to the unsold residential units of Scotland Town for the
period from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2016.

The aggregate sum of management fee paid by Zhongrun

Chengzhen to Jiasheng Properties for the year ended 31
December 2015 was RMB787,394.
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10. A loan framework agreement dated 30 March 2015 was entered
into between Beijing Wanhu (a 51%-owned subsidiary of the
Company), MLIML (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
and Beijing Vanke (a company holding 49% equity interests in
Beijing Wanhu) (the “Loan Framework Agreement”) whereby
Beijing Wanhu may from time to time provide loans by way of
entrustment loans to MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned
subsidiary in the PRC) and Beijing Vanke for the period from 1
May 2015 to 30 April 2018.

The aggregate amount of entrustment loan provided by Beijing
Wanhu to Beijing Vanke for the year ended 31 December 2015
was RMB882,000,000.

11. A supplemental agreement to the abovementioned Loan
Framework Agreement dated 4 August 2015 was entered into
between Beijing Wanhu, MLIML and Beijing Vanke whereby
Beijing Wanhu would charge interest on loans granted to
MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned subsidiary in the PRC)
and Beijing Vanke for the period from 4 August 2015 to 30
April 2018 with reference to the benchmark interest rate to be
announced by the People’s Bank of China from time to time.

The aggregate amount of interest received from Beijing Vanke
for the year ended 31 December 2015 was RMB10,945,261.

ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the above continuing
connected transactions (“Continuing Connected Transactions”) have
been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who have
confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions were carried
out:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;

(b)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Company
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company’s independent auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, was
engaged to report on the Continuing Connected Transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its findings and
conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed
by the Group on pages 64 to 69 of this annual report in accordance with
paragraph 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULES 13.18
AND 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

1. OFL (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as the
borrower, the Company and MLl (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) as the guarantors and certain banks as the
lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for a
3-year term loan facility (“Facility 1”) in the principal amount of
HK$3,800,000,000 on 5 July 2013 (“Facility Agreement 1”).

China Minmetals, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially

Pursuant to Facility Agreement |,

(directly or indirectly) at least 31% of the entire issued share
capital in the Company as well as remain the single largest
Shareholder (directly or indirectly) of the Company and has
management control over the Company. A breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions would constitute an event of default and
the Lenders may (i) cancel all or any part of the commitments
under Facility Agreement I; and/or (i) declare that all or part of
the loans together with accrued interest and all other amounts
accrued under Facility | be immediately due and payable; and/or
(iii) declare that all or part of the loans be payable on demand.

2. OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLI as the guarantors
and certain banks as the lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into
a term loan facility agreement for a 5-year term loan facility
(“Facility 1I") in the principal amount of HK$5,300,000,000 on
20 December 2013 (“Facility Agreement I11”).

70 Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2015

RRRZBIUIZEEEE e BEMR S SFTANTT
ERBEEESHTMASEMNBESETERKE
RI30005% (BT FE 52 87 75 & FH 88 1% 2 2 B LA S
MEFERTE WREZEKHATIR[ES LT
AR TR ERE RS A% R &5
SECZERERERIELERE - REAE
BH—OERBEREMY HBEHRELWR
BIE14ASEIE RN E B N ANF W E64ZE F698
WREZZEREVERGZAECERRER -
A BB 1A B 3 BT 4 4 5% A% BAM Gk 1R 2 Bl A o

R EHRASE13.1818 R13.2118 2
FHEWSE

1. WZE—=FtAAB: OFL(AAXRAZ
2EWBARDERERA - ARG RML
(BARRIZZAMBRAIEAREAR
BETRITERERATERAD A&
3,800,000,000# 7T 2 =4 B 7 BA & 5K @t
B(MEEE DI —mHa&m= (R
BipE—D o

REBEGHE - PEAR(BEARAZ
ERERR G (EEIER)EAFFEAR
ARD3N%EMERTRARS/SAAF (B
BERER)2E—KRARR - UAREER
NE|ZEIRRE - B R EAER IR
BIBREQEN  ERARUOBUERE
Wk — T 2 2 BB Bb M Aah « R/ (i) E e
E2MHEFNEFCEREFTFE - AREAM
RIEBMEBME B2 RANE I
B&E: R/R(NEMEAHBNDERRNE
KTATEE -

2. RZZE—=%+-A=-+H OFLEA
EBERA AR EMUEAREARS
FHRITEREFRATERAD A2
5,300,000,0008 L2 AF BEHRRLE ([ 5
EBHEEZDIN—HEHERBREHZ
(&EWZE=D -



Pursuant to Facility Agreement Il, China Minmetals, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, shall beneficially (directly or indirectly)
own not less than 31% of the issued shares of the Company as
well as remain the single largest beneficial Shareholder of the
Company and has control over the management of the Company.
A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would constitute an
event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all commitments
under Facility Agreement II; and/or (i) demand that all or part of
the loans together with accrued interest and all other amounts
accrued under Facility Il be immediately due and payable; and/or
(i) demand that all or part of the loans be payable on demand.

Condo Hong Kong (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as borrower and the Company as guarantor, accepted the offer
from a bank (the “Bank”) for the grant of general banking
facility in an aggregate amount of HK$100,000,000 (“Facility
lI”). Facility 1ll has no fixed term and is subject to periodic review
of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility lll, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company maintaining at
least 31% of the beneficiary interest of and have management
control over the Company. Upon a breach of the aforesaid
condition, the Bank may suspend, withdraw or make demand
for repayment of the whole or any part of Facility Il offered to
Condo Hong Kong.

Condo Macau (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as
borrower and the Company as guarantor, accepted the offer
from a bank (the “Bank"”) for the grant of general banking facility
in an aggregate amount of HK$200,000,000 (“Facility IV").
Facility IV has no fixed term and is subject to periodic review of
the Bank.

As one of the conditions of the Facility 1V, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company maintaining at
least 31% of the beneficiary interest of and have management
control over the Company. Upon a breach of the aforesaid
condition, the Bank may demand for immediate repayment of
all sums of moneys granted to Condo Macau and the interest
accrued.
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5. Condo Hong Kong as borrower and the Company as guarantor,
accepted the offer from a bank (the "Bank”) for the grant
of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$100,000,000 (“Facility V"). Facility V is subject to annual
review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility V, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company and have
management control over the Company. Upon a breach of any
of the aforesaid conditions, the Bank may demand for repayment
of the full amount of Facility V.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other disclosure
obligations under Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the notices submitted to the Company pursuant to the SFO,
the Directors are of the view that sufficient public float exists for the
issued Shares as at the date of this report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed with the
independent auditor the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2015 and has also discussed auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters including the review
of the accounting practices and principles adopted by the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers has retired and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
was appointed as the independent auditor of the Company with
effect from the conclusion of the 2013 annual general meeting of the
Company held on 7 June 2013.

The consolidated financial statements as contained in this Annual
Report have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire
at the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the AGM.

By order of the Board
He Jianbo
Deputy Chairman and Managing Director

Hong Kong, 18 March 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WAL AR &

Deloitte.
=)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Minmetals
Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 75 to 199, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WA Z BN R &

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
18 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

HERTBR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE_—F—AF 1+ -HA=1+—HIFZF

2015 2014
—¥-AFE _—T—MOF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 T#IT FAT
Revenue 1N 6 7,253,266 5,983,634
Cost of sales 8 & A A (5.661,879)  (4,756,883)
Gross profit E#H 1,591,387 1,226,751
Other gains, net Hib e - F58 8 67,502 49,588
Fair value changes on investment properties HEYMHERAREEE 15 195,563 160,085
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHE R (291,198) (288,985)
Administrative and other expenses TR EMAS (511,593) (456,215)
Finance income R PN 10 162,809 78,858
Finance costs 8 7% Ak AN 10 (57,511) (65,845)
Share of results of associates DG L NR EE 18 16,442 183,936
Profit before tax B %t a0 it 1 1,173,401 888,173
Income tax expense Fris®i X 11 (553,794) (452,244)
Profit for the year KEERF 7 619,607 435,929
Profit for the year attributable to: FEERFEBN:
Equity holders of the Company RARIREFBA 278,156 425,171
Non-controlling interests FE R AR IR R & 341,451 10,758
619,607 435,929
Earnings per share for profit attributable ZAXT]REHFFAES
to equity holders of the Company, in HK @ FZ2SKREFH - #E1l
cents
Basic 2R 12 8.32 12.74
Diluted e 12 8.31 12.71
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEEREERABEEKRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE_—F—AF 1+ -HA=1+—HIFEF

2015 2014
—E-1F —T-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH&ET FAT
Profit for the year XEEZH 619,607 435,929
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: BREERbEZE(KEH)
W :
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to — HE & AJfEE FT 7 48 2 5 25
profit or loss: ZHEE
Currency translation differences PE X =% (1,147,803) (56,266)
Share of exchange differences of associates DIGEEE A RE N E58 (83,519) (430)
(1,231,322) (56,696)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to A& T & & # 7 48 2 18 25
profit or loss: ZHEE
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair FREMEERZIEALE
value through other comprehensive income ATECUBEEBMGME
Ezs/(EBE) 99,102 (110,626)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AFEEEMEES H (1,132,220) (167,322)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for HAEERBEL2E(ZH)
the year PN L (512,613) 268,607
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for AEERXE(ZH) WA EEHE
the year attributable to: B
Equity holders of the Company RARIREREA (602,190) 300,895
Non-controlling interests JE 1 A% A% BRORE 89,577 (32,288)
(512,613) 268,607
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBIKIAR

As at 31 December 2015 R=-ZF—AF+=-HA=+—H

2015 2014
—E-AFE ZZZT—NF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 FTHET FE T
ASSETS =83
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BEREE 14 129,353 150,785
Investment properties KEYE 15 1,599,234 1,387,079
Goodwill EES 16 9,483 10,073
Interests in associates REE RN 2D 18(a) 1,352,198 1,419,275
Financial assets at fair value through other BBEMEEWFIE AL E
comprehensive income FrECHBEE 22 610,745 511,643
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE 28 395,354 226,694
4,096,367 3,705,549
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 19 20,720,464 20,059,392
Amounts due from customers for contract EWEFPZAHTIERIE
work 20 433,277 366,651
Prepayments, trade and other receivables — FE{TFIA « & 5 K E b fE UL
FIE 21 3,404,857 3,315,265
Cash and bank deposits, restricted XRHIR e MFETER 23 293,551 488,315
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted NZRFIIR S RIRITFER 24 10,672,861 5,240,461
35,525,010 29,470,084
Total assets BE®EHE 39,621,377 33,175,633
EQUITY HEx
Share capital % 25 25 334,428 334,051
Reserves B 26 7,022,793 7,668,732
Equity attributable to equity holders of ZATREFHFABIEZELS
the Company 7,357,221 8,002,783
Non-controlling interests IR ERER 4,289,672 4,017,680
Total equity R 11,646,893 12,020,463
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBIRAR

As at 31 December 2015 R=-ZF—a#+=H=4+—H

2015 2014
—E—-AF —T—DNF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 T# T FHB T
LIABILITIES Bf&
Non-current liabilities ERISERE
Borrowings B & 27 8,126,450 11,524,591
Deferred tax liabilities FEER B EE 28 96,126 121,062
Other liabilities HEmEE 386 386
8,222,962 11,646,039
Current liabilities RENEE
Borrowings & 27 4,452,038 116,882
Trade and other payables B 5 & H M ROIR 29 5,230,077 5,163,088
Deferred revenue IR Y7 A 30 9,705,417 3,857,972
Taxation payable FEAST 7 IR 363,990 371,189
19,751,522 9,509,131
Total liabilities BREEHRE 27,974,484 21,155,170
Total equity and liabilities EXZRBEESR 39,621,377 33,175,633
Net current assets RENE EFE 15,773,488 19,960,953
Total assets less current liabilities EEEFERRHERE 19,869,855 23,666,502

The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 199 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 18
March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

He Jianbo {d &l i
DIRECTOR &=

He Xiaoli fa/NEE
DIRECTOR &=
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE_—F—AF 1+ -HA=1+—HIFZF

Attributable to equity holders
of the Company

EATRERFANEN
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves Total interest equity
IR R WS
i & & HEE i Fk )
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T F& T FAET F#& T FH& T
(Note 26)
(Pff 5 26)
As at 1 January 2014 R-—ZE—Mm&E—H—H 333,785 7,403,746 7,737,531 3,606,661 11,344,192
Profit for the year 1A Y4 A — 425,171 425,171 10,758 435,929
Other comprehensive expense for the year & P E {th 2 M =X — (124,276)  (124,276) (43,046) (167,322)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) AEERBEEE
for the year, net of tax WA (BX) %8 — 300,895 300,895 (32,288) 268,607
Issue of shares BT D 266 930 1,196 — 1,196
Contributions from non-controlling EEBBREZEE
shareholders — — — 443,307 443,307
Employee share option benefits EERERKRERT — 13,229 13,229 — 13,229
Dividends paid to shareholders of the MR AR R Z A
Company 2 % B — (50,068) (50,068) — (50,068)
266 (35,909) (35,643) 443,307 407,664
As at 31 December 2014 R-T—MF
+=—A=+—H 334,051 7,668,732 8,002,783 4,017,680 12,020,463
Profit for the year F N F — 278,156 278,156 341,451 619,607
Other comprehensive expense for the year 4 R E {th 2 M B 2 —  (880,346) (880,346)  (251,874) (1,132,220)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AEERBEEZE
for the year, net of tax (AX) /R A #85 — (602,190)  (602,190) 89,577 (512,613)
Issue of shares BITIRG 377 1,319 1,696 — 1,696
Contributions from non-controlling FIERBREZTE
shareholders — — — 265,949 265,949
Employee share option benefits EERBRERT — 5,094 5,094 — 5,094
Dividends paid to shareholders ERANNG 8- )
of the Company 2R E — (50,162)  (50,162) — (50,162)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling mM—RXMBAF—%
shareholder of a subsidiary FEERBESZN 2
@) — — — (83,534) (83,534)
377 (43,749) (43,372) 182,415 139,043
As at 31 December 2015 RZT—HF
+=-—A=+—H 334,428 7,022,793 7,357,221 4,289,672 11,646,893
AWMERERAR —T-—REFH | 7




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

%l?- = EE%IJILE%

For the year ended 31 December 2015 # 2 =% —

BEFZASt—ALFE

2015 2014
—F—hfF —
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B = THET FAT
Operating activities HEED
Cash generated from/(used in) operations REXBES(FTA)
Re 32 6,504,731 (1,369,274)
Income tax paid ENFEH (762,047) (549,722)
Interest paid BRI A (510,609) (524,550)
Net cash generated from/(used in) B EEBRELE (A
operating activities IN&EFEEE 5,232,075  (2,443,546)
Investing activities BEEH
Addition of investment properties ANEREME (1,816) (27)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME WE
& (5.427) (7,517)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and HEYWE - B E
equipment N 3% 8 P18 3R 452 35,056
Loans to non-controlling shareholders EKJK%WEQTZ
of subsidiaries IE 72 {% f% 3R (1,052,757) (26,100)
Repayment from a non-controlling MEBAR—BIFEBRBR
shareholder of a subsidiary B 26,100 —
Investment in an associate R—REERNG 2K E — (382,696)
Interest received B F B 162,809 78,858
Net cash used in investing activities BRETHFMARSEHE (870,639) (302,426)
Financing activities MEEH
Net proceeds from issue of shares BT MDATERIEF 5 1,696 1,196
Contributions from non-controlling FEERBR 2 EE
shareholders 265,949 443,307
New borrowings g B 1,235,320 1,994,213
Repayment of borrowings EBERENR (298,305) (504,518)
Dividends paid to the shareholders &S F AR R B R
of the Company i) @< (50,162) (50,068)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling R F — KW B R A
shareholder of a subsidiary —HIEERRER 2R E (83,534) =
Net cash generated from financing RETHFRERETHE
activities 1,070,964 1,884,130
Increase/(decrease) in cash and B, CrA)IRE &
cash equivalents HeZEEY 5,432,400 (861,842)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUHRekBeEEY
of year 5,240,461 6,102,303
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FR72EeRRSEZEEY 24 10,672,861 5,240,461
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE_—F—AF 1+ -HA=1+—HIFZF

GENERAL INFORMATION

Minmetals Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) is principally engaged in real estate
development, specialised construction, property investment and
securities investment. Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (other than Hong Kong) (the “PRC") are the major markets
for the Group’s businesses.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding
company is June Glory International Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate holding company is China
Minmetals Corporation (incorporated in the PRC).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"” or “HK dollar(s)”), unless otherwise stated,
which is also the functional currency of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

82

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting amounts reported and/
or disclosures in the consolidated financial statements

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

Amendments to HKAS 19  Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2011-2013 Cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2015
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments to

Amendments to

Amendments to

and HKAS 38

Amendments to

Amendments to

and HKAS 41

Amendments to

Amendments to
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

HKFRS 11

HKAS 1

HKAS 16

HKFRSs

HKAS 16

HKAS 27

HKFRS 10

Financial Instruments*

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers'

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations?

Disclosure Initiative?

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle?

Agriculture: Bearer Plants?

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception?

MEIREBITNEEMBRSE
ER([EEMBREEDBE

R (&)

EFMmEREKRERZHITRERE
sl B EME R EEA

7% g (B30 4% 47 2 8 A DA TS S AR 6 18 14 oK 4
B2 B RAEERT BB IR

BEAVBHRELE
Al 55955
BRMBHRELE
Bl 251555
BRI HRELE

A ENE 2 &
H
BEAGTEAUE
158 215 37]
BEAGHEE
R RBEBE
ST R 385%
Z1EET
BEAVBHREE
Bl 2 & 5T

BERGTEAE
16 REEE
TR 4158
21T

BEREGTEAE
275% Z A& F]

BREMBHRELE
BIZE105E &
BEFTEAE
285% 2 & 5]

BAREMBHRELE
BIZE105% - &
5 B 15 R 2
AIZE125R R &
BEEEAE
2857 Z & E]

AEERBERAA

TR T A
BEPAKHBA
WEBAET 2 Em

gaHR?

% B B

FEREH 2RSS,
* 2 B

BAMBHRELEN =T
——FE-_T—OF
2 F B2

BE EEMEY?

B SR 2

25 %2
1RE H A AT K
ABATMZEEH
CERS

REER

{5 5h2

‘ERA B

—T-AFEFEHR | 83
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

f Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, except

for the 2010 version of HKFRS 9, which the Group early adopted on 1
January 2011

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

One of the key requirements of HKFRS 9 that are applicable to
the Group is in relation to the impairment of financial assets.
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

The directors of the Group (the “Directors”) are of the view
that the expected credit loss model may result in early provision
of credit losses which are not yet incurred for the Group's
financial assets measured at amortised costs. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect from
using an expected credit loss model until a detailed review has
been completed.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective. The core principle of HKFRS 15 is
that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer
of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for goods or services. Specifically, the
standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation
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86

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when control of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

The Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the
future may affect the amounts reported and related disclosures.
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate
of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed
review.

Other than described above, the Directors anticipate that the
application of other new and revised HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) regarding preparation of accounts and directors’
reports and audits became effective for the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015. Further, the disclosure
requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding annual
accounts have been amended with reference to the new CO
and to streamline with HKFRSs. Accordingly the presentation and
disclosure of information in the consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 have been
changed to comply with these new requirements. Comparative
information in respect of the financial year ended 31 December
2014 are presented or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements based on the new requirements. Information
previously required to be disclosed under the predecessor CO or
Listing Rules but not under the new CO or amended Listing Rules
are not disclosed in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the fair value of
investment properties and financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, which are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

3.

FEEFBRE)

MBERARAGO(F622E)EHKRAR
HNEEERERERZIBEXCRART
HE-_ZT-—AF+-_A=+—BHILEVEKF
B - o EHRAAEHEBEFER
Bz HBEREC2RARAURIET I IZ
FEPBHRELAGE - Bt - BE=-F
—RFtT-A=t—"BUEMBFEZEA
MBBRRZBEIBBEENCDBRZE
MRTEE -HE_T—NF+-A=T
—BLEMBREFEZLEBRENECEFTRE
REAMBHRREIHNHTE - RATRE
A2 B {6k B 5k £ AR B (1 2F %7 2 3 {6k )
BT EMHR R EZERL ER
AEGAVBHRRIE -

mUEE
GANBREDRBE LN AERE - B
ERREANEZAABEREBRILEE
WEBEAREG B BAERNERE
ME AR TR RRFMBIER AR
B E -

FE SR B AN B R 1R R E an R IR 7 P A R
Bz2oREE-

EWERAMAR —T—HFFEHK | 87



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Basis of preparation (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in

HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as below:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can

access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 5.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

3.

FEEFBRE)

mREEE)

RUFCBAMBRELNZABRE
ERERETRR G E - FERER
FBE MR AN B 2 & B B R U -
9 K 8 S ) B e A I o R AR A
HEANBRREEZEBBERMES -

ARGREZEEEMBERRZIEIESS
BEREIIMNT » FRIFEXBEHA - ZFHE
FEERNRZINABEFE -

&&iRE

e M RRBIEARE RARFEH A
ER(BREBRER)NENBATNME
Hx o  EARRAREEN TR AIFE
12 I 4

e HEHEKRESITEEN:

s H2HEKREFTEBAGSHAER
HEEERKEGHEN K

s FARNEMHEBENZEHER -
HWAEZEENMBRBETR Ll = HEHER

ER-HAFRNLLRES  AEEEEN
AEEREEWRE T A -

EWMERABAR —T—AFEFER | 89



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 # 2 =%

90

—AFT-A=1—HIEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of the
subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributable to the equity holder of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributable to the equity holder of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to ensure conformity with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions — that is,
as transactions with the equity holders in their capacity as equity
holders. The difference between fair value of any consideration
paid or received and the relevant share of the carrying value of
net assets of the subsidiary adjusted is recorded in equity and
attributed to equity holders of the Company.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interests and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on the initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Associates (Continued)

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. When the Group'’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investments in associates. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Associates (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the
retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS
9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value on
the date it lost significant influence over the investee and the
fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate
at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of such interest (or partial interest) in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to the associate on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by the associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the Group lost
significant influence or joint control over the investee.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group
(such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of respective entities of the Group using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

—  Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings; and

—  Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of
the reporting period;

— income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss
are translated at average exchange rates (unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised in

other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity

(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, attributable
to non-controlling interests as appropriate. Such exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
the foreign operation is disposed of.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal of associates
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange
differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive

income.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-
added tax and discounts and after eliminating sales within the

Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the Group and specific criteria have been met for

each of the Group's activities as described below.

Sales of completed properties

Revenue from sale of completed properties is recognised when
the properties are delivered and titles are transferred, at which

time all the following additional conditions are satisfied:

o The Group has transferred to the purchasers the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.

o The Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold.

o The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received on properties sold prior to
meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are recognised

as deferred revenue under current liabilities.

Contract revenue

The accounting policy for contract revenue recognition is set out

under construction contracts.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Management fee income

Management fee income is recognised when services are
provided.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment
is established.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Operating leases

Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. In the event that lease
incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such
incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a
straight-line basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant
and equipment.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
the related costs as expenses for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in the profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest becomes
available for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land
classified as finance lease and depreciation on other assets is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost to the
residual values over the estimated useful lives with annual rates

as follows:

2%-5%
Over the remaining period

Leasehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvements

of the lease
Machinery 5%-25%
15%-25%
20%-30%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties, comprise land held under operating leases
and buildings, are held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both, and are not occupied by the companies comprising the
Group.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
related transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are carried at fair value. Gains and losses
arising from fair value changes on investment properties are

included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties (Continued)

Property that is being constructed or developed for future use
as investment property is carried at fair value. Where fair value
is not reliably measurable, such investment property under
construction is measured at cost until the fair value becomes
reliably measurable or construction is completed (whichever is
earlier). Investment properties that are being redeveloped for
continuing use as investment properties continue to be measured
at fair value.

Subsequent expenditure is included in the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair and
maintenance costs are expensed in the profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied as evidenced
by commencement of owner-occupation, it is reclassified as
property, plant and equipment, and its fair value at the date of

transfer becomes its deemed cost for accounting purposes.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has been changed as
evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any differences between
the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date
of transfer is recognised in equity as a revaluation of property,
plant and equipment in accordance with HKAS 16 Property,
Plant and Equipment. However, to the extent that a fair value
gain reverses a previous impairment loss for that property, the
gain is recognised in the profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from the disposals.
Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises from the acquisition of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree (if any)
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment, if any.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest
level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the
unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable

amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: those to be measured subsequently at fair value,
and those to be measured at amortised cost. Regular purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on
the trade date basis, the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant periods. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

A debt investment is classified as financial assets at amortised
cost only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective
of the Group’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the
contractual cash flows; and the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding. The nature of any
derivatives embedded in the debt investment are considered in
determining whether the cash flows of the investment are solely
payment of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
and are not accounted for separately. The Group’s financial
assets at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables
and cash and bank deposits in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost is recognised in profit or loss when
the financial asset is derecognised or impaired.

The Group is required to reclassify all affected debt investments
when and only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Equity investments

All equity investments are measured at fair value. Equity
investments that are held for trading are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. For all other equity investments, the
Group can make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to
recognise changes in fair value through other comprehensive
income rather than profit or loss. The Group’s equity
investments comprise financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments (Continued)

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has irrevocably elected
to present unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent recycling of fair value gains and losses to profit or
loss. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised
in profit or loss as long as they represent a return on investment.

Impairment of financial assets

For financial assets at amortised cost, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets
measured at amortised cost is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. For certain categories of financial assets, such as
trade and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment
on a collective basis.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter into bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation, and where observable data
indicate that there is decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate

with defaults.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The amount of impairment loss is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When a trade and other receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credit to profit of loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including borrowings and trade and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is recognised on
an effective interest basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories represent properties under development and

completed properties held for sales.

Properties under development and completed properties held for
sales are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Development cost of properties comprises cost of land use
rights, construction costs and borrowing costs incurred during
the construction period.

Net realisable value takes into account the price ultimately
expected to be realised, less applicable variable selling expenses
and the anticipated costs to completion.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond normal

operating cycle.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, the Group uses the “percentage of completion method”
to determine the appropriate amount to be recognised in a
given period. The stage of completion is measured by reference
to cost incurred to date as a percentage of total contract cost.
Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are
included to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably
and its receipt is considered probable.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent
of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.
Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period when
incurred. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

The Group presents as an asset the gross amounts due from
customers for contract work for all contracts in progress for
which costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised
losses) exceed progress billings. Progress billings not yet paid by
customers and retentions are included within trade and other
receivables.

The Group presents as a liability the gross amounts due to
customers for contract work for all contracts in progress for
which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised
profits (less recognised losses).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held
at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the
tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the Group's consolidated financial statements.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected

to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting periods and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is
settled.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting periods, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model in accordance with HKAS 40
Investment Property, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.
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112

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity
leaves are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies participate in various defined contribution
pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions and are reduced
by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based compensation
plan. The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense in the profit or loss. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted at the grant date. The total amount
expensed is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied and based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
employee share-based compensation reserve.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium when the options are exercised.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also
be a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot

be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the Group's financial statements unless the possibility of
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

4. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT
(a) Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash
flow interest-rate risk, fair value interest-rate risk and
equity securities price risk for financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income), credit risk and
liquidity risk. These risks are managed by the Group's
financial management policies and practices as described
below to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s

financial performance.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations. Majority of the
subsidiaries of the Group operates in the PRC, with
most of their transactions denominated in Renminbi
("RMB"), functional currency of the respective group
entities. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from the exposure of RMB against United
State dollars (“US$”). It has not hedged its foreign
exchange rate risk.

In addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the exchange rate, and
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

At 31 December 2015, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against US$ with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been HK$34,000 (2014: HK$34,000)
higher/lower mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is different from the
functional currency of the Group’s entities.

Cash flow interest-rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest-rate risk arises from
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on restricted and unrestricted bank deposits, loan
to/from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary
and borrowings issued at variable rates. Other than
the concentration of interest rate risk related to the
movements in Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
and the loan interest published by the People’s Bank
of China, the Group has no significant concentration
of interest rate risk.
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116

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk (Continued)
The Group maintains a close relationship and
communicates regularly with its finance providers
to explore financing alternatives to monitor and

mitigate interest-rate risk.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. No sensitivity analysis has been presented
for bank balances as the Directors consider that
the fluctuation in interest rates on bank balances is
minimal.

If interest rates on HK dollar-denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, (i) post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2015 would
be HK$14,649,000 (2014: HK$17,919,000) lower/
higher in respect of the finance cost charged to the
profit or loss; and (ii) properties under development
would be increased/decreased by approximately
HK$61,336,000 (2014: HK$47,946,000) for finance
cost capitalised into properties under development.

If interest rates on RMB-denominated borrowings
and loan from a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, (i) post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2015 would
be HK$627,000 (2014: HK$380,000) lower/higher in
respect of the finance cost charged to the profit or
loss; and (ii) properties under development would be
increased/decreased by approximately HK$5,828,000
(2014: HK$8,292,000) for finance cost capitalised
into properties under development.

Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2015

4.

MEEEEREREE(E)

(a)

B4 %5 b B 3% (4R)

(i)

i 45 i (&)
BEnEFNEEEE)
AEBEABEREERT
TYIRBEY L HIEE - AR
B R - AR RAREF RE

LA
()
PR

o

AT BN DT R ER R EH]
RFETETEMHNEERE
E - EERRBRBITHERT
KRB EM - Bt WEY
RITHERETNBRMEDT

MAB Tt B2 B R 2 F R
E#/THA100EE  MATE
HMEHEFTE  AOEE
—E-—AE+=-A=+—H81t
FEBBAABEZANZTB
B AN % R 2 BR B4 s ) FE R
/014,649,000 T (=
— PO £ : 17,919,0005% JT) : &
(iVEEAPY RN R4
61,336,000/ L (=& — Y4 :
47,946,000/ 7T) W E /& B 7% K
RAERE T RBAZERSY
% o

MAAREEEZEBERRHE
AR FEFE IR IR R A B 3R 2 Fi &
E#/THA00EE  mATE
HMEHEFTE  AOEE
—E-—RAF+-_A=F+—HIHF
ERMBTABRAZHBERAR
TR 2 BRI S T R 18
N627,000% L (=& — Y 4 -
380,000/ 7T) + R (i) EFA Y
% 15 38 R > 495,828,000
7 L (== — 4 4 : 8,292,000
78 70) W 1E A B IS B AR DA B AR
EFRBABERTYWE -



4.

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk (Continued)
If interest rates on loan to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary had been 100 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit would be
increased/decreased by approximately HK$7,896,000

(2014: nil) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Fair value interest-rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to fixed deposits placed in a fellow
subsidiary and other borrowings issued at fixed rate.
The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.
However, the management will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need

arise.

Equity securities price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because of investments held by the Group and
carried at fair value on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group’s equity securities price
risk is concentrated on equity instruments operating
in property development industry sector quoted in
the Stock Exchange. The Group will consider hedging
the risk exposure should the need arise.

If the market value of the equity securities held
by the Group increased or decreased by 10% and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
equity would increase or decrease by approximately
HK$61,075,000 (2014: HK$51,164,000) as at 31
December 2015.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk
The Group's credit risk primarily arises from deposits
with banks,
guarantees provided in respect of mortgage facilities
(Note 33).

trade and other receivables and

The credit risk on deposits with banks is limited
because the counterparties are banks with sound
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. In respect of trade and other receivables,
individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s financial position, past history of making
payments and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers. Monitoring procedures
have been implemented to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade and other receivables at the end of
the reporting period to ensure adequate provision
for impairment losses are made for irrecoverable

amounts.

The Group has arranged bank financing for
certain purchasers of property units and provided
guarantees to secure obligations of such purchasers
for repayments. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of its mortgage during the term of the
guarantee, the Group is able to retain the property
sales proceeds received from the purchasers and sell
the property to recover any amounts paid by the
Group to the bank. The management considers the
credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided
to property purchasers is limited because the facilities
are secured by the properties and the market price
of the properties is higher than the guaranteed
amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

118 Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2015

4.

MEEEEREREE(E)

(a)

MEEEER(E)

(i) 15EHEE
AEBEZEERBREZREIR
TER B5 K EMERFIE

AR B EERME ZER
(Pft5£33) o

EHERTHERZEERRBIESR
R -REARXSHHARBE

REENAMERTEREER
a%ﬁ&zﬁﬁﬁ o LB 5Kk H M fE
WRIEmMS FEHMERP
ETERNEENMN  ZEF
BEIRBEPZHMBARR - B
TERTHE  UEREFP 2R
TE & BFA K B 5 B A 5 T AR
BZIEEIRE - —RME - A
SETgREFPISEMER
e AEEDEMEZEET
T (R ERER IR 2 17 Eh Yz B8 2R 1
% oo Bboh  REBRREHL
A& S ERE S & H M FE
KRIE 2 RE SR - ARERE
T AJ U Bl & B8 1E R 49 R (B /&S
BEE -

AEEERETHEREMCZE
RRHRITRE  YHERZ
BEBRGREMAER - WERE
ERBARERIZBMAR - BIA
SERBEEPEIZME
HEMRB/HE  AEWELE
NEEAREERENTRITZE
BoBME  AKERRBE
ERREE EEERAME
EERENMBERNEER

AR ARBHEMETIRY
XER BEBMENTES
RERTE - RHBER/AE
SENEERBRE AR -



4.

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk on loans
to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries,
but the exposure is considered limited as the

counterparties are at a good financial position.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk on trade and other receivables, with exposure
spread over a number of customers.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks, which
are mainly State-owned banks and with high credit
ratings in the PRC, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Prudent
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of

liquidity risk management implies
funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities. Management aims to maintain flexibility
in funding by keeping credit lines available.
Management monitors the rolling forecasts of
the Group’s liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn
borrowing facilities (Note 27(a)) and cash and bank
balances (Note 24) on the basis of expected cash

flow.
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— —
4. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT 4. MBRBERREE(E)
(CONTINUED)
—
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a MBRMRERE(E)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iii) HEE 2 ()
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TRETAEE 2 1R #HK
liabilities at amortised cost into relevant maturity RAARZHMBAR  RRAR
groupings based on the remaining period at the end HFHREZENINHAFER 2
of the reporting period to the contractual maturity TERA B HAAB R DA o Rk AT 4R
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the EeBAGHREEReRE
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including both (BEANERAER) - MH SR
principal and interest). To the extent that interest BEBE - BIRBIRS RIS
flows are variable-rate, the undiscounted amount WMEBHRZAMESH -
is derived from interest rate at the end of each
reporting period.
Weighted Between Between Total
average Within 1 and 2 and Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
MEEY KUERF L
{3k —%£RK -EZME WERE EENE hEEHE MREE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET AT AT AT FEL FEL
As at 31 December R-ZF-32%
2015 +=A=+-8
Borrowings (RS 3.69% 4,876,983 1,123,898 6,577,898 983,151 13,561,930 12,578,488
Trade and other payables B 5 R HfhfE R — 3,820,363 — — — 3,820,363 3,820,363
Amounts due to non-controlling  FE I B 2B R KRR B
shareholders of subsidiaries — 154,822 — — — 154,822 154,822
Amounts due to associates B2 AR R — 1,235,113 — — — 1,235,113 1,235,113
Financial guarantee contracts BBERAH — 7,742,351 — — — 7,742,351 =
17,829,632 1123898 6,577,898 983,151 26,514,579 17,788,786
As at 31 December 2014 R-F-mE+=A=+-8
Borrowings {53 3.88% 570,568 5024912 6575455 1,169,533 13,340,468 11,641,473
Trade and other payables BHREMEMNTE —  3,083,29% — — — 3,083,296 3,083,296
Amounts due to non-controlling & ff /& 2 A1 3k 1%l AR %R 3R B
shareholders of subsidiaries — 664,715 — — — 664,715 664,715
Amounts due to associates FEHB & AR SR — 1,396,553 — — — 1,396,553 1,396,553
Financial guarantee contracts BHBEREH — 3,750,800 — — = 3,750,800 =
9465932 5024912 6575455 1,169,533 22,235,832 16,786,037
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount
is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more likely
than not that no amount will be payable under
the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which
is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined
at the end of the reporting period.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The total equity and borrowings of the Group represents
the capital structure of the Group. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position) less cash and bank deposits.
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4.

122

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Capital risk management (Continued)
The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were

HHEEBRERERERE)

(b)

EFEMERER
RZF-—AFR-F-HF+ZA=

as follows: T—BZERBBELLENAT:
2015 2014
—EF—hFE —ZT—MNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Total borrowings ER ek 12,578,488 11,641,473
Less: Cash and bank deposits W R e RIRITIF N (10,966,412) (5,728,776)
Net debt BERFRR 1,612,076 5,912,697
Total equity T 5 B ER 11,646,893 12,020,463
Gearing ratio BERBRAELE 14% 49%

Fair value estimation (c) AR{EMET

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of

financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised costs approximate their fair values. The fair
values are estimated using generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flows.

The financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income represent equity securities listed in
Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2015, equity securities
amounting to HK$610,745,000 (2014: HK$511,643,000)
are measured at fair value and based on quoted market
prices of an active market (Level 1) at the end of the

reporting period.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Critical accounting judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties located in Hong Kong are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring the
Group's deferred taxation on investment properties located in
Hong Kong, the Directors have determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties located in
Hong Kong are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted.
As a result, the Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on
changes in fair value of investment properties located in Hong
Kong as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on the
fair value changes of the investment properties on disposal.

With regards to the Group’s investment properties located
in Mainland China, the Directors considered that they are
held under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in these
investment properties over time. Therefore, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Mainland China are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the
Group's investment properties located in Mainland China on the
basis that the entire carrying amounts of these properties are
recovered through use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
Key estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing uncertainty to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities are discussed below:

Investment properties

Independent valuers were engaged to carry out an independent
valuation of the Group's investment property portfolio as at 31
December 2015. The fair value of each investment property is
individually determined at the end of the reporting period based
on market value assessment, on an existing use basis. The valuers
have relied on the income capitalisation approach as its primary
method, supported by the direct comparison method. These
methodologies are based on the estimation of future results
and a set of assumptions specific to each property to reflect
its tenancy and cashflow profile. Changes to these assumptions
would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss would be recognised in profit or loss.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31
December 2015 were approximately HK$1,599,234,000 (31
December 2014: HK$1,387,079,000). More details are set out in

Note 15.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
Note 3. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined
based on value in use calculations. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment
loss may arise.

If the estimated discount rate applied to the discounted
cash flows for the Group’s CGUs had been 1% higher than
management’s estimates or no growth rate had been applied
to the revenue, the Group would not recognise any impairment
against goodwill for the year (2014: Nil).

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of goodwill was
HK$9,483,000 (31 December 2014: HK$10,073,000). Further
details are given in Note 16.

Construction contracts

The Group recognised profits and losses from construction
contracts, which were derived from the latest available
budgets of the construction contracts with reference to the
overall performance of each construction contract and the
management’'s best estimates and judgments. Estimated
construction income is determined in accordance with the
terms set out in the relevant contracts. Estimated construction
costs which mainly comprise sub-contracting charges and
costs of materials are estimated by the management on the
basis of quotations from time to time provided by the major
contractors/suppliers/vendors involved and the experience of the
management. Because of the nature of the construction industry,
the management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts
and the estimated construction income and costs.

When the actual costs incurred are significantly more or less than
expected, or changes in circumstances which result in revision of
management’s estimates on the percentage of completion, the
effect of such change is recognised prospectively in the profit
or loss in the period of the change.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred taxes

As at 31 December 2015, deferred tax assets of
HK$395,354,000 (2014: HK$226,694,000) have been recognised
in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
as set out in Note 28. The realisability of the deferred tax
assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or
taxable temporary differences will be available in the future.
The Directors determine the profit projections of the Group for
coming years during which the deferred tax assets are expected
to be utilised. In cases where the actual future profits generated
are more or less than expected, an additional recognition or
a reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a

recognition or reversal takes place.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

In determining whether there is objective evidence on
impairment loss of trade and other receivables, the management
considers the estimation of future cash flows to be recovered
from these receivables. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each debtor. The amount of the impairment of
receivables is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flow. When the actual future cash flows are less than

expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables was HK$2,045,988,000 (31 December 2014:

HK$1,063,607,000). Further details are given in Note 21.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

Revenue (represents turnover) comprised the following:

W A R 53 &8 5 £
WA (B4 % %) B ATEE

2015 2014
“¥-afF _—TWmHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET

Sales of properties MEHEE
Revenue from specialised construction BEBRESHOWA
contracts

6,501,484 4,844,750

Rental and management fee income from HEWEZHEREEEW A

investment properties

Operating segments

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the
executive directors. The executive directors review the Group’s
internal financial reports in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. The executive directors have determined the
operating segments based on these reports as follows:

Real estate Development and sales of residential and
development: commercial properties
Specialised Design, installation and selling of curtain walls
construction: and aluminum windows, doors and other
materials
Property Holding of properties to generate rental
investment: income and/or to gain from the appreciation

in properties’ values in the long-term

Securities Investment of securities
investment:

No operating segments identified by the executive directors have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.

681,881 1,071,319
69,901 67,565
7,253,266 5,983,634
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. WA RS EEE ()

Operating segments (Continued) BERE(E)
Segment revenue and results DEBMAREE
Real estate
development Specialised construction  Property investment  Securities investment Total
BEREXR BRRE NERE HHRE ag
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Z§-%% ~T-N% “¥-Ef “3-NF -$-Ef “3-WF ¥-EF “T-NF “¥-EF “T-0F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
FHL  TER  FER TR  TER AR FER  TER TR Tan

Revenue BA

Total segment revenue 2HHRA 6501488 4844750 787553 1073189 72261 69913 - - 7361298 608785

Inter-segment revenue SBERA - - (05672) (101870 (2360)  (2,349) - - (108032)  (104218)
Sales to external customers HHEPHE 6501488 4844750 681881 1071319 69,901 67565 - - 7253266 5983634
Results E4-

Segment resuts GEEL 953737 587819 2651 57122 259462 217360 26478 21884 1242328 884185
Unallocated corporate RAAECERS

expenses, net FE (190,667)  (192,961)

1051661 691,224

Finance income HBRA 162809 78,858
Finance costs B B AR (57,511)  (65,845)
Share of results of associates PEBENTER 16,442 183,936
Profit before tax Bt A0 A 1173,401 888,173
The accounting policies of the reportable and operating KED B ST BRI A3 A A S
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies EestBR—H  nBEEESHIE
described in Note 3. Segment result represents the profit before WRESEPERSE - MBEA - BBKAR
taxation without allocation of unallocated corporate expenses, RAMEE RRIEENTATAE o
finance income, finance costs and share of results of associates.
Inter-segment revenue are charged at prevailing market rates. DEZ EHIWM A TIIRBITH S ERETE o
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.

Operating segments (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

Real estate
development Specialised construction
BEREXR Y

2015 2014 2015 2014

Z%-1f “2-PF -¥-1F _T-QF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEX AT TER  TiEn

lISI)\Zi‘ﬁ“BE'* (&)

BESEB(E)
THEEREE
Property investment  Securities investment Total
LES§ E5RE £
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

—¥-3f “T-mF “¥-Rf “T-MF -¥-RE “T-MF
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000

TEx Tz FER  TER  TER  TER

1,610,324 1,409,257 610,745 511,643 35,918,702 30,685,189

Assets BE

Segment assets PHEE 32,478,365 27475652 1,219,268 1,288,637
Unallocated corporate assets RORGEEE

Total assets EEAE

Liabilities B

Segment liabilties HHERE 26,250,493 19288201 768,689 938,689

3,702,675 2,490,444

39,621,377 33,175,633

24,040 21,110 - — 27,043,222 20,248,000

Unallocated corporate liabilities ~ KA EL£&E

Total liabilities REHRE

Segment assets consist primarily of interests in associates,
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, goodwill,
inventories, receivables and operating cash but exclude items
such as bank deposits for corporate use and deferred tax assets.
Segment liabilities comprise all operating liabilities but exclude
item such as taxation.

Finance income, finance costs and share of results of associates
are not included in the measure of segment results while
operating cash and interests in associates have been allocated
into the segment assets and borrowings have been allocated
into the segment liabilities.

931,262 907,170

27,974,484 21,155,170
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. WA RS EEE ()

Operating segments (Continued) BERE(E)

Other segment information Hfth 7 E8 & ¥
Real estate Specialised
development construction Property investment  Securities investment Segment total Unallocated Total
RUHERR LH E &R AHRE B4R 5B 4%

2015 014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 014
“%-1% “F-M% Z%-1f “F-B%F Z¥-1f "T-0F Z¥-1f "F-0F Z%-%1f C3-QBF C¥-%1F C3-MF C§-1f CR-MF
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKF000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T#n TEx FEx TExr  FEn  TEr  TEn  FExr TR T TR TEx  FER  TEn

Amounts included in the measure of segment  BEFANBBRAS BEE
profit or loss or segment assets:

Interets in associates HBEQF RS 135,198 1419275 - - - - - - 1352198 1419275 - - 1352198 1419275
Capital expenditures ERRR 366 a6 205 378 1880 30 - - 6 1 7% 13 154
Depreciation recognised in the consolidated REARERTERLNE

statement of profit of loss 4520 550 3645 3406 162 598 - - 86 9546 1305 247 99 1168
Fair value changes on investment properties RENENAERD = = = - 195563 160,085 = - 195563 160,085 - - 195563 160,085
Impairment loss of inventories FEREESR 71827 74,065 - - - - - - T8 74065 - - T8 4065
Impairment loss of trade and other recevables B HREMEKFAFEEE 15,845 1921 8,493 = = = = - U338 1,921 = - U338 1921
Geographical information ih & & R
The Group operates its businesses in two main geographical REBEHEBETEE DA M EH RS E
areas:

fIR q . £t - 5 . o
Hong Kong: Specialised construction, property investment BB BXRE MEEER
e ig¢ M dn
and securities investment Az %’? TX é
. . == . LY gazl

The PRC: Real estate development and specialised FE FHEZFRIFERERE

construction
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. WA RS EB&EFE (E)

Operating segments (Continued) BERE(E)
Geographical information (Continued) hEE R (E)
In presenting geographical information, sales are presented REFMBRERE  HEZ 2 NERER
based on the geographical locations of the customers. Total CHBUBEREE - FRDEETEE
non-current assets excluded financial instrument and deferred MR TEREERIEBEEE -
tax assets.

Hong Kong The PRC Total

&k thE Eok
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

—¥-%if -FT-NF -¥-EEf “T-0OF "¥-EE “T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT  TERX  FER TET  FEx  Tax

External sales HIMAE 245166 240,816 7,008,100  5742,818 7,253,266 5,983,634
Total non-current assets FREBEELTE 1,675,611 1,486,672 1,414,657 1,480,540 3,090,268 2,967,212
Information about major customer EETEEFZER

No revenue from transaction with single external customer is AREVTERE—FFRMEFEZBAR
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for both BR10% 3 A L -

years.
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7. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 7. AEERT
2015 2014
“E—-AF —ZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FET
Advertising and other promotional costs & T E th 4 E K AR 291,198 288,985
Cost of properties sold (note (i) B& W A AR (T 5% G) 5,034,087 3,786,437
Cost of specialised construction BEFERARN 615,406 959,388
Depreciation = 9,932 11,693
Auditor’s remuneration = B A B & 4,150 3,930
Direct out-goings arising from investment FHHESWBMAZIREMEZ
properties that generated rental income BEERX 12,386 11,058
Employee benefit expense (including EERNFAZ(BEEEHE)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 9) (K 5E9) 150,983 135,807
Legal and professional fees FENEEER 14,149 11,952
Operating lease charges — minimum lease 2EHAEEBH-G@ LKL
payment in respect of land and buildings BFz&EBEEMNK 29,744 31,567
Provision for impairment of trade B 5 & H b g K18
and other receivables B 24,338 1,921
Provision for impairment of inventories 5 &R (B EE 71,827 74,065
Net exchange loss P& W B 18 558 16,802 2,023
Note: &
0) Included in cost of properties sold are interest expenses of (i) B& ¥ 3 K AR 2 $5392,015,0008 7T (= F

HK$392,015,000 (2014: HK$224,098,000). — VU 4F : 224,098,000 0) 2 Fl B i ©
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OTHER GAINS, NET

8. Hithlrzs  FH#H

2015 2014
—E—RF —T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FAET
Government subsidies AT & B 17,614 2,537
Dividend income e B U 26,504 21,895
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE BER
plant and equipment = AE U = = 13,124
Others Hh 23,384 12,032
67,502 49,588
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 9. EEEFXZH
2015 2014
—T-AE C—T—MNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FH& T
Wages, salaries and bonus TE e RIELA 250,983 202,860
Provision for long service payment REIRTS © B — 319
Pension costs — defined contribution RIKE KA — FEREEHKETE
plans (Note 31) (M 3E31) 20,238 19,164
Share option benefits R R A 5,094 13,229
276,315 235,572
Less: amount capitalised as B AE AT A
properties under development BRTPYMEZEHE (45,596) (34,124)
Less: amount included in cost of sales W ETABEEN AN 2 5 (63,912) (53,214)
Less: amount included in advertising BT AR S R H M HE A AR A
and other promotional costs 2 & & (15,824) (12,427)
150,983 135,807
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 9. EE®RAIZHE)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEB2
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 BHE-_ZT—hF+_HA=+—HI#F
December 2015 is set out below: B SESZMSEHINBNT:
Employer’s
Salaries contribution Share
and Discretionary to pension option
Name of directors Fees allowances bonuses scheme  benefits Total
ek Bk E i %
EENE we p=4:11 BIE e AL B EHR =F W
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FTHET TERT FTET FTHET FTET FTET

Non-executive directors ERITEE

Mr. Sun Xiaomin RBER LA

(note (i) (B 3£ () — — — — 54 54
Mr. Zhang Yuanrong R ITER ST A&

(note (ii)) (PR 2 (i) = = = = = =
Mr. Tian Jingqi HREEE

(note (iii)) (B &£ (i) — — — — 47 47
Mr. Liu Zeping 281 F A&

(note (vi) (PR 3 (vi) — = = = 40 40
Executive directors BITESE
Mr. He Jianbo* o] 88 5% 55 A * — 3,434 900 129 80 4,543
Mr. Yin Liang FmkaE — 2,816 750 110 61 3,737
Ms. He Xiaoli Al N+ — 2,502 700 94 58 3,354
Independent non- BIAFHRITES

executive directors
Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel MBS &

(note (iv)) (Bf 7E (iv)) 175 — — — — 175
Mr. Selwyn Mar BRETE 360 — — — — 360
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria BEIRZ T 360 — — — — 360
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy R B S A

(note (v)) (B 5 (v) 117 — — — — 117

1,012 8,752 2,350 333 340 12,787
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9.

(a)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 9. EERFAZHE)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEME(E)
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 HE-_Z-—NFE+-_A=1+—HIHF
December 2014 is set out below: B ZEZFZMEeRIINT
Employer’s
contribution Share
Salaries and  Discretionary to pension option
Name of directors Fees  allowances bonuses scheme benefits Total
Fek BASEE B AR 4
Exga e p=3:1 B 15 TE AL RN =gl Pkl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FAT FHAT FAT FHET
Non-executive directors ERITES
Mr. Sun Xiaomin (note (i)) TR BE R St A (M EE3) — — — — 447 447
Mr. Tian Jingqi REEE
(note (iii)) (B &£ Gii)) — — — — 385 385
Mr. Liu Zeping 218k 4E — — — — 333 333
Executive directors BITES
Mr. He Jianbo* ] B 56 A * = 3,352 850 114 658 4,974
Mr. Yin Liang FokE — 2,755 600 97 499 3,951
Ms. He Xiaoli Al NEB &+ = 2,455 550 83 476 3,564
Independent non-executive BIIFEHITEE
directors
Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel wELE
(note (iv)) (B 3£ (iv) 350 — — — — 350
Mr. Selwyn Mar BRELEE 360 — — — — 360
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria BMERAZL 360 — — — — 360
1,070 8,562 2,000 294 2,798 14,724
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services as directors of the Company.
Discretionary bonuses were determined by the
management having regard to the performance of the

directors and the Group’s operating results.

During the year, no directors waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments (2014: Nil).

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
the directors as an inducement to join or as compensation
for loss of office (2014: Nil).

The executive director marked “*” above is also considered
as chief executive of the Group and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered by him
as the Chief Executive.

Notes:

(i) Resigned on 18 March 2015

(ii) Appointed on 18 March 2015
(iii) Resigned on 20 August 2015
(iv) Resigned on 11 June 2015

(v) Appointed on 1 September 2015

(vi) Re-designated as executive director on 18 March 2016
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9. EEEAZHIE)

(a)

EEME(R)
TRATEFHSEESREEHR
ARF RA LB E RER R MR
%0

LRFFRTESRBIUFERTES
MEeE2 P RBEEFREREARAESE -

HBETEAREREEMREFREAR

FAR - YEEETNEXAREREL
e (—T—ME: &)-

FRA -AEEBEBERATAEEXM
M ERBIMARNER 2 R K
ERBEREE(CT—HFE &)

B ZATESTRARAEH
ZITREE  EREXEENOME
BEREEETRARREHRRE D

o &E

(i) R-ZZ—RF=A+/\BEE
(if) R-ZE—RF=A+/\BEZEHE
iy MZBE-—RFNA_THEE
(ivy RZZE-—RFANA+—BEIE
(v) R-ZE-—AFNA—BEZE

Vi) RIZE-—RE=ZATN\BRERAT
=



9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(b)

Five highest-paid individuals

In 2015, five highest-paid individuals in the Group include

three (2014: three) directors. These directors’ emoluments

are disclosed in (a) above. Details of the emoluments of

the remaining two (2014: two) individuals are as follows:

9.

& & & 7 32 th (&%)

) ABZmESHMAL
RZZE—HF ASBERARSH M
ALHRBE=Z(ZE—NEF: =5)
AREEE - EEME N LEX@)E
T HBMA(CE—E W

BINEZMEFBERAT:
2015 2014
—E—RF —T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
Salaries and allowances Fa kR 3,186 4,327
Discretionary bonuses 15 12 AL 2,905 870
Employer’s contributions to RN FH 8B EH
pension schemes 54 138
Share option benefits B IR A 85 952
6,230 6,287
The emoluments fell within the following bands: M E T
2015 2014
—E—RF —T—NF
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T 1 —
HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000 3,000,0017% 7T & 3,500,000/ 7T — 2
HK$3,500,001-HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 JT £4,000,0007% 7T 1 —
2 2
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FA - AEEMERZZIATIMA

to these individuals as an inducement to join or as
compensation for loss of office (2014: Nil).

The emoluments of senior management are disclosed in

(@) and (b) above.

MEERBREIMARNEE 2 R K
ERBRABE(CT—HFE: &)

BEERABZMEER EX@R

(b) 7 5% -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

10. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 10. BA R WA BB K

2015 2014
—E—-AFE _—T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Finance income B 75 A
Interest income from bank deposits AT A B WA 148,600 77,833
Interest income from loans to non- L B B /28 2 B) FE 4% AR A% R
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries Bz A B A 14,209 1,025
162,809 78,858
Finance costs B 745 B 7R
Bank borrowings wholly repayable BARAFABEHEEREZ
within five years RITE N 333,418 295,236
Other borrowings wholly repayable BARAFATHEER 2
within five years Hih &R 114,176 166,213
Other borrowings not wholly repayable TERAFANBHEEZ
within five years EMER 63,015 63,101
510,609 524,550
Less: Amount capitalised as properties under & : A B AL R B A B Erh
development (note (i) 2 & & (M 5E3) (453,098) (458,705)
57,511 65,845
Note: Bt 7
(i) Borrowing costs were capitalised at rates ranging from 2.72% to 6.50% (i) BREARENEH272E650E (=T —N

(2014: 2.74% to 6.50%) per annum. F 2748650 ) FIAE R °
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group has no assessable
profit for the year or has sufficient tax losses brought forward to
offset current year’s assessable profit (2014: Nil). PRC enterprise
income tax has been calculated on the estimated assessable
profit for the year derived in the PRC at the rate of 25% (2014:
25%).

Land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being
the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including costs of land and development and construction
expenditures.

11. FiISBiAX

EH AR B B PA R 4F 2 N 4 FE R i I 3K
AT IE B 18 B LA SE R R B R A1+ At £
REFEMBERERARBBSFERIEL BE
(ZE2—WF &) - PRCEMBHR DA
RNEER B H B 2 5T B R  F#225%
TE—PF:25%) 2 TR R E o

T ERBRELHEAZEREILE
3 FT S SRIBINBR AT R X (B 18 £ i
KA BREBEEIH)NEZREB XH
30% £ 60% UL -

2015 2014

“F-EF _—T—@OF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FETT TET

Current tax — PRC BIHAf 18 —

Enterprise income tax TEMERH 595,599 278,668
Land appreciation tax + 3 IBE T 159,249 187,217
754,848 465,885

Deferred tax (Note 28) i 3E 56 18 (B 5528) (201,054) (13,641)
553,794 452,244
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11. FiRIHFEZ (&)
Tax charge on the Group's profit before tax differs from the REEFBRB AN 2B IER - B
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average BRARFEEER 2 a6 M2 inkEFH/Hx
tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as EMGEREBECERENT
follows:
2015 2014
—¥-AFE —T—MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH&ET FAT
Profit before tax B 52 A2 A 1,173,401 888,173
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates %2 3@ FA 7 A8 A B =5 A
applicable to profits in the ZEMBERFE
respective countries ZBIE 250,085 182,226
Land appreciation tax + Mo B E 159,249 187,217
Deferred tax on undistributed profits N1 | Dl i 1 42,877 23,945
Tax effect of land appreciation tax THIRER oG E (33,940) (38,411)
Tax effect of share of results of associates D IEEtE RREBZHBTE (4,111) (45,984)
Income not subject to tax HHEZRB WA (32,109) (34,990)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes A 1 2 2 101,179 89,612
Utilisation of previously A FAIARER
unrecognised tax losses % B 1A (848) (430)
Unrecognised tax losses RERBIBEE 50,812 89,059
Reversal of deferred tax asset arising from % [a] 2 [ fff /B A &) 7k &) F
expiry of unutilised tax loss of a PRC MEEEBRESE 2
subsidiary EEFIAE E 20,600 =
Tax charge #5118 X 553,794 452,244

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 21.3% (2014:
20.5%). The year-on-year change is primarily caused by a change
in the relative profitability of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
respective regions.
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12.

13.

EARNINGS PER SHARE — BASIC AND DILUTED 12. BIREF - BEXAREE
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BRERBNTRARNG RERB A BN
attributable to equity holders of the Company divided by the /ﬁnﬂfﬁfl%ilﬁﬁ?fﬂ AR 2 A Rk
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the HEE -
year.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted EREERA AR ET L AR ME
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume FHORBARBZERRA B BRESET
exercise of share options granted under the Company’s share &ﬁZﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfé WpER BT MR
option schemes. tE o
2015 2014
—T-EF — M F
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B %77 & i@ %
in issue (thousands shares) hn#E 55 B gk (A% 3,343,125 3,338,458
Adjustment for share options i M v 8 B
(thousands shares) (Fi) 2,815 5,471
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FRTEGFR#EEEF 2
for diluted earnings per share TR ME AR E
(thousands shares) (FB%) 3,345,940 3,343,929
Profit attributable to equity holders of the ~ AR AIXIEREH A
Company (HK$'000) FEAE & A (F A& 7T) 278,156 425,171
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BREARAEFR CEMWL) 8.32 12.74
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) R ERTR (BW) 8.31 12.71
DIVIDENDS 13. iR B
The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend EFERRNREARESR T ARR20
of HK2.0 cents (2014: HK1.5 cents) per ordinary share with BIW(ZZT—WF 158l HBEBA

total amount of HK$66,886,000 (2014: HK$50,108,000). Such
dividend is to be approved by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 27 May 2016.
These consolidated financial statements do not reflect this
dividend payable.

Final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2014
of HK1.5 cents per ordinary share totaling HK$50,162,000 (2014:
final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2013
of HK1.5 cents per ordinary share totaling HK$50,068,000) was

recognised as distribution during the year.

66,886,000/ 7T (=% — M4 : 50,108,000
ABIL) ZBREAFTRREARAIR T
—ANERAZFTERABTZERBEFKS
LB - BEREMBHREARA R
MRS -

REERERRBDEHE=_Z—
A=Z+—HLFEZREREFREBR
1.5l - 42%850,162,000/8 T * (== —M
F BE-_ZT—=F+=-A=+—HLHF
EzREKRESREBRISHENL - 2%
50,068,00078 7T) °

ME+=
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

1/

)

14. M%E - -BERRE

Movements in property, plant and equipment are as follows: ME BERREZEHNOT :
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and Motor
buildings improvements Machinery equipment vehicles Total
Eiih RE KRB
T RiEF HEMERE #Es Rk BHiF @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHET FHET FHxT FET FTAER
Year ended 31 December 2015 HEZE=-F— A F
+-HA=+—BLEEE
Opening net book amount F ¥R EFE 125,163 3,077 5,047 10,586 6,912 150,785
Exchange differences & W =58 (482) (88) (266) (510) (353) (1,699)
Additions NE 496 26 1,776 1,682 1,447 5,427
Transfer to investment properties & # Z= & & ¥ 3 (14,776) — — — — (14,776)
Disposals ik — = = (344) (108) (452)
Depreciation e (1,025) (1,221) (1,302) (3,990) (2,394) (9,932)
Closing net book amount FREREFE 109,376 1,794 5,255 7,424 5,504 129,353
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE—RAF+_A=+—H
Cost A A 115,981 9,357 11,716 26,166 19,177 182,397
Accumulated depreciation and 2 ERRE
impairment (6,605) (7,563) (6,461) (18,742) (13,673) (53,044)
Net book amount AR EOFE 109,376 1,794 5,255 7,424 5,504 129,353
Year ended 31 December 2014 BE_-F—[M %
+=ZA=+—HLEEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 112,590 3,440 5,344 11,504 8,336 141,214
Exchange differences MM =R (161) (8) 17) (42) (33) (261)
Additions NE — 1,040 692 3,294 2,491 7,517
Transfer from inventories BEERFE 27,758 — — — — 27,758
Transfer from investment EEREREME
properties 8,182 — — — — 8,182
Disposals HE (21,350) — (121) (54) (407) (21,932)
Depreciation e (1,856) (1,395) (851) (4116)  (3,475) (11,693)
Closing net book amount FREHEFE 125,163 3,077 5,047 10,586 6,912 150,785
At 31 December 2014 R-ZF—mFE+-_A=1+—H
Cost DN 130,758 9,588 10,658 27,937 19,252 198,193
Accumulated depreciation and 2 ERRE
impairment (5,595) (6,511) (5,611) (17,351) (12,340) (47,408)
Net book amount BREFE 125,163 3,077 5,047 10,586 6,912 150,785

Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2015




14.

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

At the end of both reporting periods, the Group’s buildings are
erected on land under medium-terms and long-terms in Hong
Kong and long-terms lease in the PRC respectively.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not pledge any land
and buildings as collaterals for bank borrowings (2014: Nil).

14.

M BERREGER)
RAERSHEE  AEERFHINE
BRTERBTHRRERRGEE L
i - B2 -

RZE-—REF+A=+—H ~5E#H
B PEBFLERERRITERZE
Hm(CT—mFE: &) -

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. EYE
2015 2014
—E-AF ZZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FE T
At beginning of the year F 7)) 1,387,079 1,235,149
Transfer from/(to) land and buildings EEE (2) L REF 14,776 (8,182)
Additions N1 1,816 27

Increase in fair value recognised in profit or R R R Z A 7 E 1 Hn

loss 195,563 160,085
At end of the year FR 1,599,234 1,387,079

As at 31
investment properties as collaterals for bank borrowings (2014:
Nil).

December 2015, the Group did not pledge any

The investment properties were fair valued at 31 December 2015
by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited, independent valuers.
The valuation for completed investment properties was arrived
at by considering the income capitalisation of the properties
or, where appropriate, by reference to market evidence of
transaction prices for similar properties in the same locations
and conditions as direct comparison.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

R-_ZE—RAF+-_A=+—"8 XEEH
EICEYECDERERBITER ZEF R
(ZZT—OF : 4) -

REWER-_T—AF+-_A=+t—BZ
N EBRBGEMERSTEENHE
RBERARENGE SRIREVED
BEDERNFE 2B BZEA 2 E R
BHBYEELERRE LHUNER
MERS  EREERLE -

EEFOE2AER
R&ERE -

ot

B REIRE K

=
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15.
Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

REME(E)
REEHEE  FEERENERDAE
BRARMT

Fair value as

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 at 31.12.2015

ARER

—E¥—1F

E— £ £g£=4 +t—A=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&EIT Fi#E&T F#&EIT F#&IT

In Hong Kong NREB — 36,999 1,552,400 1,589,399
In PRC 7 A R — — 9,835 9,835
Fair value as at

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31.12.2014

NPIREDN

—ZE—MFE

E— TR F=H% +t-—A=+—~1

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT TET BT BT

In Hong Kong LR E — 33,379 1,353,700 1,387,079

There were no transfers into or out of Levels 2 to 3 during both
years.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Levels 2 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements is observable.
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15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the consolidated
statement of
financial position
FEMBRART
ARERFAZR
5E7E

Fair value
hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) and
key input(s)

AREER HEHXFREAREAHE

Significant unobservable input(s)

EXTIBREZEBAYNE

Relationship of
unobservable inputs for
fair value

FTOREBANBAARE

2

15. IXAME (&)

Sensitivity

EQE

Property 1 in
Hong Kong
ECk/ES

Level 3
E=/

Direct comparison method and

income method

BEREBERRA L

The key inputs are:
BREABER:

2.

Reversionary yield; and
TS

Market unit rent of
individual unit
18R B85 B &

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income
and unit market value of the
comparable properties of 5%
(2014:5%).

EERRE ZRAELBNELF
EELTSREERARELTS
BEZ5% (ZF—M%F :5%)

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into
account of similar character,
location and sizes, from HK$39/
sq.ft/month to HK$100/sq.ft./
month (2014: from HK$35/sq.ft/
month to HK$90/sq.ft/month).

MHELHE FAEETSLERE
BYEZRAUSEE NERS
B mEABTHRIGETEI
BL(ZE-—NF:BABEAR
35BTEIETT) ©

The higher the reversionary
yield, the lower the fair
value

ERREELR
1&

DREH

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

mEENfeds AAE
[

ABEERBERR

If the reversionary yield to the valuation

model is 50 basis point higher/
lower while all the other variables
were held constant, the carrying

value of Property 1 would decrease

by approximately HK$68,600,000
and increase by approximately
HK$86,400,000 respectively.
MEEEX 2 EFRER EH /T
RSOEEE - K2 BRED
g AMEIZEREERETRS
7114168,600,0007% 7T [ 1 1 4y
86,400,000/ 7T ©

If the market unit rent to the valuation

model is 2.5% higher/lower, while
all the other variables were held
constant, the carrying value of
Property 1 would increase by
approximately HK$15,900,000
and decrease by approximately
HK$16,000,000 respectively.
MiEEEXOmBELAS LA/
TB2.5% - A2 BRET
2 AmEIMREESD A
A0#715,900,0007% 7T AA & T F& 49
16,000,000/ 7T °

A CT-REFR |

=
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

6

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the consolidated

Significant unobservable input(s)

EXTUBEEZBANE

Relationship of
unobservable inputs for
fair value

FTOREGARBAARE
2Bk

15. IXAME (&)

Sensitivity

EQE

statement of Fair value Valuation technique(s) and

financial position hierarchy  key input(s)

FEMBRARS

ARERFAZR

2E7E AREER FERFREAZEHANR

Property 2 in Level 3 Direct comparison method and
Hong Kong E=8 income method

NI BERLEERBAL

The key inputs are:
BRE A \gER:

1. Reversionary yield; and
1 EBKEE R

2. Market unit rent of
individual unit

2. BRELNTSEMEE

Other properties in Level 2 Direct comparison method
Hong Kong E-H based on market observable
EEBEMME transactions of similar

properties and adjust to
reflect the conditions and
locations of the subject
property.
BERLBEEREUDEZ
MSABER S U EHE
WA R MR 3 2 M R iz
Z
The key input is:
Market unit rent of
individual unit.
BREANBER:
BRI EhmmsEfEE
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Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income
and unit market value of the
comparable properties of 5%
(2014: 5%).

EHhEE ZEAENBRNEZE
EELTSRERARELTS
fBE25% (ZF—MF:5%) °

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into
account of similar character,
location and sizes from HK$20/
sq.ft./month to HK$40/sq.ft./month
(2014: from HK$20/sq.ft/month to
HK$34.5/5q.ft/month)

MBS RAEETSLERE
BYAZERAUSEE NERS
& mEAF TR0 TE
BL(ZE-—NF:BAGEAR
0BT EMSET) -

N/A
TER

The higher the reversionary
yield, the lower the fair
value

EENREAR  AAEM
1&

The higher the market unit
rent, the higher the fair
value

mEEUfeHs AAE
HE

N/A
TER

If the reversionary yield to the valuation
model is 50 basis point higher/
lower while all the other variables
were held constant, the carrying
value of Property 2 would decrease
by approximately HK$91,600,000
and increase by approximately,
HK$115,900,000 respectively.

MiEEEX 2 EERER EH /T
PESOMEEE - Afh2 8ike A
g Mz EEEHIBT
B 4791,600,0007% 7T B 3% 1 49
115,900,0007% 7T

If the market unit rent to the valuation
model is 2.5% higher/lower, while
all the other variables were held
constant, the carrying value of
Property 2 would increase by
approximately HK$20,900,000
and decrease by approximately
HK$19,900,000 respectively.

MiEEEXOmBELAES LA/
TB2.5% - A2 BRHT
B RAEER S BIE
N%720,900,0007% 7T 3¢ T [ 49
19,900,000/ 7T °

N/A
~ER



15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the consolidated
statement of

Fair value Valuation technique(s) and

15. IXAME (&)

Relationship of
unobservable inputs for

financial position hierarchy  key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)  fair value Sensitivity

FEMBRARS

ARERFAZR TURERGAYBREARE

5E7E AREER HERAREARKGARE EXTIREZGAEE ZH% EHE

Property 3in PRC  Level 3 Direct comparison method and Reversionary yield, taking into account The higher the reversionary I the reversionary yield to the valuation

RE %3 E=5 income method annual unit market rental income yield, the lower the fair model is 50 basis point higher/
BERELBARKAE and unit market value of the value lower while all the other variables

comparable properties of 6% ERREELR AnEM were held constant, the carrying

The key inputs are: (2014: N/A). 1& value of Property 3 would decrease

BREAREA:

2.

Reversionary yield; and
TS

Market unit rent of
individual unit
18R B85 B &

BEHkER ERUEALBNELE
EEMTHESRAREMTSE
B26% (ZZ—WF: T@EA) -

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into
account of similar character,
location and sizes, being HK$55/
sq.m./month (2014: N/A).

MEENRE  RAEEMELERH
BYAZRAUSHE NERA
B-BABTARRSET(ZE
—WE: FER) -

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the

Group uses market observable data to the extent it is available.

The management of the Group works closely with the valuers

to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to

the model.

by approximately HK$203,000
and increase by approximately,
HK$203,000 respectively.

M ERR 2 @ H M= F 7/ TR 50
EEE Eh28REIE AN 3
ZIREER TRH 514 203,000 7T
RIE104] 203,000 T

The higher the market unit  If the market unit rent to the valuation

m

rent, the higher the fair model is 2.5% higher/lower,

value while all the other variables were
BEfeds  DaE held constant, the carrying value

e of Property 3 would increase

by approximately HK$215,000

and decrease by approximately

HK$227,000 respectively.
MEEER TR ENRAS EF/ TR

25% @ MAMSERFTE - 8%

$3MBREE R A1 M4215,000

BT s T #49227,0008 T

EEFAREVENAAER  AKEFEA
EEATSAIBREYE ASENEEE
HAEMEREE  AGEEENBER
iy e o A BRI -
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16. GOODWILL 16. HE
Goodwill arising from acquisitions of subsidiaries are as follows: BNEMNBARMEEENT
2015 2014
—¥-afF _—TWmHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEX FAET
At beginning of the year F 7)) 10,073 10,107
Exchange differences &N =% (590) (34)
At end of the year F R 9,483 10,073

Impairment test for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the cash generating unit (“CGU")
identified as follows:

7 2 iR E B A
BENSREARK RS ELBN (R
SELBAM) FEMT

2015 2014
—¥-AFE —T—mMmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
CGU: REEEEMN:
Specialised construction EEEER 9,483 10,073

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
value in use calculations. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a one-year
period and extrapolated for the remaining operating period
based on the following information with reference to past
performance and expectation for market development.
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17.

16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 16. B2 (&)
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued) R E R ()
2015 2014
—FE—RFE Z—EZ—NF
% %
Estimated growth rate BT RE 5.00 5.00
Discount rate Ah IR & 5.03 5.60
The estimated growth rates disclosed above applied to the five- EXHWBZEAEERXEARAFRER
year cash flow projections and no growth was assumed when ERA MRABRHMEERIRRL
extrapolating to later periods. The estimated growth rate of EIE - RAS00% M ERBLRMS
5.00% used represents the general growth in the market. BRER-
PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 17. TEMBAEFE
(@) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015: @ RZE—RAF+=-—A=+—H FEZE
MiBARZIK:
Percentage of equity interest
BRAEZT S
2015 2014
—%-5% —-m

Directly Indirectly

Directly

Indirectly

Place of Particulars of issued share held held held held
incorporation/ capital/registered and by the by the by the by the
Name of subsidiary operation paid up capital (note (i)) Company Company Company Company Principal activity
ERTRE/ EEd HEd Hka HEas
s HAMEAERAHE A28 XA  ARE  ARA
WBASEE BEBHY (B &5 (i) #E BE A BE TEEB
LREHEMEREAEMBAF (Beijing Wanhu PRC RMB2,338,120,000 — 51 — 51 Real estate
Property Development Co., Ltd.) (“Beijing development
Wanhu") (notes (iii)
TRESFHERZERARN(LERER]) +E A K #2,338,120,0007C EHERR
(B = (i)
Best Pearl Development Limited Hong Kong 1,000 shares of HK$1 each — 100 — 100 Property investment
EHRERBRAA EE 1,000k BREE1E T MERE
BEZEERWEREFMRAF (Boluo County PRC RMB778,013,150 - 80 — 80 Real estate

Bihua Property Development Company

Limited “Boluo County Bihua") (note (iii))

BEEEERHEREERAA
(T8 &2 £1) (M i)

hE

AR %778,013,1507T

development

FHEER
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17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015:

(Continued)

17. FEMBLABFRE)

(@ R-TE—AF+_HA=+—RH X2
MEAmIE: (&)

Percentage of equity interest

BRAEEZES I
2015 2014
—¥-Ef “E-ME
Directly Indirectly  Directly Indirectly
Place of Particulars of issued share held held held held
incorporation/ capital/registered and by the by the by the by the
Name of subsidiary operation paid up capital (note (i)) Company Company Company Company Principal activity
EBTRE/ EEd RHEd  BEks  HEH
HMAIL AMRAERAFE A48 XAF ARFE FAF
MEAS&E BRE (B &£ (i) k] HHE ®E HE TEEH
Bright Circle Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of HK$1 each - 100 — 100 Property investment
BrERAT BE 10,000/ EREEIE T NERE
B (BR)EXBRAA (Dragon Construction PRC US$6,600,000 - 1Al — 71 Real estate
(Nanjing) Properties Co., Ltd.) (note (ii)) development
2 (FmR) B FA R (B i) el 6,600,000 7T BEHERR
Eastrend (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of HK$1 each — 100 — 100 Property investment
RE(BR)BRAA Bk 2REREEVET NERE
Full Pacific Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of HK$1 each — 100 — 100 Property investment
ENEFRAA EE 2REREEIET MERE
Great Way Properties Limited Hong Kong/PRC 2 shares of HK$1 each — 100 — 100 Property investment
BHEXERAR B/ HE 2REREEET MERE
METEMEE£BMB AR (Hunan Zhongrun  PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate
Chengzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd.) (note (ii) development
W TR R E R A R A A (P i) HE A K %10,000,0007C EHERR
BBt EERMEREFMRAT (Langfang PRC US$55,000,000 — 50 = 50 Real estate
Kuangshi Jiye Property Development Co., Ltd. development
“Kuangshi Jiye") (notes (iii) & (iv))
BBt EXEHEREERAR HE 55,000,000% 7T EHEER
(Tt 22 2 1) (O R Gi) B Giv)
Linkcheer Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of HK$1 each - 100 — 100 Property investment
NG| EE EEREEIET NERE
Luck Achieve Limited British Virgin Islands/ 2 shares of US$1 each — 100 — 100 Securities Investment
Hong Kong
FERRRA RERLES,/ REBREEIET ERRE
&k
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17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

17. FEMBABFRE)

(CONTINUED)
(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015: (a) R-ZE—HF+-_A=1+—H £ZE
(Continued) WERARZIR: (8)
Percentage of equity interest
BRAEEZES I
2015 2014
—¥-Ef “E-mE
Directly Indirectly  Directly Indirectly
Place of Particulars of issued share held held held held
incorporation/ capital/registered and by the by the by the by the
Name of subsidiary operation paid up capital (note (i)) Company Company Company Company Principal activity
EBTRE/ Bl HEd Hke  BEs
MR AMRAERAFE A48 XAF  ARFE FAF
HEAS&E BRE (B &E (1)) HH L] ®E HE TEXH
Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 - 100 — 100 Design and installation
Company Limited of curtain walls
EERN(BE)IRERAA EE 1REREEIET RARTERMRE
Minmetals Land Capital Limited British Virgin Islands 10 shares of US$1 each 100 - 100 — Fund raising
TERREAERAR KERAES 10REREEIET E3:
Minmetals Land (China) Limited Hong Kong/Hong 2 shares of HK$1 each - 100 — 100 Provision of
Kong and PRC management
service
TEER(FE)ERAR ER/BERTE REREEET REEERY
Minmetals Land Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/ 100 shares of US$10 each 100 - 100 — Investment holding
Hong Kong
Minmetals Land Investments Limited RBRZHEE/ 10REREEIET REEK
Bk
TRER(MEEMNEREHREREERR  PRC RMB380,000,000 — 100 — 100 Real estate
] (Minmetals Land (Hunan) Jiahe Risheng development
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. “Jiahe
Risheng”) (note (ii))
THEERONE) ENREEHEREERAR TH A K #380,000,0007C FHEHR
(TEE AR 2 1) (B 2 (i)
TERR(EN)EEEXERADA (Minmetals PRC US$100,000,000 — 100 — 100 Real estate
Land (Yingkou) Hengfu Properties Co., Ltd.) development
(note (ii))
IBEER(EN)EEEEERAA(WEG) PE 100,000,000 7 EHERR
AREMEDRGRAF (Minmetals Property  PRC RMB894,800,000 - 98.88 — 98.88 Real estate
Development Nanjing Co., Ltd.) (note (iii) development
T 2 R A R A (i) i A K #894,800,0007C FHEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 17. TEMBATFTR(E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015: (a) RZE—RAF+—HA=+—H &
(Continued) WEARZIR: (8)
Percentage of equity interest
BRAEEZES I
2015 2014
—¥-Ef “E-ME
Directly Indirectly  Directly Indirectly
Place of Particulars of issued share held held held held
incorporation/ capital/registered and by the by the by the by the
Name of subsidiary operation paid up capital (note (i)) Company Company Company Company Principal activity
EBTRE/ EEd RHEd  BEks  HEH
HMAIL AMRAERAFE A48 XAF ARFE FAF
WEBASEE BRE (B &£ (i) RE RE 5A 55 EEEH
REEX(RZR)EEHMEERAA (Minmetals PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate
Real Estate (Tianjin) Binhaixinqu Co., Ltd.) development
(note (i)
TREX(RR)BEEMBERAR M EM) HE AR 10,000,000 BHERR
B 3t 2 () AR A7 (Kuangji Properties  PRC RMBS5,400,000,000 —  66.67 — 6667 Real estate
(Nanjing) Co., Ltd. “Kuangji Properties”) development
(note (iii))
BELE(BER)ERAR(RELE]) HE A K #5,400,000,0007C BEHERR
(GBI
Tt 2 (B 2) BB A& (Kuangshi Properties PRC RMB1,200,000,000 — 100 = 100 Real estate
(Nanjing) Co., Ltd.) (note (ii)) development
Tt it 2 (9 ) B IR A A (B 22i) HE AR #1,200,000,0007C BEHEER
HEEREMEREAFRAF (Hunan Kuangdai PRC RMB300,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate
Property Development Co., Ltd) (note (ii)) development
E R F i E R B A R AR () H B AR #300,000,0007 FinEER
BEMERRERAF (Kuanggi Property PRC RMB100,000,000 — 100 — 100 Real estate
Development Nanjing Co., Ltd) (note (ii)) development
T H ot B A R A (i) ] AR 100,000,000 BHERR
ONFEM Finance Limited British Virgin Islands/ 1,000 shares of US$1 each 100 — 100 — Provision of financing
Hong Kong for group
companies
ONFEM Finance Limited RBREZHS/ 10008EREEIET REBARRHERE
Bk
Oriental Dragon Construction Limited Hong Kong/ Hong 10,000 shares of HK$ each 1 - n — 71 Investment holding
Kong and PRC
RABERERRAA &/ BERTE 10,0008 EREEET REEK
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17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015:

(Continued)

17. FEMBABFRE)

(@) R=Z=

—H%+=A=+-0 zE

MEBARNRK: (B)

Percentage of equity interest

BRAEEZES I
2015 2014
—¥-Ef “E-mE
Directly Indirectly  Directly Indirectly
Place of Particulars of issued share held held held held
incorporation/ capital/registered and by the by the by the by the
Name of subsidiary operation paid up capital (note (i)) Company Company Company Company Principal activity
EBTRE/
MR AMRAERAFE EEH X HEBEHX HEAX BEAR
HEAS&E BRE (B &E (1)) ATHE AGAHFE RAKE RAEE TEXH
BRERM(EE)ZRERADA (Minmetals PRC US$4,270,000 — 100 — 100 Design and installation
Condo (Shanghai) Construction Co., Ltd. of curtain walls
(note (i) and aluminum
windows
LR M (L8) B RA R (M ) HE 4,270,000 & RARBEFER
BE
Texion Development Limited Hong Kong 50,000,000 shares of HK$1 — 100 — 100 Property investment
each
EREEERAF EE 50,000,000 & X &1 NERE
BT
Tinnex Management Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of HK$1 each - 100 — 100 Property management
TRMERRAA EE 2REREEIET NEER
Top Gain Properties Limited Hong Kong/PRC 2 shares of HK$1 each — 100 — 100 Property investment
HAEXEBERAF Bt/ hHE 2REREEVET NERE
Virtyre Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of HK$10 each — 100 — 100 Property investment
Virtyre Limited EE 2REREEIET MERE
KBRTEXEZEAFRAA (Zhuhai (Oriental) PRC RMB44,000,000 — 100 = 100 Real estate
Blue Horrison Properties Company Limited) development
(note (ii))
KBRABREZARR AR B0 HE A K #44,000,0007C EinEER
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e M B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,

(a)

in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result

in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. None
of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2015.

These are foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC
with operating periods ranging from 15 years to 40 years.

These are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established in the PRC
with operating periods ranging from 20 years to 30 years.

Although the Group owns 50% equity interest in Kuangshi Jiye, it
has control over Kuangshi Jiye by holding 60% of the voting power
over the board of directors of Kuangshi Jiye, which require simple
majority votes of the directors on making decision on relevant
activities.
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17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 17. FEMBASIFIB(E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have by BEEXFEFNEZNIES
material non-controlling interests EMBATIZHIE
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned T&REJNAEEEFEKRIFEZEG#
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- mIZIEEEWNBRRAIZFHG

controlling interests:

Place of
incorporation
and principal Proportion of equity Profit allocated to
place of interests held by non- non-controlling Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiaries business controlling interests interests controlling interests
aF M AR 3T
REEEX Fe R R 2 PR 4% e 9 42 il B 25
MEASEME HE RAERZESIL PEZ T RatdEiEnEs
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
“¥-1f TN ¥R _T-NF ZF-RE _T0NF
HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
TER TET TERT FTHET
Boluo County Bihua PRC 20% 20% (22,221)  (43,914) 109,710 139,152
BREEE 2
Kuangshi Jiye (Note 17(a)(iv)) PRC 50% 50% (7,257) (7,949) 208,183 228,482
0 tt & 5 (P 5E17(a)(v)) H
Beijing Wanhu (Note 17(a)(iii)) PRC 49% 49% 255,391 79,579 1,675,609 1,243,633
b 7 & (B & 17(a) i) i
Kuangji Properties (Note 17(a)(iii) PRC 33.33% 33.33% 105,976 (17,3300 2,223,075 2,252,884
1 B 4 2 (51 7(a) i) H

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 9,562 372 73,095 153,529

AEFERERNENFEANMEAR

341,451 10,758 4,289,672 4,017,680
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17.

156

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (Continued)
Summarised financial information in respect of each of
the Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup

17. X EMBASIFHIE(E)

() RFEEXFEFHERNES
& MBS 2 E ()
R EE S AEE AR S
ZHEARZH B AR EERT M
ToUTHBENBEERREBR
YA S o

eliminations.

Boluo County Bihua MEEE
2015 2014
—E-H1F _"—T—mFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Current assets mEE E 2,302,052 2,190,839
Non-current assets EREBEE 9,050 7,130
Current liabilities mEAaE 1,762,551 919,690
Non-current liabilities ERBEE — 582,520
Total equity HmiaTa 548,551 695,759
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17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

17. S EMBASIFHIE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have by BEEXFEFNEZNIES
material non-controlling interests (Continued) EMBATIZ1E(E)
Boluo County Bihua (Continued) BREEE)

Year ended Year ended

31 December

31 December

2015 2014
BE-ES—A%F BEZE-_Z—WNOF
+=-—A=+—-H +-A=+—H
IFFEE WFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHETT FE T
Revenue N 98,829 324,683
Expenses =3 (209,936) (544,253)
Loss for the year REEEBE (111,107) (219,570)
Other comprehensive expense AEEEMEERX
for the year (35,952) (3,973)
Total comprehensive expense REETHEMX BT
for the year (147,059) (223,543)
Net cash outflow from KEFHELEBR R FHE
operating activities (114,285) (288,013)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) REEFHELERESRACRL)
from investing activities = 107 (258)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow BMETHELBES(GRL),
from financing activities A F R (20,279) 229,045
Net cash outflow REREHFEE (134,457) (59,226)
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17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 17. EEMBATFE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have by BEEXFESFNESZNIES
material non-controlling interests (Continued) EMBATIZIE(E)
Kuangshi Jiye I 2

2015 2014

—E—A%F —ZT-mE

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#T FET

Current assets mEEE 1,792,974 811,586
Non-current assets FEREEE 42,695 8,477
Current liabilities nBaE 1,419,303 363,100
Total equity Ry 416,366 456,963
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

BEE-FT-AE FHE_T NF

+=A=+—-8B +=-A=+—H

L E HFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FEL

Revenue A 1,705 —
Expenses 53 (16,219) (15,897)
Loss for the year rEEER (14,514) (15,897)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ~ AEEE 2 E X H (26,083) (1,685)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEREXHEE (40,597) (17,582)
Net cash inflow from operating activities RETHEERSRAFE 551,254 45,337
Net cash outflow from investing activities REESHELERS ML FHE (6) @)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BETHELBRSRANFHA — 71,898
Net cash inflow RemA%eE 551,248 117,231
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17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

17. FEMBABFRE)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have by BEEXFEFNEZNIES
material non-controlling interests (Continued) EMBATIZ1E(E)
Beijing Wanhu tmEH

2015 2014

—¥—-4fF —E—mE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH& T

Current assets mEEE 7,775,603 5,727,152
Non-current assets EREBEE 169,179 53,325
Current liabilities mEAE 4,525,171 2,988,933
Non-current liabilities EmB ARG — 253,518
Total equity T R 3,419,611 2,538,026
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

BE-T-AF #HE-T—NOF

+=-A=+—-8 +-A=+—8H

IEEE HFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Revenue KA 1,835,101 1,731,089
Expenses 553 (1,313,894) (1,568,683)
Profit for the year REE 5 A 521,207 162,406
Other comprehensive expense for the year — ANF[E H {2 & F &2 (194,948) (17,845)
Total comprehensive income for the year REEZHBALZE 326,259 144,561
Net cash inflow from operating activities RETHEERSRAFE 2,837,867 1,526,318
Net cash outflow from investing activities BREEHELARS ML FHE (39) (5)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEERDELT SR FE (2,903,349) (1,790,010)
Net cash outflow RemLFE (65,521) (263,697)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 17. EEMBATFE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have by BEEXFESFNESZNIES
material non-controlling interests (Continued) EMBATIZIE(E)
Kuangji Properties i

2015 2014

—E—ARF —ZT-mE

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&EIT F&E T

Current assets mENEE 10,739,612 8,340,964
Non-current assets EREEE 88,117 42,037
Current liabilities mBaE 4,158,505 1,624,350
Total equity = R 6,669,224 6,758,651
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
BE-F-I1F& HE_T-WOF
+=-HA=+—-H8 +-A=+—H

&g EFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET THET

Revenue LN 2,440,360 9,314

Expenses 53 (2,122,401) (61,310)

Profit/(loss) for the year AERHER /(E8) 317,959 (51,996)

Other comprehensive expense for the year A E 2 A L (429,764) (23,588)

Total comprehensive expense for the year AFE2EF X 458 (111,805) (75,584)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from mEFBHEERSTA/(ORL)F8E

operating activities 2,502,174 (806,521)

Net cash outflow from investing activities & E/EBHELR L TR TFE (23) (278)

Net cash outflow from financing activites BEZFBELRSRILFE — (7,140)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) BeRA/ (i) F8 2,502,151 (813,939)
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. M EBEATIZER

(a) Investments (a) H®™E

2015 2014

—¥-afF _—TWmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FAET

At beginning of the year F 1) 1,419,275 853,073
Exchange differences PE X =% (83,519) (430)
Investment in an associate (i) i RR/NETIE s =4 () — 382,696
Share of profit 716 5 16,442 183,936
At end of the year F R 1,352,198 1,419,275
Details of each of the Group’s material associates at 31 R-ZE—RAF+-_A=+—HBEK=_Z
December 2015 and 2014 are as follow: —FE+-_A=1+—H AEEZE

EHENBFBMOT:

Place of Proportion Proportion

incorporation of equity of voting
and interest held rights held
Name of entity Principle activities operation by the Group by the Group
H#MEREE FKREHF FEREHFH
Z2% FTEER WE RAEIILS RFRHELLS
BHEBEREEMERERR Real estate PRC 50% 40%
‘A &) (Langfang Wanheng development
Shengye Property Development
Co., Ltd) (“Langfang Wanheng”)
(note i)
Ry EEREFMEREBRAR RBHEZRE a3
(TEs t7 & 18 1) (i)
IR AESEEXBRAA (Beijing Real estate PRC 51% 40%
Minmetals Vanke Real Estate Co., development
Ltd) (“Beijing Minmetals Vanke")
(note i)
IR A EERMEEERAT i EE B & H

(Tb 3 A% & D (P &)

EWERABAR —T—AFER | 161



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 E Z2=F—hF+=A=+—HIFFEF

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(a) Investments (Continued)
Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group and the
other shareholder increased their investments in Beijing Minmetals
Vanke according to the corresponding equity interests.

(ii) The companies are Sino-foreign equity joint ventures established in
the PRC with operating periods of 30 years. The Group accounts
for its investment in these companies as associates as it only
exercises significant influence over the investment by minority
representation in the board of directors. Pursuant to shareholder
agreements, the Company has the right to cast 40% of the votes
at shareholder meetings of Langfang Wanheng, and 40% of the
votes at shareholder meetings of Beijing Minmetals Vanke.

(b) Summarised financial information of material
associates
Summarised financial information in respect of each
of the Group’s material associates is set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

18. MEtE AT 2= (E)

(a)

(b)

RE&EEE)

o &E

(@i) REE-FT-—MNE+-RA=+—BF
B AR B N H i B R IR A R R A
HEMELERABERNZRE -

\

(i)

1
F> 48

ERAIRNPEKZ Z2FIIEEE
E %@%%wi HRAEE
HRZREEEERBREFELHAR
TRERATEN REFRZAAZ
REANKRERABERQR - RIBARK
Rip#  ARBERREHEERR
AREBRAI%NE  UERIERAES
MR R A& RA0% 8 T

EEGEATMBERME

AEBEEZHE QA MBEEMNY
ZIFT - T BERRE R
2INRBERRNMBRRAZE
BOBREBEREMBHRELERH -

Langfang Wanheng R Y5 & iE
2015 2014
—E—-EF -—T-m&
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#T FAT
Current assets mEEE 402,029 433,699
Non-current assets EmBE E 3 13
Current liabilities mEAE 24,963 33,244
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(b)

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18. REtEATIZH#R ()
Summarised financial information of material ) EEHEBATHUBEREBE
associates (Continued) (&)

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
BE-FT—AF B#E-ZT—F
+=A=+—H +=-A=+—H
IEEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Loss for the year KEE B E (26) (5,832)
Other comprehensive expense for the year 784 & H 4h & [ B & (23,373) (1,418)
Total comprehensive expense for the year N4 2 X 258 (23,399) (7,250)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial B E R 2 B R B E R AR
information to the carrying amount of the interest BB HmMRANERREE B
in Langfang Wanheng recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Net assets of the associate B AR B EFRE 377,069 400,468
Proportion of the Group's interest in AEERBHS&ER
Langfang Wanheng T 25 b 71 50% 50%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Carrying amount of the Group's interest 7K £ [ 72 JBF 37 & 18 f% A&
in Langfang Wanheng 2 REE 188,535 200,234
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18. MEGEATIZHER (E)
(b) Summarised financial information of material by EEBZATHUBEREE
associates (Continued) (&)
Beijing Minmetals Vanke LtmAEEFR
2015 2014
“F—-1F —E—MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&EIT FET
Current assets mENE E 2,656,864 3,028,130
Non-current assets IERBEE 22,399 21,609
Current liabilities mEBE 397,571 659,463
Non-current liabilities ERBaE — —
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
BE-E—AF HE_T—UF
+=-—A=+—H +=-—A=+—H
IEEE IHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#T T T
Revenue WA 125,403 2,093,290
Profit for the year AN s A 32,265 366,376
Other comprehensive expense RNEEEAM 2 ERX
for the year (140,269) (2,965)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income AEE2EEX)/
for the year WA #B 58 (108,004) 363,411
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18. MEGEATIZHER (E)
(b) Summarised financial information of material (b) EE ‘*’*"‘JEﬁ%éW&E
associates (Continued) (48)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in S

= A\
%T:l

EXMBERBMEERILLAARER

MBHRERAERREE Y

Beijing Minmetals Vanke recognised in the consolidated

financial statements:

?*'*'ﬁ

19. INVENTORIES

2015 2014
—T-IF —mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Net assets of the associate fhE AR B EFE 2,281,692 2,390,276
Proportion of the Group's interest in AEBRIERAREERD
Beijing Minmetals Vanke T 2= LE I 51% 51%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Carrying amount of the Group's interest AN B R4t = A& & B IR A
in Beijing Minmetals Vanke Ezm 2 REE 1,163,663 1,219,041
19. #E&
2015 2014
—¥-AFE "—T—MOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Properties held for sale RIELEWE — RS
— located in the PRC 5,403,293 3,968,317
Properties under development ERERAME — LR FH@Q)
— located in the PRC (a) 15,317,171 16,091,075
20,720,464 20,059,392
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

19. INVENTORIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Properties under development

19. FE (&

BRRPYE
2015 2014
—¥-afF _—TWmHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET

Land use rights =4 3 b A
Construction costs KA

As at 31 December 2015, properties under development
with carrying amounts of approximately HK$1,388,701,000
(2014: HK$7,185,451,000) have been pledged as collaterals
for bank borrowings (Note 27 (a)).

As at 31 December 2015, properties under development
with carrying amount of HK$7,317,414,000 (2014:
HK$6,945,677,000) are expected to be completed
and realised after twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. Properties held for sale of approximately
HK$2,923,597,000 (2014: HK$1,993,510,000) as at 31
December 2015 are expected to be sold after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.
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11,858,706 12,845,691
3,458,465 3,245,384

15,317,171 16,091,075

W-_ZE—AF+-_A=1+—8B" Bk
16 491,388,701,0005 7t (== — Y
F :7,185,451,000/8 70) 2 R Y
X ERERBRITER ZER R (M
F27(@)) °

W-_ZE—AF+-_A=1+—8B" Bk
8 /&7,317,414,0007 ;o (—Z — M
% :6,945,677,000/8 L) W EEH Y
RN R ESEREI2E A B %
ITREK RZZTE—RAF+=A=
+—H 2,923,597,000 T (=& —
PO 4F : 1,993,510,00058 7o) K ¥ 1 H
EMEBRNREARENRBALE
;jj o



20. CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS 20 HETREEY

2015 2014
—EB-HE —ZT—DNOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#&xT FH& T
Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits = & 4 & £ 5k 4 10 2 # 32
less recognised losses i A1 R B T 7R S 1B 3,675,221 3,496,855
Less: progress billings R LI BRI (3,241,944) (3,130,204)
Gross amounts due from customers for EREEZEHTRBEE
contract work 433,277 366,651

21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21, ERRE -BESREMBEKR

]

2015 2014
—¥-AFE —T—MOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Trade and contract receivables, net (b) B RENEWKFIA  FE(b) 795,379 810,870
Retention receivables (c) & AR B £ (o) 85,578 77,097
Deposits & 66,263 90,141
Prepayments (d) T8 - Z A (d) 1,038,620 642,239
Prepayment for land cost (e) FEAS £ 30 A AR (e) 320,249 1,609,419

Loans to non-controlling shareholders of BERTFTHEBERRZ
subsidiaries (Note 35(b)) FE 12 A% Ak 2R (BT 52 35(b)) 1,052,757 26,100
Others Hh 46,011 59,399
3,404,857 3,315,265
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. ERRE B REMBEKR
(CONTINUED) I5 (48)
(a) The carrying amounts of prepayments, trade and other (a) TENRE -BIZREMEKRZKIEZ
receivables are denominated in the following currencies: BREAETIA TS E SR
2015 2014
—E-AF ZZZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHE T
HK$ BT 111,967 164,998
RMB AR 3,288,926 3,150,267
Macao pataca (“MOP") SR (R PI%E]) 3,964 —
3,404,857 3,315,265

(b)  The aging analysis of trade and contract receivables based
on due date for rental receivables, date of properties
delivered to purchasers and billing date of construction

(b) ZELKHELIHAE MEXINTE

XOBHRERE

ERBHOKRE

BB 2B REHNEEFEZ

services certified is as follows: Bl AT -
2015 2014
—E¥-HF _"—T—mFE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT TE T
0 to 90 days 0&90H 454,752 472,937
91 to 180 days 91£180H 85,174 28,485
181 days to 1 year 181BE—F 103,002 89,466
1 year to 2 years —FEMF 114,070 115,733
Over 2 years M E M E 66,968 112,609
823,966 819,230
Less: provision for impairment R A B (28,587) (8,360)
795,379 810,870
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21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(Continued)

In respect of trade and contract receivables, a credit period
of three to twelve months may be granted to customers
on a case-by-case basis.

Trade and contract receivables neither past due nor
impaired are with customers having good repayment
history and no default in the past.

Trade and contract receivables that are past due less
than two years are generally not considered impaired.
Trade and contract receivables of HK$526,840,000 (2014:
HK$519,868,000) were past due but not impaired. These
relate to a number of independent customers for whom
there is no history of default. The aging analysis of these
trade and contract receivables is as follows:

21. FEHRIE -BEHREMEBIR
I5(48)

(b)

(&)
REZREDEYHIR  ZEE
MABRTEFP==2+_ERAZEEH -

B 5 RE QBB FELE B H MR
B FEOFREERITFERTE
RBELEENTRZIEP

—BhmE BHLARMEZES
REXNERZREBETEHERBE R
16526,840,000% T (= T — Y 4 :
519,868,000 L) 2 B 5 K& K fE UK
NEEBEEERE - ZEHRIBH
SEEENCHRZBIRFEER -
ZEBHRANERFBEZRERD
T :

2015 2014
—EF—hE —EZE—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT

Past due days # HA B 2
1 to 90 days 1290H 366,203 184,647
91 to 180 days 91%180H 24,694 28,476
181 days to 1 year 181BE—4F 18,801 89,308
1 year to 2 years —FEMF 79,309 113,190
Over 2 years M LA E 37,833 104,247
526,840 519,868
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21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

170

(b)

(c)

(d)

(Continued)

Trade and contract
(2014: HK$8,360,000)
for impairment was made. The individually impaired

receivables of HK$28,587,000
were impaired and provision
receivables, which are in unexpected difficult financial
situations. The aging of these receivables is as follows:

21. FRHRIE -BEHREMEBIR
I5(48)

(b)

(%)

28,587,000/ (= & — I F:
8,360,000/ 7T) 2 & 5 K & A FE WK
HERE - WEEHRERE o &
Bl 2 B FE W 5K I8 Ty 3 A BA A B 7S
N5 o %5 B FRIE 2 BR ik 29 4T 40
T

2015 2014
—E-HAFE _—T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Past due days 1 Hf B 2
Over 2 years M LA E 28,587 8,360

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade and
contract receivables are as follows:

B S REOEYBKEELZBE
BE2EHMT

2015 2014

—E-AF Z—ZT—DNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TFHE T

At beginning of the year F 5 8,360 6,457
Exchange differences E X =58 (2,721) (18)

Provision for impairment T B 22,948 1,921
At end of the year F R 28,587 8,360
As at 31 December 2015, retention receivables (0 RZE—RF+-_A=+—H'35A

with carrying amount of HK$58,564,000 (2014:
HK$56,304,000) are expected to be recovered after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2015, prepayments include prepaid
other taxes and other charges of approximately
HK$1,017,814,000 (2014: HK$502,439,000).
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(d)

FE W IR E & 2 BR T B 458,564,000
B (= T — @ 4 :56,304,000%
L) EHERERBT=Z@AEY
U@ o

R—ZT—h&E+_A=+—H &Eft
HIEREBEMNEMRIE R EME A
#91,017,814,0008 L (ZF — M 4 :
502,439,000 7T) °



21.

22,

PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21.

(CONTINUED)
(e) As at 31
represents payment to the PRC Bureau of Land and

December 2015, prepayment for land cost

Resources for the acquisition of lands in the PRC and the
amount will be recognised as inventory upon issuance of
Land Use Rights Certificates.

(f)  The other items within trade and other receivables do not
contain past due or impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting
period is the carrying amount of receivables mentioned above.
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 22.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HfRIE - B35 R H b Bl =

I8 (%)

(€ W-F-HEFt+-A=t+—A Ef
o 310 7 A 8 50 0 R P 0 P S
TR BB L R R 2 AR -
SEBRERT L0 BT R
RAFE-

(f) BEZRHEMEUKEBERNZEMBIER
THREFEBHACREEE -

RBEEHMERBZESEERRI L&
WHRIEZRHEE - AREYEFEEAE
o EEA -

ZRAMEEWRERARES
BeMBEE

2015 2014
—E—-RF —T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong MEB LM ZRAFFH
At beginning of the year F 9] 511,643 622,269
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in other REMZEKREERZARE
comprehensive income w5 (E8) 99,102 (110,626)
At end of the year F 4R 610,745 511,643

The Group’s equity securities investment is measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period.

AEERHERRANBAZLFRERA
fEFE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 22. EBH M2 HUIBIZ AR EE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED) EZUBEEE)

Fair value as at

RUTEHBHARE

Valuation
31 December 31 December Fair value technique(s) and

Financial assets 2015 2014  hierarchy key input(s)
—T-AF —ZET-\mEF ARE FHERHBR
MBEE +=A=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H MR EE@WANERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
Financial assets at fair value through other 610,745 511,643 Level 1 Quoted prices in an
comprehensive income — Listed equity active market
securities
ZRAEMEENERARBEFE 2N FE—H REBMBHEE
BE — FTRAES BAE
The equity securities investment has been designated at fair value BAFHREERAEBE T ——F
through other comprehensive income upon the Group's early REERBEMBRELERFIHR —T—
application of the 2010 version of HKFRS 9 in 2011, which, in TERF  EEREAHEMEENZEIZ
the opinion of the Directors, resulting more relevant information ARAEFE MEFRREERLE
for the Group's financial instruments based on how the Group ARBEAEEERATANAN  REFZ
manages its equity instruments. The financial assets at fair value CRMIEMNEEER FHEMEEK
through other comprehensive income represents equity securities SR AREFECHBEEREN_Z—%
listed in Hong Kong of HK$610,745,000 as at 31 December F+-_A=1+—H EEBLTHREAE
2015 (31 December 2014: HK$511,643,000). Dividend income 77610,745,0008 T (T —MWE+ - A=
recognised during the year related to those investments held at +—H 511,643,000/ 7T) ° AT REF
the year end is HK$26,504,000 (2014: HK$21,895,000). There KR BNZEREEHENOREBAR
is no disposal or transfer of the cumulative gain or loss within 26,504,0007% 7T (==& — 4 £F 121,895,000
equity during both years. P TT) o B A E F 2 72 R A R BT sk

BRERARERERE -
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23.

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED

23. RRHIMERBITHER

2015 2014

—“E—-AFE _—T—NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THE T

Restricted cash PR %38 & 293,551 488,315

The carrying amounts of restricted cash are denominated in
RMB. As at 31 December 2015, the weighted average effective
interest rate was 0.35% (2014: 0.35%) per annum.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting
period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits.

The restricted cash represents (i) performance deposits for
construction projects; and (ii) guarantee deposits for the benefit
of mortgage loan facilities granted by banks to the purchasers
of the Group's properties.

SZREIREAARET|R -R_Z—RF
+=ZA=+—H8 mMEFHEBEFHNEE
0.35% (== — P4 : 0.35%) °

RBEEMEAAARZESEERRE
ReERRTERZIEEE -

XREIRESEOERBEZBONRES

RBERTRTEASAKEENEZE
REBESBREMREHRZERER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZE-FE—AF 1T -HA=1+—HIFEF

24. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS, UNRESTRICTED 24, AERHFBERB|ITHER
2015 2014
ZE—-HAF —ZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Cash at banks RITRE 4,366,436 2,925,096
Short-term deposits S ERER N 6,306,140 2,315,174
Cash on hand FERE 285 191
Cash and bank deposits Be NBETER 10,672,861 5,240,461
Short-term deposits will be mature in approximately 9 days R RERESHKARTHNIR(ZE—
(2014: 6 days) from the end of the reporting period. As at 31 mME: 6B N-ZEBE—FE+-_A=
December 2015, the weighted average effective interest rate +T—HB - MEFHERENERE1.24% (=
was 1.24% (2014: 2.29%) per annum. T —J04F :2.29%) °
The carrying amounts of cash and bank deposits are ReRBAOFRZEEBEDATIEE
denominated in the following currencies: HI 8K ¢
2015 2014
—T-AE —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT
HK$ BT 778,091 31,102
RMB AR 9,742,839 5,198,508
uss$ X7t 129,885 10,851
MOP ke 22,046 —
10,672,861 5,240,461
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting RBEHRABAAI ZEaZERAR A
period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits. HERBITHERZERE -
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25. SHARE CAPITAL

25. g &

2015 2014
—E—4F —E—HF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
% & ok} fi £5 Gk}
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
T I TET T & FAT
Authorised: AR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREECIETT
Tim AR 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREM:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREBEIE T
=Rl
Balance at beginning of the year — F ¥4 % 3,340,511 334,051 3,337,853 333,785
Exercise of share options 1T1F BE A% 3,768 377 2,658 266
Balance at end of the year F IR 3,344,279 334,428 3,340,511 334,051
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25.

176

—AFT-A=1—HIEFE

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Share options

On 29 May 2003, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2003 Share Option Scheme”) under which the Directors, at
their discretion, invited any person who has contributed or will
contribute to the Group to subscribe for shares of the Company
at nominal consideration of HK$10 for each lot of shares granted.
The exercise price was determined by the Directors, and would
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price per share
as stated in the daily quotations sheet of Main Board of the
Stock Exchange; (i) the closing price of the shares quoted on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant
of the relevant option; and (iii) the nominal value of the share
of the Company. The 2003 Share Option Scheme had expired
on 28 May 2013. On 7 June 2013, the Company adopted a
new share option scheme (the “2013 Share Option Scheme")
with the same terms under the 2003 Share Option Scheme.
Notwithstanding the expiry of the 2003 Share Option Scheme,
the share options which had been granted during the life of
the 2003 Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue and in all
other respects its provisions shall remain in full force and effect.
No share options have been granted by the Company pursuant
to the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2015

25.

Bz & (48)

R iR 12

RZZFEZF=FAA-_TNLE AREKEMH
—EREEFE( T =B R#E
2Bt BEEARBEEFEAEEK
HEeEUAKEBEOERMZ ALTREAR
BARARN 2 BE  SHEHERE
ZREBARERIOET - THREMHES
EEXE AT2BERTI =825 E
(VXA EREBARERMBZERET
B (R EREHEEBRER A AE
EEABRMNBIAERETARERAER
ZWHE: R)ABRNZEE —FF
“FBREFEENR T —=FREA-+
NBE®R RZE—Z=ZFAtH X2

ﬂ%%im—lﬁé?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéé?r?ﬂ(f_ —=F%B
PRt &) RRE T T =FRAES

ZIHER - AT ZE=FHERETILE
B R ZEE=FEREE AR
EREREGEES N - AREBEEZETE
RATIE - MEMBHEMTENKS
BEESTRAN AR - NAR) I EARE
T =FERESERDERE -



25. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Share options (CONTINUED)

(i)

Details of the share options granted are as follows:

Date of grant/exercisable period

25. B&(4§)
AR ()
() FHBRESBEOT

Number of share

Category of participants of share options Exercise price options
S@EEHR BRHAY BRETEY TEE BkEYE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—T-RE —TNF ZT—AHEFE —_TNF
HK$ HK$ ‘000 ‘000
#ET BT Fix T B
Directors 1 December 2008/1 December 2010 to 0.45 0.45 — 3,173
30 November 2018 (Note 1)
BEF T \F+=ZA—B/ZZ2—ZF+=A—H
E-FT-NF+-RA=1TRHHED
30 November 2012/30 November 2014 to 29 1.20 1.20 8,670 12,340
November 2022 (Note 2)
T ZHE+—-A=+H/ZT-WmF+—AH
=tTHEE-ZE-__F+—-A=+ABHFE2)
8,670 15,513
Employees and others 1 December 2008/1 December 2010 to 30 0.45 0.45 4,386 4,981
November 2018 (Note 1)
EEREAM “EEN\F+-A-B/—ZE-—ZEF+-A—H
E-T-N\E+-A=TBME)
30 November 2012/30 November 2014 to 29 1.20 1.20 38,200 38,800
November 2022 (Note 2)
T —H+—-A=+H/=Z—NmF+—H
=+BEEZZT__F+—-A=+ B F2)
42,586 43,781
51,256 59,294
Notes: Bt 2

(1

The options are exercisable upon fulfillment of certain performance
targets achieved by the Group and grantees. These options
are exercisable in three tranches: the maximum percentage of
options of each tranche exercisable within the exercisable periods
commencing from 1 December 2010 to 30 November 2018, from
1 December 2011 to 30 November 2018 and from 1 December
2012 to 30 November 2018 are 30%, 30% and 40% respectively.
The fair value of share options in the three tranches is HK$0.3355
per share. All share options are exercisable as at 31 December
2015 and 2014.

BREVEARANERRERAZEBE
FTERABZBRAIATITIE - ZFBER
BRI =#1TFE - BT —ZFF+=A
—HBRE_Z—\F+—A=1+HILH
M -BZT——F+-_A—HBE=-Z
—\Ft+—A=tBILHERE=F—
—Ft+-—A—RABRE-F—/N\F+—A
=S+RIETERMARTE 2SR
REZRSBD LD B R30% - 30% &
40% - Z=HEREZEGRAREY
70335587 - FTBEBREAANR_T
—AER=-F-—NME+=A=+—A17
fi£ ©
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Share options (CONTINUED)

(i) (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(2) The options are exercisable upon fulfillment of certain performance
targets achieved by the Group and grantees. These options
are exercisable in three tranches: the maximum percentage
of options of each tranche exercisable within the exercisable
periods commencing from 30 November 2014 to 29 November
2022, from 30 November 2015 to 29 November 2022 and 30
November 2016 to 29 November 2022 are 30%, 30% and 40%
respectively. The fair values of share options in the three tranches
are HK$0.6538, HK$0.6774 and HK$0.6912 per share respectively.
The number of share options exercisable as at 31 December 2015
is 28,122,000 (31 December 2014: 15,342,000).

(i)  Movements in the above share options are as follows:

25. &K (4E)

FE B 4 (

M (&)
it 5
@)

&)
: ()
B8 A 4 78 K SR B SRR A R

FTRFEEFEERFATTE - LFER
A S =HITE- BT —NFE+—A
= THREZZE=-_—_F+—-—HA=+ANH
ILHE BE=FT—AF+—A=1+8#
EZE__F+—A=t+hBALH#EME
EEZZE—RF+—HA=THEZEZ
T+ —A-t+NABLEITEHE
NATEZ2BHERESSBED LS
Al 530% ~ 30% K40% ° % = #t BE &
#2zE8RARED R A0.6538%F T
0.677478 T ) 0.6912/6 7T - R=ZZT—H
F+=-—RA=1+—RAA T/ ERE
# B 528,122,000k (Z T — M F +=
HA=+4+—H:15,342,000/%) °

(i) LHEEREzZBIT:

2015 2014
—E—-AFE —ZT—DHNF
Number of Number of

share options share options

BlkERE BREXHE

‘000 ‘000

T T i
At beginning of the year F 1) 59,294 65,102
Forfeited ExA (4,270) (3,150)
Exercised AT (3,768) (2,658)
At end of the year F R 51,256 59,294
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25.

26.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Share options (CONTINUED)

(i)  (Continued)

25. BRA(48)
RE I 1 (8R)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, 3,768,000
(2014: 2,658,000) share options were exercised and
price. was HK$1.11 (2014:

the weighted average share

(ii)

(%)

BE-F A%+t A=1+—HL
FE - 2171£3,768,00008 (ZZ—Y
F :2,658,000% ) g g i - H nkEF

HK$0.88). YR EAR111E T (=T —MF : 0.88
AIT) o
RESERVES 26. fiti i
Employee
Capital  share-based Investments
Share Contributed redemption  compensation  revaluation  Revaluation Other Exchange  Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings Total
RERHEERE
RHEE EUER AXBOEE WERE RABERME  ERHEE EHEE EREE REEN &g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAL TARL TEL ThL TAL TAr T TExr  TEx  TEx
(note (a)) (note (c)) (note (b))
(GED) (Bt & (o) (3 ()
Balance as at 1 January 2014 R=E-ME-F-H
LB 4,267,699 565,404 769 19,211 64,532 1314 31,640 595,730 1,857,447 7,403,746
Issue of shares ERHG 930 - - - - - - - - 930
Employee share option benefits EEERERN - - - 13,229 - - - - - 1329
Fair value loss of financial assets at fair value & B E 2 E s
through other comprehensive income BAAREHENH
BEMEEZER = - - - (110,626) - - - - (110626)
Currency translation adjustments R HE — - - — - - —  (13,650) — (13,650
2013 final dividend paid Xf=F-=%
RER S - (50,068) = = - - = - —  (50,068)
Profit for the year EERH = — — — — — = — W5 a5
Balance as at 31 December 2014 RZZ-ME+ZA
=t-Hz&8% 4,268,629 515,336 769 32,440 (46,094) 1,314 31,640 582,080 2,282,618 7,668,732
Issue of shares EIRHA 1319 - - - - - - - - 1319
Employee share option benefits EEERERN - - - 5,094 - - - - - 5,094
Fair value gain of financial assets at fair ~ FEEM2ERE
value through other comprehensive BRAEFERE
income BEMEEZ NG - - - - 99,102 - - — — 99102
Currency translation adjustments ERAR — - - — - - —  (979,448) —  (979,448)
2014 final dividend paid Xf=F-mF
RERE = = - - - - - — (0162 (50,162)
Profit for the year ERRA = - - - - - - — 2815 27815
Balance as at 31 December 2015 RZE-RFT2A
St-HzE&H 4,269,948 515,336 769 37,534 53,008 1,314 31640 (397368) 2,510,612 7,022,793
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26. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

180

Notes:

(a)

Contributed surplus mainly represents the excess of the fair value of shares
in Minmetals Land Investments Limited acquired by the Company over the
nominal value of the new shares of the Company issued pursuant to the

share exchange agreement.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, contributed surplus is distributable
to shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot declare
or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i)
it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due, or (i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities, issued share capital and share premium
account.

As stipulated by regulations in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries
established and operated in the PRC are required to appropriate a portion
of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses) to the statutory
reserves, at rates determined by their respective boards of directors.
The appropriation as at 31 December 2015, amounting to approximately
HK$312,885,000 (2014: HK$234,557,000), was included in retained

earnings at 31 December 2015.

Other reserve represents the differences between the amount by which
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of consideration
paid or received when the Group acquired or disposed of partial interests

in existing subsidiaries.
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26. (&)

M EE

(a)

(b)

B & E Z AR R R Minmetals Land
Investments Limited i 15 2 A 2 B B H A A &)
BREBROIBBEBRTIROZBROEEZ

REBEBREQTS  BHAKAHRD IR T K
R EETIHERTARBTEEIRRIK %
BB D IR BB A ()W AR FR B E
HoREERELNBBAE  HHARA
AEZ2AZREESEAMERERE 2%
TR B B0 i (B Bk 2 8 A0 e

FEBOIBE  ARRRPBERKLREEZ
MR R A B BB s A (R S A
BEE)BALZERE HLEXHEAAZE
EeEBETE W =-_ZT—AF+=-A=+—8"
BB K4 5312,885,000/8 T (ZF — M4 ¢
234,557,000 ) EEBE_T—RF+=
A=+—HBHRBEFZA -

HitERIFERET AR HEAREE K
BRHERAMNBRARNE I EERC N
BERMRENDABZRNZER -



27. BORROWINGS

27. &=

2015 2014
ZE—RF —ZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#IT FAET
Non-current IR B
Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITENR - BE Q) 5,435,772 8,838,995
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b) ERES @ EEHE©D) 2,690,678 2,685,596
8,126,450 11,524,591
Current i &h
Bank borrowings, secured (a) IRITRE - B @) 4,407,817 88,731
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder of ~—RWEB AR 2 — & IEIE K%
a subsidiary, unsecured (Note 35(b)) REN - EE R (M 5E35(b)) 44,221 28,151
4,452,038 116,882
12,578,488 11,641,473

(a)

Banking facilities

The Group’s aggregate banking facilities, including
bank borrowings, as at 31 December 2015
amounted to approximately HK$10,253,368,000
(2014: HK$13,674,306,000), of which approximately
HK$336,944,000 (2014: HK$4,597,469,000)
unutilised. As at 31 December 2015, the collaterals for the

was

banking facilities are as follows:

(i)  Properties under development with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$1,388,701,000 (2014:
HK$7,185,451,000);

(i) 100% equity interest in a subsidiary; and

(ili)  Corporate guarantees given by the Company.

(a)

RITRLE
R-E—RFE+-_A=+—0  &&
ErzRITMELABE(BERITER
#77/10,253,368,00058 7T (- ZF — Y
£ 1 13,674,306,000/8 7T) © EA KRB
Fi Bt & %) 5336,944,000/8 T (= Z
— PO 4F : 4,597,469,0007 JT) ° 1A —
T—AF+=ZA=+—R8 KEEFA
EREADBSRITHMERARZE
EWT:

() BRE{E#)A1,388,701,000/ T
—ZT— P4 :7,185,451,0007
TC) 2B R R

(i) —

s
S

R FTIB A B 2100% AR #E 1
33

B

(ily ARDBFAERAIELR ©
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27. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

182

(b)

Guaranteed bonds

On 26 April 2013, the Group issued the Guaranteed
Bonds (“Guaranteed Bonds”) with a principal amount of
US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000 bearing interest
at the coupon rate of 5.50% and 6.50%, per annum
respectively, which will be matured on 26 April 2018 and
26 April 2023 respectively. The Guaranteed Bonds were
guaranteed by the Company and have the benefit of a
keep well deed from China Minmetals Corporation, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company. Upon the
occurrence of a change of control and taxation triggering
event, all outstanding Guaranteed Bonds may be redeemed
and repurchased.

The Group may at its option redeem the Guaranteed Bonds
at any time, in whole but not in part, at a Make Whole
Price as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but
excluding), the redemption date.

“Make Whole Price” means with respect to the
Guaranteed Bonds at any redemption date, the greater
of (1) the present value of the principal amount of the
Guaranteed Bond, plus all required remaining scheduled
interest payments due on such Guaranteed Bond from
the optional redemption date to the maturity date (but
excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the option
redemption date), computed using a discount rate, which
the rate per annum equal to the semi-annual equivalent
yield in maturity of the comparable treasury issue, plus
0.50 per cent., and (2) the principal amount of such
Guaranteed Bonds.

Early redemption options are regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host debt instrument.
The Directors consider that the fair value of the above early
redemption options is insignificant on initial recognition
and as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The effective interest rates of the guaranteed bonds at
the end of the reporting period was 5.89% and 6.73%
for US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000 respectively as
at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.
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27. {BR(E)

(b)

RREH
R-E—=FWA_+H A&

EHTERGEFTERESRD
N4 %8 5 Bl £225,000,0003 T &
125,000,000 7t * Z2EFFI X5 7
55.50%F16.50% - &tﬁﬁﬁtf*%ﬂ‘m
AMR—_E—N\FNUNA -+ BEZ
—=FMAB=F+BE - f%1
FTAAARER  IXBRARD
AR EBERRTEAEEE QA
RENRFREZE - RARFIH
THIBEE SR EEEEGEE
% FTBEREENERESITER
fEO & BEE o

K%Eﬂ@ﬁﬁ&&&ﬁ%ﬁmﬁ
BMARHD  UEBEEBEREOE
%%#’&EH@M@@%@E%%
AR EEA R RNNAME(A) -

RERIREREESFNEME
@E%mquﬁ% )R & FH 1
AEWE BN LERBENERH
HEZBAMGHRTHNE(BETEE
HEEL RN ETRRMFE)
FRMNFTREAEEPNERITER
lf#¥¢ SEMERE ML

ZO%&;ifﬁijﬂﬁ$i°

REELNEFRAEIEEIAY
ETYBEENRARTETAR - &
ERALNREREBELERYAER
BER—_E—RAFE-_FT—NOF+=
A=1T—HWMARBLEFAEK -

RZE—REF+-_A=+—HEZ=
T—mME+-—A=+—8 " ERE
#7225,000,000% JT 125,000,000
ETHEBRANES F R5.89% K&
6.73% °



27. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(c)  The maturity of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

27. B (&)
(© AEEERZIHERMT

2015 2014
—¥-AFE —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAET
Bank borrowings RATEK
Within one year —&R 4,407,817 88,731
In more than one year but no more than —FEME
two years 802,505 4,675,892
In more than two years but not exceeding H MW= F AF
five years 4,633,267 4,163,103
9,843,589 8,927,726
Guaranteed bonds ERES
In the second to fifth year E_EERF 1,732,778 1,728,314
In the sixth to tenth year EREETF 957,900 957,282
2,690,678 2,685,596
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder —RMBRAR Z—RIEERK
of a subsidiary REZ2E X
Within one year —F R 44,221 28,151
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27. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

27. fER (&)

(d) Band borrowings and loan from a non-controlling (d) 9,887,810,000/8 (= & — g £ :
shareholder of a subsidiary of HK$9,887,810,000 (2014: 8,955,877,000% 7T) Z SRITE K & —
HK$8,955,877,000) are on a floating interest rate basis. RMBRARI 2 —RIEERBREZE
The effective interest rates at the end of the reporting FRZBAEGFE - RIEHIKRE
period were as follows: ZEBEMEMT

2015 2014
—E-1f —E-mF
HKS$ RMB HK$ RMB
BT ARE BT AR
Non-current ERE
Bank borrowings HRAT B 3.09% 5.09% 2.93% 5.68%
Current &
Bank borrowings R AT 1B 2.72% 4.73% — 5.60%
Loan from a non-controlling —XMBARZ
shareholder of a subsidiary —RIEER IR
RZER — 5.23% — 6.16%
(e) The fair values of borrowings approximate their carrying (e) BRZAREHAREEMRS -2

amounts. The fair values are based on cash flows
discounted using borrowing rates as at 31 December 2015
ranged from 2.72% to 6.50% (2014: 2.74% to 6.50%)
per annum.
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27. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 27. B (48)
(f)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are (f) AEEBERZEHEBEDATIER
denominated in the following currencies: I AR
2015 2014
—E—-RFE —T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FE T
HK$ 7T 9,027,165 7,761,545
RMB AR #& 860,645 1,194,332
us$ S 2,690,678 2,685,596
12,578,488 11,641,473
28. DEFERRED TAX 28. EFEFIE
2015 2014
—¥-afF _—T-WEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT TET
Deferred tax assets R IEE E 395,354 226,694
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBAEE (96,126) (121,062)
299,228 105,632
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28. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
Deferred tax assets

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the

year are as follows:

28. EEHLIE ()
BEBIEESE

FARERBAEENBENES W T

2015 2014
—E—-AFE _—T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEIT FE T
Tax losses IEEE

At beginning of the year F 1) 42,608 53,190
Exchange differences M 5 =58 (834) (28)
Recognised in the profit or loss REZER (40,734) (10,554)
At end of the year FER 1,040 42,608

Temporary difference on cost recognition X 7S T 3R Y B B £ 58
At beginning of the year F 1) 184,086 135,865
Exchange differences PE R =% (20,091) (80)
Recognised in the profit or loss REZER 230,319 48,301
At end of the year F 4R 394,314 184,086
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28.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 28. EIEHIE(E)
Deferred tax liabilities iR 3 B IE B
2015 2014
—¥-1F —"T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Fair value gain AR
At beginning of the year F 1) 81,200 84,954
Exchange differences PE X =% (13,467) (792)
Recognised in the profit or loss REZER (37,169) (2,962)
At end of the year F R 30,564 81,200
Accelerated tax depreciation MR IBITE
At beginning of the year F 1) 15,917 12,794
Recognised in the profit or loss M1 = B R 1,946 3,123
At end of the year F IR 17,863 15,917
Undistributed retained earnings REMRBRF
At beginning of the year F 1) 23,945 —
Recognised in the profit or loss 1B = B R 23,754 23,945
At end of the year F R 47,699 23,945
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28. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 28. EIEHIE (48)
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued) i I B 5 (48)
Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised in respect of BELEHREEETYERE THEBEARI 2K
temporary difference associated with undistributed retained IR R B B F G B8 A e i = ££117,445,000
earnings of certain subsidiaries of HK$117,445,000 (2014: 7L (ZZ — P04 : 143,229,000/ t) 1B
HK$143,229,000), as the Directors currently intend not to BR - TAESHETEENI R RRE
distribute the retained earnings outside the PRC in the REBBEF 7K T A BEIZEI o
foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward MEERBEEERCBELEHIBAEE TN
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefits through BRAT BN 2= RA Al e 3 B AR R ERTR
future taxable profits is probable. Due to the unpredictability FER ZIER AR o B AR 2% F ik g9 1
of future profit streams, as at 31 December 2015, the Group ATEAE MR —RAF+t=ZA=+—
had unrecognised tax losses in Hong Kong of approximately B ANEBE R E B 048U R R ER
HK$593,477,000 (2014: HK$484,457,000), which can be carried T A 2 RIERT I E 18 49 /45593,477,000
forward against future taxable income and have no expiry BT (ZZ — U4 : 484,457,000 T) ' B
date, and unrecognised tax losses in the PRC of approximately WREBEE - mMaAPRES 2 RERT B
HK$495,294,000 (2014: HK$367,390,000) which will expire at B3 48 49 5495,294,000/8 T (ZFE — PO £ :
various dates up to and including 2020. 367,390,000 7T) ' REE T _ZTF (&
FBZFE)IE2TFRBEARE -
29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. B R HthFEfHRIE
2015 2014
—¥-AFE —T—MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Trade, bills and contract payables (b) Z5 - EiE A Y ENRIHAD) 528,240 678,055
Retention payables FE MR E & 25,310 16,936
Accruals and other payables FEETE B K B A FE T K18 3,266,813 2,388,305
Rental deposits received Bl eZze 19,779 18,524
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders J& 15 Kf & A &
of subsidiaries (Note 35(b)) E 22 iR IR R K IR (Fft 3£ 35(b)) 154,822 664,715
Amounts due to associates (Note 35(b)) & 1~ Bst & 72 =) 3K 3R (Bff 3£ 35(b)) 1,235,113 1,396,553
5,230,077 5,163,088
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 29. ESRHMESRKRIE(E)

(@ The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are @ EBZkEMENKIBZEREEDN
denominated in the following currencies: T3 B 5 B

2015 2014

—E¥-HF _—ZT—mF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT TE T

HK$ BT 120,733 91,987

RMB AR 4,938,643 5,041,823

us$ e 29,278 29,278

MOP e 141,423 —

5,230,077 5,163,088

(b)  The aging analysis of trade, bills and contract payables of b)) AEEES RBRSOEMNRE

the Group based on invoice date is as follows: ERBERAH KR ANMAT -

2015 2014

—E-HFE C—ZT—mF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T T

0 to 90 days 0z290H 226,444 305,162

91 to 180 days 91£180H 40,961 26,954

181 days to 1 year 181BEE—F 44,360 41,070

1 year to 2 years —FEWF 51,729 170,738

Over 2 years A 164,746 134,131

528,240 678,055
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30.

31.

190

DEFERRED REVENUE 30. EEHK A

2015 2014
ZE—-HAF —ZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FAET
Receipt in advance from property sales W) 3 5 B TA W FRIE 9,687,031 3,820,512
Government grants BT & B 18,386 37,460
9,705,417 3,857,972

PENSION OBLIGATIONS 31. BAEEE

The Group participates in a defined contribution pension scheme
and a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) scheme for the eligible
employees in Hong Kong. Before 1 December 2000, a defined
contribution pension scheme was provided to certain eligible
employees employed by the Group. The Group ceased the
contributions since 1 December 2000, upon introduction of the
MPF scheme.

Under the MPF scheme, the Company and each of the Hong
Kong subsidiaries of the Company make monthly contributions
to the MPF at 5% of the employees’ cash income as defined
under the MPF legislation. Contributions by both the Company/
Hong Kong subsidiaries and their employees are subject to a
maximum of HK$1,500 per month per employee and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The Group’s contributions to the
pension scheme and MPF scheme are expensed as incurred.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
contributes to a state-sponsored retirement plan for its
employees in the PRC as determined by the local government.
The Group is required to contribute to the plan at a rate ranging
from 7% to 12% of the basic salary of the PRC employees
in addition to contributions by employees at a rate ranging
from 7% to 12% of the basic salary as specified by the local
government, and the Group has no further obligations for the
actual payment of the pensions or post-retirement benefits

beyond the annual contributions made.
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32. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 32. Z&6IR& R ERMEE

FLOWS
Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash used in B EHESEEERAIRSES
operations 2Z ¥ AR
2015 2014
—EF—hFE —E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH&ET FAT
Profit before tax BR 75 A0 st A 1,173,401 888,173
Interest income 2 A (162,809) (78,858)
Interest expense A E X H 57,511 65,845
Depreciation e 9,932 11,693
Fair value changes on investment properties & ¥ % N 7 (H & F) (195,563) (160,085)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and BEME  BEKIRERERZE
equipment — (13,124)
Share option benefits i I 7 18 A 5,094 13,229
Provision for impairment of trade and other & 5 K H b & U 3% 18 il (B ¢ 5
receivables 24,338 1,921
Provision for impairment of inventories FERER G 71,827 74,065
Share of results of associates DG L NR EE (16,442) (183,936)
Operating profit before working capital HEESEHA KL R
changes 967,289 618,923
Increase in inventories 5 &0 (1,450,611) (1,738,550)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayment, trade and FE{f 3K 1H « B 5 K& H b B I 5K 1E
other receivables B (3 n) 704,610 (1,189,210)
Increase in gross amounts due from customers EWEF 2 & #) T2 581 N
for contract work (88,026) (167,002)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables & 5 K H b f& {5 5 1B
#m, Ol ) 226,820 (364,281)
Increase in deferred revenue i FE U 25 38 0N 6,072,624 1,841,108
Decrease/(increase) in cash and bank deposits, 2[R #l|3R 4 & 48 17 7% 3K
restricted B, (E ) 166,263 (373,105)
Exchange adjustments PE & 38 & (94,238) 2,843
Cash generated from/(used in) operations B ES (TR B S 6,504,731 (1,369,274)
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33.

192

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2015, guarantees given to banks for
mortgage facilities granted to certain purchasers of the
Group's properties amounted to HK$7,742,351,000 (2014:
HK$3,750,800,000). Such guarantees will terminate upon the
earlier of (i) issuance of the property ownership certificate
which will generally be available within one year after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties; or (ii)
repayment of mortgage loan by the purchasers. Pursuant to the
terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments
by these purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and the Group
is entitled to take possession of the related properties. Under
such circumstances, the Group is able to retain the property
sales proceeds previously received from the purchasers and
sell the property to recover any amounts paid by the Group
to the banks. Therefore, after taking into account of the
creditworthiness of the purchasers, the Directors consider that
no provision is required in the consolidated financial statements
for the guarantees.

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the financial
guarantee contracts at initial recognition and subsequently at
the end of each reporting period is not significant as the default
rate is low.
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34. COMMITMENTS

(a

34. HiE
The Group had capital commitments as follows: @ AEEBERAEWNT:
2015 2014
—¥-afF _—TWF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#&T FHET
Contracted but not provided for BEI# B REE
Expenditure in respect of acquisition of Bt ERENEZ
land use rights il 2 90,076 1,267,588
Expenditure in respect of properties under A EZER R ER X
development 3,025,248 2,545,215
3,115,324 3,812,803
The Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments (b) AEERESE MM AE 2 A
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office BEMERAREMN 2 ZEREM
premises as follows: AR -
2015 2014
—T-HAF —T—@mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Not later than one year —F R 24,027 28,108
Later than one year but not later than five —@F#&{EBRAFRN
years 41,268 4,115
Later than five years AF1% — 1,788
65,295 34,011
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34.

35.

194

—AFT-A=1—HIEFE

COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
(0 The Group
operating leases which generally run for initial periods of

leases out investment properties under

one to three years. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease receipts
under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

. i (4])

0 FEERE-BRNSAH-—E=F
THBRERHRANE AHY
ERERAMESE -

AEBERBEIAHESEHENK
KEMzZEHSEBRWT :

2015 2014

—T-AFE _—"T—@NmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#&T FAET

Not later than one year —F R 54,658 66,610
Later than one year but not later than five —F#&{EBREFR

years 72,062 75,665

126,720 142,275

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
China Minmetals Corporation (“China Minmetals”), which is
controlled by the PRC government. Apart from the transactions
with the parent company and its subsidiaries which have
been disclosed in other notes to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group also conducts businesses with entities
directly or indirectly owned or controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by the PRC government (“government-
related entities”) in the ordinary course of business. The Directors
consider those entities other than the China Minmetals and its
subsidiaries are independent third parties as far as the Group's
business transactions with them are concerned. Apart from the
transactions in below (a), the Group also conducts business
with other government-related entities. In establishing its pricing
strategies and approval process for transactions with other
government related entities, the Group does not differentiate
whether the counter-party is a government-related entity or not.
The Group is of the opinion that it has provided, in the best of
its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of related
party transactions in the consolidated financial statements.
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35.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 35.
The Group has entered into various transactions, including
sales, purchases, borrowings and other operating expenses with
other government-related entities during the year in which the
Directors are of the opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain
the identity of the counterparties and accordingly whether the

counterparties are government-related entities.

57l Bk 75 32 3 (48)
7 S B B 5% 40 70 70 B £ BT AR B 0 3
ATSERS(BEHE  BE -
Ei@ERA) MES
MEPRZEXHRE B RLMB T
S ERITHTDER -

RPN

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BiRET BT EMM T AT TEEIN K

statements, the Group had the following material transactions
and balances with related parties, which were carried out in the

ordinary and normal course of business of the Group:

(a)

Transactions with related parties

(a) HEBHFZXH

SEHEREB I RAEBEARE - REKD
ETZERRDRAEHIMT

2015 2014
—T-hF —_T—@OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries for 4 TR R B AR B E i E
real estate development projects (note (i) BRIEE ZBEEKR
(B = Gi)) 344,623 560,761
Construction costs to a non-controlling BT —ZRXWBRAR Z—RIEE
shareholder of a subsidiary for a real estate A% A% 3R 7 B8 55 b = 2 R 1E B
development project (note (ii) 2 FE K AR (B R Gi)) 81,529 286,130
Rental and management fee income from MRARMEARKNRESRE
fellow subsidiaries (note (iii)) B & WA (S =X Gii) 5,593 5,481
Rental expense to a fellow subsidiary mM—RERMBEAR I 2H
(note (iii)) & B s (Bt &£ (i) 18,070 18,598
Loan interest expense to a non-controlling 4 ¥ — XK B A F 2 — &I
shareholder of a subsidiary (note (iv)) B A% 8 2 B R B S
(Bt &£ Giv) 5,626 880
Loan interest income from a non-controlling W ER — 5% Bt B A &) JE 452 I I% B2
shareholder of a subsidiary (note (v)) Z B A B A (3 () 592 1,025
Interest income from a fellow subsidiary WEH—KERMEBRAR 2
(note (vii)) A B A (B 7 (vii)) 2,500 1,253
Loan interest income from a non-controlling UWEN— KM B A F 2 — &I
shareholder of a subsidiary (note (viii)) I A% 3R 2 B A 2 A
(Bt 5 (viii)) 13,617 ==
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 35. BB B X5 (4E)

(b) Balances with related parties (b) EABAEEH 245 6R
2015 2014
—¥-AE "—T—@OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Specialised construction costs payable ER—RERMBAR 2HF %
to a fellow subsidiary (note (i)) F2 2 AN (B 3E ) 84,488 115,512
Contract payable to fellow subsidiaries e R RMTE AR Z i E B
for real estate development projects EIEB & % 7758 (M 3£ i)
(note (ii)) 61,359 9,973
Contract payable to a non-controlling HEMEZERIER BN —KH
shareholder of a subsidiary for a real BARZ —BIERBRE 2
estate development project (note (ii)) & #9338 (B =) 339,331 244,795
Rental payable to a fellow subsidiary BN —RERMEARIZHE
(note (iii)) (B = Giii)) — 3,111
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder —XMBRF 2 —RIEER K
of a subsidiary (note (iv)) R 2 B (B 5 Giv) 44,221 28,151
Loan to a non-controlling shareholder BERT—RWBRAI2—H&
of a subsidiary (note (v)) FE 12 AR Ak 2R (BT 5% (v)) — 26,100
Amounts due to non-controlling FERHEB AR FEERRR
shareholders of subsidiaries (note (vi)) K I8 (BT = (vi)) 154,822 664,715
Amounts due to associates (note (vi)) FE B & AR 2 FRIB
(Bt 52 (vi)) 1,235,113 1,396,553
Fixed deposits placed in a fellow BFER—ZRBARWEBARZ
subsidiary (note (vii)) T B 17 5% (BT 5% (vii)) 2,143,710 2,276,917
Loan to a non-controlling shareholder ERT —RMWBRRI2—H
of a subsidiary (note (viii) I 2 {% B% B (BT 7 (viii)) 1,052,757 —

Notes: Fft 5%

BRTARA—RARNBRAAZERE
BRERARTIERE T LR E < HX
BEE e

(i) Specialised construction costs to a fellow subsidiary of the (i)
Company were based on terms mutually agreed by both parties.

(ii) HREMEZRBBLATRANB QR
AR — KM B ARz — B IFFEBRABR
ZRERAKTIIRE T KRR E < K
EEE e

(ii) Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries and a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary for real estate development projects
were based on terms mutually agreed by both parties.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Balances with related parties (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Rental and management fee income/expense received or receivable
from/paid or payable to fellow subsidiaries of the Company were
based on the terms in the agreements entered into between the
parties involved. The operating lease commitments with fellow
subsidiaries has been included in Note 34 (b) and (c).

The short-term loan from a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary is unsecured, bearing interest at 110% of the benchmark
interest rate for a one to three year loan quoted by the People’s
Bank of China per annum and repayable on demand.

The loan to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is
unsecured, bearing interest at 6% per annum and repayable on
demand, and was fully settled in 2015.

The amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
and amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest free and

repayable on demand.

The fixed deposits placed in a fellow subsidiary mature in
approximately 5 days from the end of the reporting period and
the effective interest rate was 1.35% per annum.

The loan to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is
unsecured, bearing interest at the benchmark interest rate for a
one to three year loan quoted by the People’s Bank of China per

annum and repayable on demand.

Key management compensation

35. FABtA RS (E)

(b)

HLEABE S 2 & 8% (4])

B : ()

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Ok VNCIPACES ) PNGE e 1
NNz EERERBERA X
IR BEE BTG RIS S A 5 &
BEE - HERME QR & HER
B A M 5E34(b) R (c) ©

—RMBRAZ-—BFERBRRZE
HEFRARER BRPEARRT
Rfiz—E=FHERz L EFFH X
ZN0%ETE - WAL BERKEE -

ERTF—RKMBAR 2 —RBIFEBRRE
RAEER  RFEFR6EE - YA
REREE HER_ZT-—HFEHR
i

Jil3
Al

JR&ASF i B 2 B) FF 22 B B 3R 2 SRORIA I
N —REE QB2 FE T EER -
BB UBRERMEE -

FER-—RARXMBRAZEERFR
RBERRBROABINHARERFA
E51.35% ©

ERTF—RKMBAR 2 —BIFEBRRE
RAEER  ARHTEBARRITRM
o FEHEFHRERCEEFH X
B WARERERE -

(c) EEEBASZHM

2015 2014

—F—hfFE —"EZE—NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#T FHET

Salaries and short-term employee benefits % & & & Hi g B & 7 12,114 11,632
Pension costs RIKE KA

— defined contribution plans — EEME G E 333 294

Share option benefits B IR R A 340 2,798

12,787 14,724

hEER
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 36. A QXS ZH B R REHBRR
OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) FATZHBURAR
2015 2014
ZE—AFE —T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti# T FBT
ASSETS =83
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR 2K E 695,288 695,288
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE BT B 2 | 5 E 15,313,270 14,410,305
Other receivables H A fE W 5RI8 5,994 5,573
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted TEEBEH IR & RBITFER 552,442 44,576

15,871,706 14,460,454

Total assets BEME 16,566,994 15,155,742
EQUITY i
Share capital % 25 334,428 334,051
Reserves it 1 5,068,915 5,115,528
Total Equity EREH 5,403,343 5,449,579
LIABILITIES &f&
Current liabilities RENEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JFE B B A Rl k18 11,131,176 9,682,376
Accruals and other payables JE 5T 50 I8 K B th JE 15 518 32,475 23,787
Total liabilities BRE%EHE 11,163,651 9,706,163
Total equity and liabilities ExRkBEHEE 16,566,994 15,155,742
Net current assets RENE EFE 4,708,055 4,754,291
Total assets less current liabilities EESERRHER 5,403,343 5,449,579
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 36. AATIZHM BRI REHERR

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (%)
(b) Statement of reserves of the Company (b) EATIZHEERE
Employee
Capital share-based (Accumulated
Share  Contributed redemption  compensation losses)/retained
premium surplus reserve reserve earnings Total
BXER EERHKE (RitBHE)
%t itk (8 HEHRR fE EREERE REEF k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FET TET TET
(note 26(a))
(Bff 5% 26(a))
Balance at 1 January 2014 R-ZZT—ME
—R—Bz&#% 4,267,699 541,841 769 19,211 (240,679) 4,588,841
Issue of shares BITRHD 930 — — — — 930
Employee share option benefits {& 5 & % # 18 7 = = — 13,229 — 13,229
2013 final dividend paid =T —=%
REK LS — (50,068) — — — (50,068
Profit for the year F X A = — — — 562,596 562,596
Balance at 31 December 2014 WZ=Z -4
+=A=+-—8
2 4,268,629 491,773 769 32,440 321,917 5,115,528
Issue of shares BITRG 1,319 — — — — 1,319
Employee share option benefits & 8 & A% 4 42 7 — — — 5,094 = 5,094
2014 final dividend paid XR=ZF-—HmF
REBE = — — — (50,162)  (50,162)
Loss for the year FRER — — — — (2,864) (2,864)
Balance at 31 December 2015 W-ZT—A%F
+ZA=+—H
ZEB 4,269,948 491,773 769 37,534 268,891 5,068,915
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Glossary of Terms

an 5

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:
ERERAN BXESEMEN  TIHIRAEBEEBATEE

“2003 Share Option Scheme”
R FEREE]

“2013 Share Option Scheme”
[—E—=FEREE]

“23rd Metallurgical”
(A& =—+=8]

"AGM”
ERBEFKE]

"ASP"
[FFig&(E ]

"Beijing Vanke”
[ & ®

“Beijing Wanhu"
M= & ]

“Board”

EFg]

“Boluo Bihau”
EE

"Bye-laws”
[Z= 24881

"CG Code”
MR E AR

“China” or "PRC”
[ B

“China Minmetals”

ey 4

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 29 May 2003
ARARZBB=FEA+ABKGZ BB S

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 7 June 2013
ARRARZE—=F A tLHERMN 2 ERETE

The 23rd Metallurgical Construction Group Co., Ltd. of Minmetals
AE T AEREBARAR

annual general meeting of the Company for 2016

AR —E-—RNFERRBEFKRE

average selling price

FHEE

Beijing Vanke Co., Ltd.
ERERMEERERAA

Beijing Wanhu Property Development Co., Ltd.
IRENFEHERZEERAQR

the board of directors of the Company

KRR ZEEEG

Boluo County Bihua Property Development Company Limited
BESREEFMERBEBERAQA

the Bye-laws of the Company
NN o o i

the Corporate Governance Code
P EERTE

the People’s Republic of China
hEARKM

China Minmetals Corporation
PEAOEEE QA
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“CMCL”
[T B B

"Company” or
“Minmetals Land”

EAVNCIREANR §=5 4

“Condo Hong Kong”
[T K1 & 8

“Condo Macau”
[ 355 A0 8 P9 |

“Condo Shanghai”
[T F1 £ &

“Director(s)”

[E %]

“Fifth Plaza Co”
[ERES QA

"GFA”
[ 4212 E m AR

"Group”
[N & |

"HKS"
7% 7% )

“Hong Kong” or “"HKSAR”

[& &

“Jiahe Properties”
[ E]

“Jiahe Risheng”
[ZFAK]

“June Glory”
[June Glory]

China Minmetals Corporation Limited

B B A i A BR A A

Minmetals Land Limited

RBEEZBRAT

Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Company Limited

hiEm M (EE) TRARQT

Minmetals Condo (Macau) Engineering Company Limited
hERMCRP) TRBRAA

Minmetals Condo (Shanghai) Construction Co., Ltd.
REHM(EE)EZRER QA

director(s) of the Company

RRRZESF

Beijing Fifth Plaza Real Estate Co., Ltd.
IR ETESEXARAA

gross floor area
AR TH E R

the Company and its subsidiaries

ZN/NTDS RN NN

Hong Kong dollars
BT

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEE B SR ITRE

Hunan lJiasheng Properties Service Co., Ltd.
MEERYMERBERRA

Minmetals Land (Hunan) Jiahe Risheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

TEEROABEEMNMAREHERERR AR

June Glory International Limited
June Glory International Limited
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“Listing Rules”

[ £ AR A

“Minmetals Capital”
[REE A

“Minmetals Cheerglory”
[ % 70 &K |

“Minmetals Finance”

[T 4 A 7%

“Minmetals Futures”
(A E

“Minmetals HK”
[(BAERE]

“Minmetals Land Beijing”

EX: 3= Sly

“Minmetals Real Estate”

(AR E ]

“Minmetals Zhidi
[ B %5 b

LI
[MLIJ

“MLIML”
(hERE&EE]

“Model Code”
[TEZESPAI

"NAV”
(SR E&EEFE]

“OFL”
[OFLJ

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited
EEBMERIMARARES LMHEA

Minmetals Capital (Hong Kong) Limited
TREN(FE)BERAF

Minmetals Cheerglory Limited
EREEBRAF

Minmetals Finance Company Limited
IREEEMBERETRA

Minmetals Futures Co., Limited

hEHERRAF

China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited
FERABERBIERERAA

Minmetals Land Investment Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
AEEERREEEULR)ABR AR

Minmetals Real Estate Co., Ltd.
ABEEEERAA

Minmetals Zhidi Corporate Management Consultancy (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
TS CEEEEZRCRINBR AR

Minmetals Land Investments Limited
Minmetals Land Investments Limited

Minmetals Land Investment Management Limited
IREERREEREARALF

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
FHBETAESFETESFRGNIRLESTA

net asset value

BREEFE

ONFEM Finance Limited
ONFEM Finance Limited
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“RMB”
AR

“SFO"
[7& 7 & B & 15 01

“Share(s)”
[ % 17 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 2 J

“Shenzhen Pan-China”

BF2-NCIN

“Sq.m."

(55K

“Stock Exchange”
[Bgt 52 PfT

“Texion"
[T ]

"Uss”
E3i

"Yingkou Industrial Park”

[Z2OEXE]

“Zhongrun Chengzhen”
[ R 98k 8B

"o
(%]

Renminbi

AR

the Securities and Futures Ordinance
BHREE GG

the ordinary share(s) of par value HK$0.1 each of the Company

RAFEFREEE T2 E B

the shareholder(s) of the Company
NN Dol &)

Shenzhen Pan-China Engineering Co., Ltd.

RIZETIREEBFR AT

square metres

FHK

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

EEBARSAARAR

Texion Development Limited
PTEEBR AR

United States dollars
e

Minmetals (Yingkou) Industrial Park Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

IBEDEXEERERAA

Hunan Zhongrun Chengzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd.

MEREREERERAR

per cent

SRz
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About China Minmetals Corporation

FARPERIEEE AT

Projects under development of China Minmetals

PEARERDIEE

Province/City Attributable land area Total gross floor area Usage
4/t FEiE L E TTHESEEEE HE
(sq.m.) (FF77K) (sq.m.) (FF75K)
Beijing 346,000 530,000 Residential
1A =
Yingkou City, Liaoning Province 30,000,000 N/A Industrial and commercial
EELEOD NER IXEB®F
216,000 350,000 Residential
F=E
442,000 1,292,300 Residential
=
Tianjin 2,080,000 2,524,000 Residential
x# T=
518,100 1,493,000 Residential
=
Jiangyang City, Jiangsu Province 48,600 115,000 Residential
IHEIES (B
Shantou City, Guangdong Province 140,000 399,000 Complex
BRAWEAT Re A%
208,300 652,200 Residential
F=E
Taian City Shandong Province 723,300 2,100,000 Residential
IERERRT =
Founded in 1950, China Minmetals is one of the largest State-owned conglomerates HEBAER —NAZTFRY  EUAcBBERLROHF

that operates globally with core business in exploration, mining, smelting,
processing and trading for metals and minerals, finance, real estate, and mining
and metallurgic technology. China Minmetals achieved the total revenue of
approximately RMB218.06 billion for 2015 and was ranked 198 among the US
Fortune world top 500 enterprises in 2015.

China Minmetals has, in recent years, actively participated in commercial estate
development, construction and installation business after it has a footing on the
residential development and industrial estate business. Accordingly, it has equipped
with considerable resources in this respect. Excluding real estate development
projects of Minmetals Land, China Minmetals has a total gross floor area of
approximately 9.05 million square metres for residential and industrial estate
development in the Pan Bohai Rim region and the eastern and central part of China.
Furthermore, it has an industrial site of 30 square kilometres in Yingkou City of
Liaoning Province.

China Minmetals through its Hong Kong subsidiary, Minmetals HK, holds
approximately 61.93% equity interest in Minmetals Land. Upon the approval of
inclusion of property development and operation to the core business of China
Minmetals by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the State Council, China Minmetals announced its intention to transform
Minmetals Land into its sole listed real estate flagship. Through gradual asset
injection and consolidation of its real estate resources, China Minmetals aims at
the listing of its real estate business and turning Minmetals Land eventually into
a leading real estate development corporation which creates better returns to its
Shareholders, employees and the society.
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AIREBRARAE)"

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

BENERPBRMER T ARHREREAE T\
18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

B 5 Tel 1 2613 6363

{EH Fax: 25819823

FH Email : info@minmetalsland.com

#BHE Website : www.minmetalsland.com

*For identification purpose only {1}
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